State of Tennessee

Health Services and Development Agency
Andrew Jackson, 9" Floor, 502 Deaderick Street, Nashville, TN 37243
www.tn.gov/hsda Phone: 615-741-2364 Fax: 615-741-9884

August 1, 2020

Victoria Lake

West Tennessee Healthcare
620 Skyline Drive

Jackson TN 38301

RE: Certificate of Need Application — Jackson Madison Surgery Center - CN2007-020

For the establishment of a multi-specialty freestanding ambulatory surgical treatment
center (ASTC) in the current location of West Tennessee Surgery Center located at 700
West Forest Avenue, Suite 100, Jackson (Madison County), TN 38301. If approved, the
31,453 SF facility consisting of 10 operating rooms will convert from a licensed
hospital-based outpatient surgery center operated by Jackson-Madison County General
Hospital to a licensed ASTC. The applicant is owned by Jackson Madison Surgery
Center, LLC which is 100% owned by the Jackson-Madison County General Hospital
District. The estimated project cost is $19,939,873.

Dear Ms. Lake:

This is to acknowledge the receipt of supplemental information to your application for a
Certificate of Need. Please be advised that your application is now considered to be complete by
this office.

Your application is being forwarded to Trent Sansing at the Tennessee Department of Health,
Division of Policy, Planning, and Assessment for Certificate of Need review. You may be
contacted by Mr. Sansing or someone from his office for additional clarification while the
application is under review by the Department. Mr. Sansing’s contact information is
Trent.Sansing@tn.gov or 615-253-4702.

In accordance with Tennessee Code Annotated, §68-11-1607, et seq., as amended by Public
Chapter 780, the 60-day review cycle for this project began on August 1, 2020. The first 60 days
of the cycle are assigned to the Department of Health, during which time a public hearing may be
held on your application. You will be contacted by a representative from this Agency to
establish the date, time and place of the hearing should one be requested. At the end of the
60-day period, a written report from the Department of Health or its representative will be
forwarded to this office for Agency review. You will receive a copy of their findings. The
Health Services and Development Agency will review your application on October 28, 2020.


mailto:Trent.Sansing@tn.gov
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Any communication regarding projects under consideration by the Health Services and
Development Agency shall be in accordance with T.C.A. § 68-11-1607(d):

1. No communications are permitted with the members of the agency once the Letter
of Intent initiating the application process is filed with the agency.
Communications between agency members and agency staff shall not be prohibited.
Any communication received by an agency member from a person unrelated to the
applicant or party opposing the application shall be reported to the Executive
Director and a written summary of such communication shall be made part of the
certificate of need file.

2. All communications between the contact person or legal counsel for the applicant
and the Executive Director or agency staff after an application is deemed complete
and placed in the review cycle are prohibited unless submitted in writing or
confirmed in writing and made part of the certificate of need application file.
Communications for the purposes of clarification of facts and issues that may arise
after an application has been deemed complete and initiated by the Executive
Director or agency staff are not prohibited.

Should you have questions or require additional information, please contact me.

Sincerely,

Logan G. Grant
Executive Director

cc: Trent Sansing, TDH/Health Statistics, PPA



State of Tennessee

Health Services and Development Agency
Andrew Jackson, 9™ Floor, 502 Deaderick Street, Nashville, TN 37243
www.tn.gov/hsda Phone: 615-741-2364 Fax: 615-741-9884

MEMORANDUM

TO: Trent Sansing, CON Director
Office of Policy, Planning and Assessment
Division of Health Statistics
Andrew Johnson Tower, 2nd Floor
710 James Robertson Parkway
Nashville, Tennessee 37243

FROM: Logan G. Grant
Executive Director

DATE: August 1, 2020

RE: Certificate of Need Application

Jackson Madison Surgery Center - CN2007-020

Please find enclosed an application for a Certificate of Need for the above-referenced project.
This application has undergone initial review by this office and has been deemed complete. It is
being forwarded to your agency for a sixty (60) day review period to begin on August 1, 2020
and end on October 1, 2020.

Should there be any questions regarding this application or the review cycle, please contact this
office.

Enclosure

cc: Vicki Lake






State of Tennessee

Health Services and Development Agency

Andrew Jackson Building, 9" Floor

502 Deaderick Street

Nashville, TN 37243

www.tn.gov/hsda  Phone: 615-741-2364 Fax: 615-741-9884

LETTER OF INTENT

The Publication of Intent is to be published in the The Jackson Sun which is a newspaper
{Name of Newspaper)
of general circulation in_Madison, on or before July 10 . 2020
(County) (Month / day) (Year)

for one day.

——-—--...—-.—..-—_----——-...——————-..--._-.—..-—-.....—-—_.—-.__-.-.._—————-——-_—-—_-——_——__--—_—-_——-_——--_-—-—_—----——-—--
—————————--——————-—-—-——————————-—--—-———--———-——--——————-—————-—_-—-—--———-————--

This is to provide official notice to the Health Services and Development Agency and all interested parties, in
ahccordance with T.C.A. § 68-11-1601 et seq., and the Rules of the Health Services and Development Agency,
that:

Jackson Madison Surgery Center an ambulatory surgical treatment center
(Name of Applicant) (Facility Type-Existing)

Owned and managed by: Jackson Madison Surgery Center LLC intends to file an application for a Certificate of

Need _to establish a new multi specialty ambulatory surgical treatment center with surgical rooms (operating

rooms) in the former location of the West Tennessee Surgery Center, a hospital based outpatient surgery

center located at 700 West Forest Avenue, Jackson. Tennessee 38301. The new facility, which will occupy

31,543 square feet, will be licensed as an ambulatory surgical treatment center by the Tennessee Board for

Licensing Health Care Facilities. The total project costs are $19,939,873. The project does not include any

new major medical equipment or any additional health services.

The anticipated date of filing the application is: July 15 ,20 20
The contact person for this project is Victoria S. Lake Director Community
(Contact Name) Development  (Title)
who may be reached at:_West Tennessee Healthcare 620 Skyline Drive
(Company Name) (Address)
Jackson TN 38301 (731) 984-2160
. (State) (Zip Code) (Area Code / Phone Number)

cy

i\ j vicki.lake@wth.org
(E-mail Address)
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The Letter of Intent must be filed in triplicate and received between the first and the tenth day of the month. If the
last day for filing is a Saturday, Sunday or State Holiday, filing must occur on the preceding business day. File
this form at the followingaddress:

Health Services and Development Agency
Andrew Jackson Building, 9t Floor
502 Deaderick Street
Nashville, Tennessee 37243

w-m-w-m-w-m-w-mm-m-wnwam-w.mnw.m-w-m-w.m-‘r‘r-m--

The published Letter of Intent must contain the following statement pursuant to T.C.A. § 68-11-1607(c)(1). (A) Any health
care institution wishing to oppose a Certificate of Need application must file a written notice with the Health Services and
Development Agency no later than fifteen (15) days before the regularly scheduled Health Services and Development
Agency meeting at which the application is originally scheduled: and (B) Any other person wishing to oppose the
application must file written objection with the Health Services and Development Agency at or prior to the consideration of
the application by the Agency.



State of Tennessee

Health Services and Development Agency

Andrew Jackson Building, 9 Floor

502 Deaderick Street

Nashville, TN 37243

www.tn.gov/hsda  Phone: 615-741-2364 Fax: 615-741-9884

LETTER OF INTENT

The Publication of Intent is to be published in the The Jackson Sun which is a newspaper
(Name of Newspaper)
of general circulation in_Madison, on or before July 10 . 2020
(County) {Month / day) (Year)

for one day.

-——_-—_-—_..—-__———_————-———----—.——-—_—-—-—-—————_—_————--——--——-_-—-—_—_...._..-_.....--.....__........-..—-—-—_—-————-.
————_——_——_--———_-—-—————-———-———-————-———————-———-——————_——————————-———————————-

This is to provide official notice to the Health Services and Development Agency and all interested parties, in

accordance with T.C.A. § 68-11-1601 et seq., and the Rules of the Health Services and Development Agency,
that:

Jackson Madison Surgery Center an ambulatory surgical treatment center
(Name of Applicant) - (Facility Type-Existing)

Owned and managed by: Jackson Madison Surgery Center LLC intends to file an application for a Certificate of
Need to establish a new multi specialty ambulatory surgical treatment center with surgical rooms (operating
rooms) in the former location of the West Tennessee Surgery Center, a hospital based outpatient surgery
center located at 700 West Forest Avenue, Jackson, Tennessee 38301. The new facility, which will occupy
31,543 square feet, will be licensed as an ambulatory surgical treatment center by the Tennessee Board for
Licensing Health Care Facilities. The total project costs are $19.939.873. The project does not include any
new major medical equipment or any additional health services.

The anticipated date of filing the application is: July 15 , 20 20
The contact person for this projectis Victoria S. Lake Director Community
(Contact Name) Development  (Title)
who may be reached at:_West Tennessee Healthcare 620 Skyline Drive
{Company Name) (Address)
Jackson TN 38301 (731) 984-2160

(State) (Zip Code) (Area Code / Phone Number)

vicki.lake@wth.org
(E-mail Address)
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The Letter of Intent must be filed in triplicate and received between the first and the tenth day of the month. If the
last day for filing is a Saturday, Sunday or State Holiday, filing must occur on the preceding business day. File
this form at the followingaddress:

Health Services and Development Agency
Andrew Jackson Building, 9" Floor
502 Deaderick Street
Nashville, Tennessee 37243
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The published Letter of Intent must contain the following statement pursuant to T.C.A. § 68-11-1607(c)(1). (A) Any health
care institution wishing to oppose a Certificate of Need application must file a written notice with the Health Services and
Development Agency no later than fifteen (15) days before the regularly scheduled Health Services and Development
Agency meeting at which the application is originally scheduled; and (B) Any other person wishing to oppose the
application must file written objection with the Health Services and Development Agency at or prior to the consideration of
the application by the Agency.



State of Tennessee -

Health Services and Dévelopment Agency

Andrew Jackson Building, 9% Floor

502 Deaderick Street

Nashville, TN 37243

www.in.govihsda  Phone: 615-741-2364 Fax: 615-741-9884

LETTER OF INTENT

The Publication of Intent is to be published in the The Jackson Sun which is a newspaper
(Name of Newspaper)
of general circulation in_Madison, on or before July 10 , 2020
(County) {Month / day) (Year)

for one day.

-————_——.__-.-._-—_—-_...——-.—-.-_—--————-..--—————_-—_-—————-———--——-——-———--_—..._—_._.._-.__.._--—_-—---—-———-——-——-
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This is to provide official notice to the Health Services and Development Agency and all interested parties, in
accordance with T.C.A. § 68-11-1601 et seq., and the Rules of the Healith Services and Development Agency,
that:

Jackson Madison Surgery Center an ambulatory surgical treatment center
{Name of Applicant) (Facility Type-Existing)

Owned and managed by:_Jackson Madison Surgery Center LLC intends to file an application for a Certificate of
Need to establish a new multi specialty ambulatory surgical treatment center with surgical rooms (operating
rooms) in the former location of the West Tennessee Surgery Center. a hospital based outpatient surgery

center located at 700 West Forest Avenue, Jackson, Tennessee 38301. The new facility, which will occupy

31,543 square feet, will be licensed as an ambulatory surgical treatment center by the Tennessee Board for
Licensing Health Care Facilities. The total project costs are $19.939.873. The project does not include any
new major medical equipment or any additional health services.

The anticipated date of filing the application is: July 15 , 20 20
The contact person for this projectis Victoria S. Lake Director Community
(Contact Name) Development  (Title)
who may be reached at;_West Tennessee Healthcare 620 Skyline Drive
(Company Name) (Address)
Jackson TN 38301 (731) 984-2160
{City)

(State) (Zip Code) (Area Code / Phone Number)

vicki.lake@wth.org
(E-mail Address)

§&(

The Letter of Intent must be filed in triplicate and i day of the month. If the
last day for filing is a Saturday, Sunday or State Holiday, filing must occur on the preceding business day. File
this form at the followingaddress:

Signature)

Health Services and Development Agency
Andrew Jackson Building, 9" Floor
502 Deaderick Street
Nashville, Tennessee 37243

w-m-w-m-w.mm-mm-wam-w.m-w.m-w-m-w-mnw.m-w-m-'

The published Letter of Intent must contain the following statement pursuant to T.C.A. § 68-1 1-1607(c)(1). (A) Any health
care institution wishing to oppose a Certificate of Need application must file a written notice with the Health Services and
Development Agency no later than fifteen (15) days before the regularly scheduled Health Services and Development
Agency meeting at which the application is originally scheduled; and (B) Any other person wishing to oppose the
application must file written objection with the Health Services and Development Agency at or prior to the consideration of
the application by the Agency.



State of Tennessee

Health Services and Development Agency
Andrew Jackson Building, 9th Floor, 502 Deaderick Street, Nashville, TN 37243
www.tn.gov/hsda Phone: 615-741-2364 Fax: 615-741-9884

CERTIFICATE OF NEED APPLICATION

1. N f Facility. A nstituti

Jackson Madison Surgery Center

Name

700 West Forest Avenue Suite 100 Madison
Street or Route County
Jackson TN 38301
City State Zip Code

Website address: V"W Wih-0org

Note: The facility’'s name and address must be the name and address of the project and must be
consistent with the Publication of Intent.

2. Contact Person Avajlable for Responses to Questions

Victoria S. Lake Director Community Development

Name Title

West Tennessee Healthcare vicki.lake@wth.org

Company Name Email address

Street or Route City State Zip Code
employee (731) 984-2160

Association with Owner Phone Number

Please answer all questions on 87" X 11” white paper, clearly typed and spaced, single sided,
in order and sequentially numbered. In answering, please type the question and the
response. All questions must be answered. If an item does not apply, please indicate “N/A” (not
applicable). Attach appropriate documentation as an Appendix at the end of the application
and reference the applicable Item Number on the attachment, i.e., Attachment A.1, A.2, etc.
The last page of the application should be a completed signed and notarized affidavit.

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 1




3. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
A. QOverview

Please provide an overview not to exceed three pages in total explaining each numbered
point.

1) Description — Address the establishment of a health care institution, initiation of health
services, bed complement changes, and/or how this project relates to any other
outstanding but unimplemented certificates of need held by the applicant;

RESPONSE: This purpose of this certificate of need request is to convert the hospital-based
outpatient surgery center located at 700 West Forest Avenue Suite 100 (CN0808-055), Jackson,
Tennessee, to a freestanding ambulatory surgical treatment center that will continue to serve
residents of rural West Tennessee at the same location. This CON initiates and establishes the
Jackson Madison Surgery Center located at 700 West Forest Avenue, Suite 100, Jackson,
Tennessee. The proposed conversion ot a freestanding facility will assist with cost savings and
improvements to patient care. There are no beds associated with this certificate of need. The
facility is located on the first floor of a Medical Office Building across the street from the Jackson-
Madison County General Hospital in 31,543 square feet. There is no construction proposed with
this project, nor would there be an increase in operating rooms or procedure rooms to the service
area. If approved, Jackson Madison Surgery Center would convert the space currently operated
as West Tennessee Surgery Center to a freestanding surgery center with 10 operating rooms, 30
bed pre-and post-anesthesia care unit (PACU), nurses station, staff offices, medical records,
admitting area, lobby, and waiting area.

2) Ownership structure;

RESPONSE: The Jackson Madison Surgery Center is owned by the Jackson Madison Surgery
Center LLC. The company will be manager-managed.

3) Service area;

RESPONSE: The primary service area of the Jackson Madison Surgery Center defined by Madison,
Gibson, Carroll, Henderson, Hardeman, Haywood, Crockett, and Chester counties. The secondary
service area is composed of McNairy, Hardin, Lake, Decatur, Henry, Weakley, Benton, Dyer, Obion,
and Lauderdale counties. These counties will supply 96.8 percent of the projected cases.

4) Existing similar service providers;

RESPONSE: The 18-county service area has six ambulatory surgical treatment centers. As this
project involves the conversion of an existing facility to freestanding only, this project will not
result in any additional ambulatory surgical centers being added to the 18-county service area.

Cape Surgery Center, LLC 401 E Tickle Street, Dyersburg 38024

Van Dyck ASC, LLC 1024 Kelly Drive Paris 38242

DDC Surgery Center 9 Physicians Drive Jackson 38305

Physicians Surgery Center 207 Stonebridge Boulevard Jackson 38305
Summit Endoscopy Center 1109 East Reelfoot Avenue Union City 38261
Union City Surgery Center 1722 East Reelfoot Drive Union City 38261

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 2



Name’ 2019 2018 2017
Cape Surgery Center (Dyer County) 3,261 2,931 2,649
Van Dyck ASC LLC (Henry County) 1,631 2,546 3
DDC Surgery Center (Madison County) 3,520 4,452 6,668
Physicians Surgery Center (Madison County) | 4,354 5,210 5,286
Summit Endoscopy Center (Obion County) 3,159 3,710 3,097
Union City Surgery Center (Obion County) 442 301 19

Unduplicated cases

Project cost;

RESPONSE: The total project costs are:

Legal, Consulting, Administrative
Moveable Equipment

Insurance

Lease

CON Fee

TOTAL

Funding:

RESPONSE: Funding of this project is from cash reserves by West Tennessee Healthcare.

5) Financial Feasibility including when the proposal will realize a positive financial margin;

and

$521,012
$342,000
$403,101

$18,578.760 ($154,823 per month; $1,857,876
per year; $18,578,760 for 10 year term)

$ 95,000

$19,939,873

RESPONSE: The project will have a positive financial margin in year three.

6) Staffing.

RESPONSE: Staffing the first year will consist of 37.0 FTEs.

Registered Nurses 15.0
Surgical Technicians 4.5
Administrator 1.0
Business Office Manager 1.0
Clinical Manager 3.0
Billing 2.0
Schedulers 1.5
HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 3




Receptionist 2.0
Financial Counselor 1.0
Sterile Processing 3.0
Other Support Staff 2.0
Material Manager 1.0
Total 37.0 FTEs

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019




B. Rationale for Approval

A certificate of need can only be granted when a project is necessary to provide needed
health care in the area to be served, can be economically accomplished and maintained,
will provide health care that meets appropriate quality standards, and will contribute to the
orderly development of adequate and effective health care in the service area.

Provide a brief description of how the project meets the criteria necessary for granting a
CON using the data and information points provided in Section B of the application.

1) Need;

RESPONSE: The 18 county service area has six (6) existing ambulatory surgical treatment
centers. (Joint Annual Reports) Four of the six are single specialty (endoscopy and
ophthalmology). Two are multi-specialty. In 2019, the only facility not utilizing operating
rooms at 70 percent or above of the State Health Plan Standards for Ambulatory Surgical
Treatment Centers is the Union City Surgery Center. Cape Surgery Center is utilizing its
procedure room at 69 percent. Physician Surgery Center and Union City Surgery Center are
below 70 percent [of the optimal utilization of the State Health Plan Standards] in their
procedure rooms.

The purpose of this certificate of need is to establish an ambulatory surgical treatment
center, multi-specialty at the location of the current hospital-based outpatient surgical
center, West Tennessee Surgery Center (CN0808-055). This CON initiates and
establishes the Jackson Madison Surgery Center located at 700 West Forest Avenue
Suite 100, Jackson, Tennessee. There are no beds associated with this certificate of
need. The facility is located on the first floor of a Medical Office Building across the
street from the Jackson-Madison County General Hospital in 31,543 square feet. The
Surgery Center has 10 operating rooms, 30 bed pre-and post-anesthesia care unit
(PACU), nurses station, staff offices, medical records, admitting area, lobby, and
waiting area.

2) Economic Feasibility;

RESPONSE: The Applicant conservatively estimate surgery cases during 2022 (3,685) as
operations are transitioned from a hospital-based facility to a freestanding facility. The
Jackson Madison Surgery Center will be a new business with new electronic medical record,
new administration, new management company, new policies and procedures, and the like.
The 2023 surgery cases (5,641) is anticipated to be 75 percent of Full Capacity. Near Full
Capacity (7,670) will be reached by the third year of operation. The project will have a
positive cash flow year two ($1,034,702) and will have a positive net income in year three
($1,161,797).

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 5



3) Quality Standards;

RESPONSE: The Jackson Madison Surgery Center will participate in self-assessment and
external assessment against nationally available benchmark data to accurately measure its
level of performance in relation to established standards in order to facilitate improvements
in patient care. The Applicant will maintain licensing in good standing with the Tennessee
Department of Health, and will seek accreditation with the American Association for
Accreditation of Ambulatory Surgery Facilities (AAASF). Certifications with TennCare and
Medicare will be obtained as well.

4) Orderly Development of adequate and effective health care.

RESPONSE: The Jackson Madison Surgery Center will be an easily accessible multi-specialty
surgery center to provide care for residents throughout 18 counties in rural West Tennessee.
The facility will have a transfer agreement with Jackson-Madison County General Hospital, which
is located across the street from the surgery center. The proposed conversion ot a freestanding
facility will assist with cost savings and improvements to patient care Accessible human
resources will be available to meet licensure and certifications.

C. C t Calendar Justificati

If Consent Calendar is requested, please provide the rationale for an expedited review.

A request for Consent Calendar must be in the form of a written communication to the
Agency’s Executive Director at the time the application is filed.

RESPONSE: Request is attached as Attachment 3.B.C.Consent Calendar Justification

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 6



4. PROJECT DETAILS

A O f the Facility, A Instituti

Jackson-Madison Surgery Center LLC (731) 541-5000

Name Phone NuUmber
700 West Forest Avenue Suite 100 Madison

Street or Route County
Jackson TN 38301

City State Zip Code

B. Ivpe of Ownership of Control (Check One)

1)  Sole Proprietorship 6) Government (State of TN or
. Political Subdivision)
2) Partnership _
3) Limited Partnership 7) Joint Ver?ture X
4)  Corporation (For Profit) 8) Limited Liability Company —_—

9) Other (Specify)

5)  Corporation (Not-for-
Profit)

Attach a copy of the partnership agreement, or corporate charter and certificate of corporate existence.
Please provide documentation of the active status of the entity from the Tennessee Secretary of State’s
web-site at htips./tnbear.tn.gov/ECommerce/FilingSearch.aspx. Attachment Section A-4AB.

Describe the existing or proposed ownership structure of the applicant, including an ownership
structure organizational chart. Explain the corporate structure and the manner in which all entities of
the ownership structure relate to the applicant. As applicable, identify the members of the ownership
entity and each member’s percentage of ownership, for those members with 5% ownership (direct or
indirect) interest.

5. Name of Management/Operating Entity (If Applicable)
Not applicable

Name
Street or Route County
City State Zip Code

Website address:

For new facilities or existing facilities without a current management agreement, attach a copy of a
draft management agreement that at least includes the anticipated scope of management services to
be provided, the anticipated term of the agreement, and the anticipated management fee payment
methodology and schedule. For facilities with existing management agreements, attach a copy of the
fully executed final contract. Attachment Section A-5.

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 7




6A. Legal Interestin the Site
(Check the appropriate line and submit the following documentation)

The legal interest described below must be valid on the date of the Agency consideration of
the certificate of need application.

[0 Ownership (Applicant or applicant’s parent company/owner)
Submit a copy of the title/deed.

B¥  Lease (Applicant or applicant’s parent company/owner)
Attach a fully executed lease that includes the terms of the lease and the actual lease
expense.

O Option to Purchase
Attach a fully executed Option that includes the anticipated purchase price

O Option to Lease
Attach a fully executed Option that includes the anticipated terms of the Option and
anticipated lease expense

O Other (Specify)

Check appropriate line above: For applicants or applicant’s parent company/owner that currently own
the building/land for the project location, attach a copy of the title/deed. For applicants or applicant’s
parent company/owner that currently lease the building/land for the project location, attach a copy of
the fully executed lease agreement. For projects where the location of the project has not been secured,
attach a fully executed document including Option to Purchase Agreement, Option to Lease Agreement,
or other appropriate documentation. Option to Purchase Agreements must include anticipated
purchase price. Lease/Option to Lease Agreements must include the actual/anticipated term of the
agreement gnd actual/anticipated lease expense. The legal interests described herein must be valid
on the date of the Agency's consideration of the certificate of need application.

Attachment Section A-6A

6B. Briefly describe the following and attach the requested documentation on an 8 %4” x 11” sheet of
. white paper, legibly labeling all requested information.

RESPONSE: Plot Plan attached as Attachment A 6B-1a-d
1)  Plot Plan must include:
a) Size of site (in acres),
b) Location of structure on the site;
c) Location of the proposed construction/renovation; and
d) Names of streets, roads or highway that cross or border the site.

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 8




)

3)

Floor Plan — If the facility has multiple floors, submit one page per floor. If more than one
page is needed, label each page. Attached as Attachment 6B-2

a) Patient care rooms (private or semi-private)

b) Ancillary areas

c) Equipment areas

d) Other (specify)

Public Transportation Route - Describe the relationship of the site to public transportation
routes, if any, and to any highway or major road developments in the area. Describe the
accessibility of the proposed site to patients/clients.

RESPONSE: The Jackson Madison Surgery Center is located across the street from the

Jackson-Madison County General Hospital. The Jackson Transit Authority bus line has a bus stop on
Forest Avenue across the street from the proposed facility location. The facility will be located
approximately 2.5 miles from the Jackson downtown area; 4.0 miles from Interstate 40; and several
blocks off Highways 45 and 412.

Attachment Section A-6B-1 a-d, 6B-2, 6B-3.

A

B.
C.

7. Iype of Institution (Check as appropriate--more than one response may apply)
A. Hospital (Specify) H Nursing Home -
B.  Ambulatory Surgical Treatment X I.  Outpatient Diagnostic Center
Center (ASTC), Multi-Specialty J.  Rehabilitation Facility -
C. ASTC, Single Specialty K. Residential Hospice
D. Home Health Agency L. Nonresidential Substitution- -
E. Hospice Based Treatment Center for
F. Mental Health Hospital Opiate Addiction
G. Intellectual Disability M.  Other (Specify)
Institutional Habilitation Facility
ICF/IID
8. Purpose of Review (Check appropriate lines(s) — more than one response may apply)

Establish New Health Care G. MRI Unit Increase
Institution X H. Satellite Emergency
Change in Bed Complement Department

Initiation of Health Care I.  Addition of ASTC Specialty
Service as Defined in TCA 68- J.  Addition of Therapeutic
11-1607(4) Catheterization

(Specify) K.  Other (Specify)

Relocation and/or

Replacement

Initiation of MR
Initiation of Pediatric MRI

/]

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 9




Medicaid/T . Medi Participati
MCO Contracts [Check all that apply] RESPONSE: Upon approval will submit for all

___AmeriGroup United Healthcare Community Plan BiueCare ___TennCare Select
Medicare Provider Number will submit upon approval
Medicaid Provider Number will submit upon approval

Certification Type

If a new facility, will certification be sought for Medicare and/or Medicaid/TennCare?
Medicare __)_(Yes —No__N/A Medicaid/TennCare —XYes __No __NJ/A

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 1




10.

Bed Complement Data

Not Applicable

A. Please indicate current and proposed distribution and certification of facility beds.

1) Medical

2) Surgical

3) ICU/CCU

4) Obstetrical

5) NICU

6) Pediatric

7) Adult Psychiatric

8) Geriatric Psychiatric

9) Child/Adolescent Psychiatric

10) Rehabilitation

11) Adult Chemical Dependency
12) Child/Adolescent Chemical

Dependency

13) Long-Term Care Hospital

14) Swing Beds
15)  Nursing Home — SNF
(Medicare only)

16) Nursing Home — NF
(Medicaid only)

17)  Nursing Home — SNF/NF

(dually

certified Medicare/Medicaid)
18) Nursing Home - Licensed

(non-certified)
19) ICF/ID
20) Residential Hospice
TOTAL

*Beds approved but not yet in service

JOTAL
Current Beds Beds *Beds **Beds Beds at
Licensed Staffed Proposed = Approved = Exempted Completion

**Beds exempted under 10% per 3 year provision

Describe the reasons for change in bed allocations and describe the impact the bed change will
have on the applicant facility’s existing services.

Please identify all the applicant’s outstanding Certificate of Need projects that have a licensed bed
change component. If applicable, complete chart below.

CON Number(s)

CON Expiration Total Licensed Beds

Date

Approved

Not Applicable
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11.

Home Care Organizations — Home Health Agency, Hospice Agency (excluding Residential

Hospice), identify the following by checking all that apply: Not Applicable

ﬁ;ﬁgﬁ;@ga éﬁf{% Existing Parent Proposed / Existing Parent Proposed
I T T ﬁ"‘% Licensed Office Licensed |2, Licensed Office Licensed
e w2y sl County County County K YN County County County
Anderson 0 0 O Lauderdale 0 O O
Bedford O 0O 0 Lawrence 0 | [
Benton (] O [} Lewis O O 0
Bledsoe (] | [} Lincoln () r 0
Blount O O .| Loudon O O 0
Bradley 0 [ | McMinn O 0 0
Campbell 0 0 0 McNairy O 0 O
Cannon [ O O Macon 0 (W] a
Carroll ) 0 [ Madison 0 O ]
Carter O 0 0 Marion 0 0 O
Cheatham 0 O O Marshall ] () ]
Chester 0 O | Maury | ] |
Claiborne 0 m} O Meigs 0 | O
Clay O ] [ Monroe O O -0
Cocke O 0 [ Montgomery [ (] 0]
Coffee 0 0 [ Moore ] O |}
Crockett 0 O 0 Morgan ] O 0
Cumberland | O im| Obion O 0 O
Davidson (m] O O Overton 0 O O
Decatur ] O ] Perry ] O =]
DeKalb (! 0 (M) Pickett O O 0
Dickson ) O 0 Polk ] O O
Dyer [} 0 O Putnam 0 0 0
Fayette 0 0 0 Rhea 0 O 0
Fentress | (] 0 Roane 0 O ]
Franklin O O 0 Robertson 0 0 a
Gibson O ] O Rutherford 0 O 0
Giles O (| [} Scott [} W] O
Grainger ] a O Sequatchie O O 0
Greene 0 0 0 Sevier 0 0 |
Grundy [m] (W] (W] Shelby 0 O d
Hamblen O ] 0 Smith O | a
Hamilton O () 0 Stewart 0 ] O
Hancock O [ W} Sullivan 0 (] (]
Hardeman O ] 0 Sumner 0 O O
Hardin [} 0 0 Tipton 0 0O O
Hawkins () 0 0 Trousdale 0 0 a
Haywood [ 0 0 Unicoi O (] O
Henderson m| O 0 Union 0 ] ]
Henry 0 O 0 Van Buren O O 0
Hickman |} [} 0 Warren [ O 0
Houston 0O O O Washington 0 0 O
Humphreys 0 [ O Wayne 0 | (]
Jackson 0 O ()} Weakley | O O
Jefferson 0 O [m] White 0 0 O
Johnson (]} 0o m} Williamson 0 0 a
Knox O 0 0 Wilson [ 0 0
Lake [ O O o -
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2. Square Footage and Cost Per Square Footage Chart : -0t Applicable

Proposed Proposed Final Square Footage
Existing Existing Temporary Final
Unit/Department Location SF Location Location Renovated New Total
Unit/Department
GSF Sub-Total
Other GSF Total
Total GSF
*Total Cost
**Cost Per
Square Foot
[0 Below 1% I Below 1 | [ Below 1%
Quartile Quartile Quartile
00 Between 1t | [J Between {J Between
o ) and 2nd 1st and 2nd 1t and 2nd
Cost per Square Foot Is Within Which Range Quartile Quartile Quartile
(For quartile ranges, please refer to the Applicant’s Toolbox on
www. tn.gov/hsda) [ Between 2 | [ Between 0 Between
and 39 2rd and 31 2nd and 3+
Quartile Quartile Quartile
[0 Above 3¢ [J Above 31 [J Above 3
Quartile Quartile Quartile

* The Total Construction Cost should equal the Construction Cost reported on line A5 of the Project

Cost Chart.

** Cost per Square Foot is the construction cost divided by the square feet. Please do not include
contingency costs.
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~ A. 'Describe the construction and renovation associated with the proposed project. If applicable,
provide a description of the existing building, including age of the building and the use of space
vacated due to the proposed project. Not Applicable

13. MR, PET, and/or Linear Accelerator Not Applicable

1. Describe the acquisition of any Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) scanner that is adding a MRI
scanner in counties with population less than 250,000 or initiation of pediatric MR in counties
with population greater than 250,000 and/or

2. Describe the acquisition of any Positron Emission Tomographer (PET) or Linear Accelerator if
initiating the service by responding to the following:

A. Complete the chart below for acquired equipment. Not Applicable

O Linear
Accelerator Mev Types: o SRS o IMRT o IGRT o Other
o By Purchase
Total Cost*: o By Lease  Expected Useful Life (yrs) ____
o New o Refurbished o If not new, how old? (yrs)
o Breast o Extremit
O MRI Tesla:_____Magnet: o Open o Short Bore o Other
o By Purchase
Total Cost™: o By Lease  Expected Useful Life (yrs) ____
o New o Refurbished o If not new, how old? (yrs)
O PET o PETonly o PET/CT o PET/MRI
o By Purchase
Total Cost™: o By Lease  Expected Useful Life (yrs)
o New o Refurbished o If not new, how old? (yrs)

* As defined by Agency Rule 0720-9-.01(4)(b)

B. In the case of equipment purchase, include a quote and/or proposal from an equipment vendor.
In the case of equipment lease, provide a draft lease or contract that at least includes the term of
the lease and the anticipated lease payments along with the fair market value of the equipment.
Not Applicable

C. Compare lease cost of the equipment to its fair market value. Note: Per Agency Rule, the higher
cost must be identified in the project cost chart. Not Applicable

D. Schedule of Operations: No Applicable

Days of Operation Hours of Operation

Location (Sunday through Saturday) (example: 8 am - 3 pm)

Fixed Site (Applicant)

Mobile Locations
{Applicant)
(Name of Other Location)
(Name of Other Location)
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E. Identify the clinical applications to be provided that apply tothe project. Not Applicable

F. If the equipment has been approved by the FDA within the last five years provide documentation
of the same. Not Applicable

In accordance with T.C.A. § 68-11-1609(b), “no Certificate of Need shall be granted unless the action
proposed in the application for such Certificate is necessary to provide needed health care in the area to
be served, can be economically accomplished and maintained, will provide health care that meets
appropriate quality standards, and will contribute to the orderly development of health care.” In making
determinations, the Agency uses as guidelines the goals, objectives, criteria, and standards provided in
the State Health Plan.

Additional criteria for review are prescribed in Chapter 11 of the Agency’s Rules, Tennessee Rules and
Regulations 01730-11.

The following questions are listed according to the four criteria: (1) Need, (2) Economic Feasibility, (3)
Quality Standards, and (4) Contribution to the Orderly Development of Health Care. Please respond to
each question and provide underlying assumptions, data sources, and methodologies when appropriate.

QUESTIONS
NEED

The responses to this section of the application will help determine whether the project will
provide needed health care facilities or services in the area to be served.

1. Provide a response to the applicable criteria and standards for the type of institution or service
requested. https://www.tn.qov/hsda/hsda-criteria-and-standards.htmi

State Health Plan
Certificate of Need Standards and Criteria
Ambulatory Surgical Treatment Centers

Assumptions in Determination of Need
The need for an ambulatory surgical treatment center shall be based upon the following assumptions:
1. Operating Rooms
a. An operating room is available 250 days per year, 8 hours per day.
RESPONSE: Operating rooms are available 250 days per year, 8 hours per day.

b. The estimated average time per Case in and Operating Room is 65 minutes.

RESPONSE: Based on historical data, the estimated time per case is:

General Surgery 63 minutes
Ophthalmology 43 minutes
Plastic Surgery 112 minutes
Gynecology 53 minutes
ENT 45 minutes
Urology 40 minutes
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Average for All A 59 minutes

c. The average time for clean-up and preparation between Operating Room Cases is 30
minutes.

RESPONSE: Based on historical data, the average turnaround time is:

General Surgery 14 minutes
Ophthalmology 12 minutes
Plastic Surgery 13 minutes
ENT 6 minutes
Gynecology 12 minutes
Urology 13 minutes
Average for All 12 minutes

a. The optimum utilization of a dedicated, outpatient, general-purpose Operating Room is 70%
of full capacity. 70% x 250 days/year x 8 hours/day divided by 95 minutes = 884 Cases per
year.

3. Procedure Rooms

RESPONSE: These questions are not applicable as the facility does not have any procedure rooms.

a. A procedure room is available 250 days per year, 8 hours per day.

b. The estimated average time per outpatient Case in a procedure room is 30 minutes.

c. The average time for clean up and preparation between Procedure Room Cases is 15
minutes.

d. The optimum utilization of a dedicated, outpatient, general-purpose outpatient Procedure
Room is 70% of full capacity. 70% x 250 days/year x 8 hours/day divided by 45 minutes =
1867 Cases per year.

Determination of Need

L

Need. The minimum numbers of 884 Cases per Operating Room and 1867 Cases per Procedure
Room are to be considered as baseline numbers for purposes of determining Need.? An applicant
should demonstrate the ability to perform a minimum of 884 Cases per Operating Room and/or 1867
Cases per Procedure Room per year, except that an applicant may provide information on its
projected case types and its assumptions of estimated average time and clean up and preparation
time per Case if this information differs significantly from the above-stated assumptions. It is
recognized that an ASTC may provide a variety of services/Cases and that as a result the estimated
average time and clean up and preparation time for such services/Cases may not meet the minimum
numbers set forth herein. It is also recognized that an applicant applying for an ASTC Operating
Room(s) may apply for a Procedure Room, although the anticipated utilization of that Procedure
Room may not meet the base guidelines contained here. Specific reasoning and explanation for the
inclusion in a CON application of such a Procedure Room must be provided. An applicant that desires
to limit its Cases to a specific type or types should apply for a Specialty ASTC.

RESPONSE: This project will convert an existing hospital-based ambulatory surgical center to a
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~fréestanding ambulatory surgical center. The number of OR’s in the propdsed service area will
remain the same. Thus, the Jackson Madison Surgery Center will have 10 operating rooms.

Year One Year Two

Ophthalmology 865 1,322
General Surgery 972 1,488
Urology 692 1,061
Gynecology 686 1,051
Otolaryngology 262 401
Pain Management 56 86
Spine 48 73
Plastic Surgery 104 159
Total 3,685 5,641
Number of Rooms 4.17 6.38

The Applicant conservatively estimate surgery cases during 2022 (3,685) as operations are
transitioned from a hospital-based facility to a freestanding facility. Decrease in volume is
because the Jackson Madison Surgery Center will be a new business with new electronic
medical record, new administration, new management company, new policies and procedures,
and the like. The Year Two surgery cases is anticipated to be 75 percent of Full Capacity.
Near Full Capacity will be reached by the third year of operation.

2 Need and Economic Efficiencies. An applicant must estimate the projected surgical hours to
be utilized per year for two years based on the types of surgeries to be performed, including the
preparation time between surgeries. Detailed support for estimates must be provided.

RESPONSE: See table below.

Actual room duration per case is calculated based on Jackson-Madison County General Hospital
average OR minutes per case for ASC eligible cases by Service Category for dates of service July 1,
2018 to June 30, 2019.

Estimated turnover time per case based on ECG ASC Industry operations experience.
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Cateqory Year1 Year2 Actual Estimate Room Turnover Total Total Total Total
Room d Durati  Time (hrs)  Projected Projected Projected Projected
Duratio  Turnover on Surgical Surgical Surgical Surgical
nper Time per  (hrs) Time Time (Min) Time (Hrs) Time (Hrs)
case case {Min) Year Year2 Year 1 Year 2
min)’ {min)? 1
Gastroenteroloy
Ophthaimology
865 1,322 46 10 0.77 0.17 48,440 74,032 807 1,234
General Surgery
972 1,488 78 20 1.30 0.33 95,256 145,824 1,588 2,430
Urology
692 1,061 56 20 0.93 0.33 52,592 80,636 877 1,344
Gynecology
686 1,051 96 20 1.60 0.33 79,576 121,916 1,326 2,032
Otolaryngology
262 401 81 15 1.35 0.25 25,152 38,496 419 642
Pain
Management 56 86 104 10 1.73 0.17 6,384 9,804 106 163
Spine
48 73 114 30 1.90 0.50 6,912 10,512 115 175
Plastic Surgery
104 159 82 20 1.37 0.33 10,608 16,218 177 270
Total
3,685 5,641 324,920 497,438 5,415 8,291
3. Need; Economic Efficiencies; Access. To determine current utilization and need, an applicant should

take into account both the availability and utilization of either: a) all existing outpatient Operating
Rooms and Procedure Rooms in a Service Area, including physician office based surgery rooms
(when those data are officially reported and available®) OR b) all existing comparable outpatient
Operating Rooms and Procedure Rooms based on the type of Cases to be performed. Additionally,
applications should provide similar information on the availability of nearby out-of-state existing
outpatient Operating Rooms and Procedure Rooms, if that data are available, and provide the source
of that data. Unstaffed dedicated outpatient Operating Rooms and unstaffed dedicated outpatient
Procedure Rooms are considered available for ambulatory surgery and are to be included in the
inventory and in the measure of capacity.

RESPONSE: The 18 county service area has six existing ambulatory surgical treatment centers.
(Joint Annual Reports) Four of the six are single specialty (endoscopy and ophthalmology). Two are
multi-specialty. This project will not add a new ambulatory surgical treatment center to the 18 county
service area. It will simply convert a hospital-based ambulatory surgical center to a freestanding
surgical center in order to assist with improvements in patient care and cost savings.

Name 2019 2018 2017
Cape Surgery Center (Dyer County) 3,261 2,931 2,649
Van Dyck ASC LLC (Henry County) 1,631 2,546 3
DDC Surgery Center (Madison County) 3,520 4,452 6,668
Physicians Surgery Center (Madison County) | 4,354 5,210 5,286
Summit Endoscopy Center (Obion County) 3,159 3,710 3,061
Union City Surgery Center (Obion County) 320 301 19

Unduplicated cases
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Detail provided below.

2019
#ORs |#ProcRooms| Total
Cape Surgery Center 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 1,996 1,285 3,261
Van Dyck ASC 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 1,631 - 1,631
DDC Surgery Center - 2 2
Endoscopy - 3,520 3,520
Physicians Surgery Center 6 1 7
Cosmetic Surgery 37 - 37
Oral Surgery 2 - 2
Ophthaimology 1,604 564 2,168
Orthopedics 2,021 - 2,021
Pain Management 112 - 112
Podiatry 4 - 4
Radiation Oncology Treatmt 7 - 7
Urology 3 - 3
Summit Endoscopy Center - 2 2
Endoscopy - 3,159 3,159
Union City Surgery Center 2 1 3
General Surgery 1 - 1
Orthopedics 214 - 214
Pain Management 206 - 206
Podiatry 21 - 21
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2018
#ORs |# ProcRooms| Total
Cape Surgery Center 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 1,876 1,055 2,931
Van Dyck ASC 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 2,546 - 2,546
DDC Surgery Center - 3 3
Endoscopy - 4,452 4,452
Physicians Surgery Center 4 1 5
Cosmetic Surgery 9 - 9
Oral Surgery - - -
Ophthalmology 2,244 838 3,082
Orthopedics 1,920 - 1,920
Pain Management 178 - 178
Podiatry 21 - 21
Radiation Oncology Treatmt - - -
Urology - - -
Summit Endoscopy Center - 2 2
Endoscopy - 3,710 3,710
Union City Surgery Center 2 1 3
General Surgery - - -
Orthopedics 256 - 256
Pain Management 45 - 45
Podiatry - - -
2017
#ORs |#ProcRooms| Total
Cape Surgery Center 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 1,876 1,055 2,931
Van Dyck ASC 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 2,546 - 2,546
DDC Surgery Center - 3 3
Endoscopy - 4,452 4,452
Physicians Surgery Center 4 1 5
Cosmetic Surgery 9 - 9
Oral Surgery - - -
Ophthalmology 2,244 838 3,082
Orthopedics ; 1,920 - 1,920
Pain Management 178 - 178
Podiatry 21 - 21
Radiation Oncology Treatmt - ; - -
Urology - - -
Summit Endoscopy Center - 2 2
Endoscopy - 3,710 3,710
Union City Surgery Center 2 1 3
General Surgery - - -
Orthopedics 256 - 256
Pain Management 45 - 45
Podiatry - - -
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2. Provide applicable utilization and/or occupancy statistics for your institution services for each of
the past three years and the projected annual utilization for each of the two years following
completion of the project. Additionally, provide the details regarding the methodology used to

project utilization. The methodology must include detailed calculations or documentation from
referral sources, and identification of all assumptions.

RESPONSE: Data for the past three years (2017, 2018, 2019) is for the existing West Tennessee
Surgery Center. Projections for 2022 and 2023 are for the Jackson Madison Surgery Center. The
Applicant conservatively estimate surgery cases during 2022 (3,685) as operations are transitioned
from a hospital-based facility to a freestanding facility. This is because the Jackson Madison Surgery
Center will have new electronic medical record, new administration, new management company, new
policies and procedures, and the like. The 2023 surgery cases is anticipated to be 75 percent of Full
Capacity. Near full capacity will be reached by the third year of operation.

Year Surgery Cases
2017 6,553
2018 6,440
2019 6,687
2022 3,685
2023 5,641

Need and Economic Efficiencies. An applicant must document the potential impact that the proposed
new ASTC would have upon the existing service providers and their referral patterns. A CON
application to establish an ASTC or to expand existing services of an ASTC should not be approved
unless the existing ambulatory surgical services that provide comparable services regarding the types of
Cases performed, if those services are know and relevant, within the applicant’s proposed Service Area or
within the applicant’s facility are demonstrated to be currently utilized at 70% or above.

RESPONSE: The 18 county service area has six existing ambulatory surgical treatment centers.
(Joint Annual Reports) Four of the six are single specialty, endoscopy and ophthalmology. Two are
multi-specialty. In 2019, the only facility not utilizing operating rooms at 70 percent or above is the
Union City Surgery Center. Cape Surgery Center is utilizing its procedure room at 69 percent.
Physician Surgery Center and Union City Surgery Center are not meeting 70 percent in their
procedure rooms.

Name 2019 2018 2017
Cape Surgery Center (Dyer County) 3,261 2,931 2,649
Van Dyck ASC LLC (Henry County) 1,631 2,546 3
DDC Surgery Center (Madison County) 3,520 4,452 6,668
Physicians Surgery Center (Madison County) | 4,354 5,210 5,286
Summit Endoscopy Center (Obion County) 3,159 3,710 3,061
Union City Surgery Center (Obion County) 320 301 19

Unduplicated cases

Detail provided below.
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2019

#ORs | #ProcRooms| Total
Cape Surgery Center 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 1,996 1,285 3,261
Van Dyck ASC 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 1,631 - 1,631
DDC Surgery Center - 2 2
Endoscopy - 3,520 3,520
Physicians Surgery Center 6 1 7
Cosmetic Surgery 37 - 37
Oral Surgery 2 - 2
Ophthalmology 1,604 564 2,168
Orthopedics 2,021 - 2,021
Pain Management 112 - 112
Podiatry 4 - 4
Radiation Oncology Treatmt 7 - 7
Urology 3 - 3
Summit Endoscopy Center - 2 2
Endoscopy 3,159 3,159
Union City Surgery Center 2 1 3
General Surgery 1 - 1
Orthopedics 214 - 214
Pain Management 206 - 206
Podiatry 21 - 21
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2018
#ORs |#ProcRooms| Total
Cape Surgery Center 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 1,876 1,055 2,931
Van Dyck ASC 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 2,546 - 2,546
DDC Surgery Center - 3 3
Endoscopy - 4,452 4,452
Physicians Surgery Center 4 1 5
Cosmetic Surgery 9 - 9
Oral Surgery - - -
Ophthalmology 2,244 838 3,082
Orthopedics 1,920 - 1,920
Pain Management 178 - 178
Podiatry 21 - 21
Radiation Oncology Treatmt - - -
Urology - - -
Summit Endoscopy Center - 2 2
Endoscopy - 3,710 3,710
Union City Surgery Center 2 1 3
General Surgery - - -
Orthopedics 256 - 256
Pain Management 45 - 45
Podiatry - - -
2017
#ORs |#ProcRooms| Total
Cape Surgery Center 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 1,876 1,055 2,931
Van Dyck ASC 2 1 3
Ophthaimology 2,546 - 2,546
DDC Surgery Center - 3 3
Endoscopy - 4,452 4,452
Physicians Surgery Center 4 1 5
Cosmetic Surgery 9 - 9
Oral Surgery - - -
Ophthalmology 2,244 838 3,082
Orthopedics 1,920 - 1,920
Pain Management 178 - 178
Podiatry 21 - 21
Radiation Oncology Treatmt - - -
Urology - - -
Summit Endoscopy Center - 2 2
Endoscopy - 3,710 3,710
Union City Surgery Center 2 1 3
General Surgery - - -
Orthopedics 256 - 256
Pain Management 45 - 45
Podiatry - - -
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5. Need and Economic Efficiencies. An application for a Specialty ASTC should present its projections for
the total number of cases based on its own calculations for the projected length of time per type of
case, and shall provide any local, regional, or national data in support of its methodology. An applicant
for a Specialty ASTC should provide its own definitions of the surgeries and/or procedures that will be
performed and whether the Surgical Cases will be performed in an Operating Room or a Procedure
Room. An applicant for a Specialty ASTC must document the potential impact that the proposed new
ASTC would have upon the existing service providers and their referral patterns. A CON proposal to
establish a Specialty ASTC or to expand existing services of a Specialty ASTC shall not be approved
unless the existing ambulatory surgical services that provide comparable services regarding the types
of Cases performed within the applicant’s proposed Service Area or within the applicant's facility are
demonstrated to be currently utilized at 70% or above. An applicant that is granted a CON for a
Specialty ASTC shall have the specialty or limitation placed on the CON.

RESPONSE: The Applicant conservatively estimate surgery cases during Year One (3,685)
as operations are transitioned from a hospital-based facility to a freestanding facility. This is
because the Jackson Madison Surgery Center will have new electronic medical record, new
administration, new management company, new policies and procedures, and the like. The
Year Two surgery cases (5,641) is anticipated to be 75 percent of Full Capacity. Near Full
Capacity will be reached by the third year of operation. The 18 county service area has six
existing ambulatory surgical treatment centers. (Joint Annual Reports) Four of the six are
single specialty, endoscopy and ophthalmology. Two are multi-specialty. In 2019, the only
facility not utilizing operating rooms at 70 percent or above is the Union City Surgery Center.
Cape Surgery Center is utilizing its procedure room at 69 percent. Physician Surgery Center
and Union City Surgery Center are not meeting 70 percent in their procedure rooms.

Other Standards and Criteria

6. Access to ASTCs. The majority of the population in a Service Area should reside within 60 minutes
average driving time to the facility.

RESPONSE: The majority of the population in the service area reside within 60 minutes. Residents
living in Weakly, Obion, Lauderdale, Henry, Benton, Decatur, Lake and Hardin reside within 75 minutes.

7. Access to ASTCs. An applicant should provide information regarding the relationship of an existing or
proposed ASTC site to public transportation routes if that information is available.

RESPONSE: The Jackson Madison Surgery Center is located close to U.S. Highway 412, U.S.
Highway 45, and Interstate 40. In addition, the Jackson Transit Authority has a bus stop across the
street from the facility.

8 Access to ASTCs. An application to establish an ambulatory surgical treatment center or to expand
existing services of an ambulatory surgical treatment center must project the origin of potential patients
by percentage and county of residence and, if such data are readily available, by zip code, and must
note where they are currently being served. Demographics of the Service Area should be included,
including the anticipated provision of services to out-of-state patients, as well as the identity of other
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- service providers both in'and out of state and the source of out-of-state data. Applicants shall document
all other provider alternatives available in the Service Area. All assumptions, including the specific
methodology by which utilization is projected, must be clearly stated.

RESPONSE: Data are provided from the existing West Tennessee Surgery Center for FY2019. These
figures should be comparable.

Service Area | Historical Utilization-County Residents % of total O procedures
Counties — Most Recent Year (YEAR =Fy2019) cases patients
West Tennessee Surgery Center OOther,
Benton 65 9
Carroll 297 4.5
Chester 256 3.9
Crockett 280 4.2
Decatur 153 23
Dyer 308 47
Gibson 1082 16.4
Hardeman 263 45
Hardin 297 34
Haywood 195 2.9
Henderson 382 6.8
Henry 74 1.9
Lake 41 .6
L.auderdale 166 .2
Madison 1952 294
McNairy 367 5.5
Obion 155 2.3
Weakley 156 2.4
Other TN 124 1.9
Counties
Other States 89 13
Total 6632 100%

9 Access and Economic Efficiencies. An application to establish an ambulatory surgical treatment center
or to expand existing services of an ambulatory surgical treatment center must project patient utilization
for each of the first eight quarters following completion of the project. All assumptions, including the
specific methodology by which utilization is projected, must be clearly stated.

RESPONSE: The Applicant conservatively estimate surgery cases during Year One as
operations are transitioned from a hospital-based facility to a freestanding facility. Surgery
cases during Year One are expected to be to be 50 percent of Full Capacity. This is because
the Jackson Madison Surgery Center will have new electronic medical record, new
administration, new management company, new policies and procedures, and the like. The
Year Two surgery cases is anticipated to be 75 percent of full capacity. Near full capacity will
be reached by the third year of operation.
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Category Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4  Year1 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4  Year2

Gastroenterology - - - - - - - - - -

Ophthalmology 72 234 270 288 865 307 322 339 353 1,322
General Surgery 81 263 304 324 972 346 363 382 398 1,488
Urology 58 187 216 231 692 247 259 272 283 1,061
Gynecology 57 185 214 229 686 244 256 269 281 1,051
Otolaryngology 22 71 82 87 262 93 98 103 107 401
Pain Management 5 15 18 19 56 20 21 22 23 86
Spine 4 13 15 16 48 17 18 19 20 73
Plastic Surgery 9 28 33 35 104 37 39 41 42 159
Total 308 996 1,152 1,229 3,685 1,311 1,376 1,447 1,507 5,641

10. Patient Safety and Quality of Care: Health Care Workforce.

a An applicant should be or agree to become accredited by any accrediting organization approved by
the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, such as the Joint Commission, the Accreditation
Association of Ambulatory Health Care, the American Association for Accreditation of Ambulatory
Surgical Facilities, or other nationally recognized accrediting organization.*

RESPONSE: The Applicant will seek accreditation from the American Association for Accreditation
of Ambulatory Surgery Facilities (AAASF).

b.  An applicant should estimate the number of physicians by specialty that are expected to utilize the
facility and the criteria to be used by the facility in extending surgical and anesthesia privileges to
medical personnel. An applicant should provide documentation on the availability of appropriate
and qualified staff that will provide ancillary support services, whether on- or off-site.

RESPONSE: Based on recent data from the West Tennessee Surgery Center, the Jackson
Madison Surgery Center expects the following number of physician specialties to utilize the facility.

ENT

General Surgery
Neurosurgery

OB/GYN 2
Ophthalmology

Plastic Surgery

Podiatry

Urology

=200 2w

11. Access to ASTCs. In light of Rule 0720-11.01, which lists the factors concerning need on which an
HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 21




- application may be evaluated, and Principle No. 2 in the State Health Plan, “Every citizen should have
reasonable access to health care,” the HSDA may decide to give special consideration to an applicant:

a Who is offering the service in a medically underserved area as designated by the United States
Health Resources and Services Administration;

RESPONSE: The service area of Jackson Madison Surgery Center includes 18 counties in rural
West Tennessee. All counties are either partially medically underserved areas, totally medically
underserved areas, or have medically underserved populations.

b. Who is a “safety net hospital” or a “children’s hospital” as defined by the Bureau of TennCare
Essential Access Hospital payment program;

RESPONSE: The applicant is not a safety net or children’s hospital.

¢ Who provides a written commitment of intention to contract with at least one TennCare MCO and,
if providing adult services, to participate in the Medicare program; or

RESPONSE: The Applicant will contract will all TennCare providers and will participate in the
Medicare Program.

d Whois proposing to use the ASTC for patients that typically require longer preparation and scanning
times. The applicant shall provide in its application information supporting the additional time
required per Case and the impact on the need standard.

RESPONSE: The estimated average time per case in the Jackson Madison Surgery Center will be
59 minutes based on recent data from the West Tennessee Surgery Center.

1. Describe how this project relates to existing facilities or services operated by the applicant
including previously approved Certificate of Need projects and future long-range development

plans.
RESPONSE: : This purpose of this certificate of need request is to convert the hospital-
based outpatient surgery center located at 700 West Forest Avenue Suite 100 (CN0808-055),
Jackson, Tennessee, to a freestanding ambulatory surgical treatment center that will continue
to serve residents of rural West Tennessee at the same location. This CON initiates and
establishes the Jackson Madison Surgery Center located at 700 West Forest Avenue, Suite
100, Jackson, Tennessee. The proposed conversion ot a freestanding facility will assist with
cost savings and improvements to patient care. This CON initiates and establishes the
Jackson Madison Surgery Center located at 700 West Forest Avenue Suite 100. The facility
is located on the first floor of a Medical Office Building across the street from the Jackson-
Madison County General Hospital in 31,543 square feet. The Surgery Center has 10
operating rooms, 30 bed pre-and post-anesthesia care unit (PACU), nurses station, staff
offices, medical records, admitting area, lobby, and waiting area.

2. ldentify the proposed service area and provide justification for its reasonableness. Submit a
county level map for the Tennessee portion of the service area using the map on the following
page, clearly marked and shaded to reflect the service area as it relates to meeting the
requirements for CON criteria and standards that may apply to the project. Please include a
discussion of the inclusion of counties in the border states, if applicable. Attachment Section B
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- Need-3.

RESPONSE: The primary service area of the Jackson Madison Surgery Center defined by Madison,
Gibson, Carroll, Henderson, Hardeman, Haywood, Crockett, and Chester counties. The secondary
service area is composed of McNairy, Hardin, Lake, Decatur, Henry, Weakley, Benton, Dyer, Obion,
and Lauderdale counties. These counties will provide 96.8 percent of the projected cases.

Complete the following utilization tables for each county in the service area, if applicable:
Outpatients Only

Service Area | Historical Utilization-County Residents % of total O procedures
Counties — Most Recent Year (YEAR =Fy2019) cases patients
West Tennessee Surgery Center OOther,
Benton 65 9
Carroll 297 4.5
Chester 256 3.9
Crockett 280 4.2
Decatur 153 23
Dyer 308 47
Gibson 1082 16.4
Hardeman 263 45
Hardin 227 3.4
Haywood 195 29
Henderson 382 6.8
Henry 74 1.9
Lake 41 .6
Lauderdale 166 2
Madison 1952 294
McNairy 367 5.5
Obion 155 23
Weakley 156 2.4
Other TN 124 1.9
Counties
Other States 89 1.3
Total 6632 100%
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Service Area | Projected Utilization-County Residents- % of total [ procedures
Counties Year 1 (YEAR = Fy2022) cases [ patients
Jackson Madison Surgery Center COther,
Benton 33 9
Carroll 166 45
Chester 144 39
Crockett 155 4.2
Decatur 85 23
Dyer 174 4.7
Gibson 604 16.4
Hardeman 165 45
Hardin 126 34
Haywood 107 29
Henderson 250 6.8
Henry 70 1.9
Lake 22 .6
Lauderdale 8 2
Madison 1083 294
McNairy 202 55
Obion 85 23
Weakley 88 24
Other TN 70 1.9
Counties
Other States 48 1.3
Total 3685 100%
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3. A. 1) Describe the demographics of the population to be served by the proposal.

2) Provide the following data for each county in the service area using current and projected
population data from the Department of Health
(https://www.tn.gov/content/tn/nealth/health-program-areas/statistics/health-data/con.himl
), the most recent enrollee data from the Division of TennCare
(hitps.//www tn.gov/tenncare/information-statistics/enroliment-data.html ), and US
Census Bureau demographic information (:
hitp://factiinder.census.gov/faces/navl/isi/pages/index.xhtml ),.

TennCare Enroliment Data: hitps://www.tn.gov/tenncare/information-statistics/enroliment-data.hitm!

Census Bureau Fact Finder: http:/factfinder.census.qgov/faces/nav/isf/pages/index. xhtmi

Department of Health/Health Statistics Census Bureau TennCare
2 P Lot \ o = -
Demographic 5 sl | £ sy | § |68 2 a 2
. . P=1 =g S — o N «© o © — o )
Variable/Geographic| 85 | 848 2 3 5 3 |32 ol 3 82870 @
5 0 R o a3 2ol2>] o B o 0| ® O ©
Area ST | 838y % | 2> 221288 /T, 22 2] 88| 58
o |24ai @ <=5 salgoe] 5152 s2sgdJe |8
58 |gds) D g9 55|59 3155 |2¢/pgcs | €D
55 | 8354 8] &€ Folmool 8|83 | 53|53 5 | 5¢
O Fd=q Yol Fa FRIFQR] 2|2 E |ad|ad -0 | =
Benton 15,887 |15, 71F  [15,887 15,719 F1.1% [100.0% [47.4 [833,125[3,050 [19.2%}4,104  [25.8%
9 |1.1%
27,742 735} |7.742 p7.357 -1.4% [100.0% 42.9 1840,810(5,160 [18.6%47,343 [26.5%
Carroll e
17,851 [18,222.1%]17,851 18,222 D.1% [100.0% [37.5 [$45,66712,838 [15.9%]3,847 R1.6%
Chester b
14,481 [14,51[0.3%}14,481 14,519 0.3%  [100.0% [40.4 [$42,04712,809 [19.4%3,735 |25.8%
Crockett o
11,742 Ji1,66F 11,742 [11,662 0.7% [100.0% H5.8 [840,2332.137 [18.2%}2,932 5.0%
Decatur b lo.7%
Dyer 37,833 [37,85[0.1%[37,833 7,857 0.1% [100.0% J40.1 [$43,76216,961 [18.4%J10,351 [27.4%
7
. 50,179 [50,861.4%[50,179 50,864 1.4% 1100.0% J40.1 [341,886[8,280 [16.5%]12,797 [25.5%
Gibson "
: 24,965 [4,44L 4,965 D4444 -2.1% [100.0% }40.5 [$46,76516,752 [23.5%46,723  [26.9%
Hardeman L b
. 25,615 P545F  |5.615 [25.456 L0.6% [100.0% H5.3 [$39,798[5,200 [20.3%}6,828  [26.7%
Hardin 6 lo.6%
17,331 [16,78F  [17.331 [16,782 13.2% [100.0% |40.4 [$38,362[3,553 20.5%5,324 [30.7%
Haywood b B
28,336 [28,76]1.5%[28,336 28,767 1.5% [100.0% J41.4 [$42,430(5,100 [18.0%7,133 [25.2%
Henderson -
32,538 [32,61[0.2%[32,538 [32,616 0.2% [100.0% }45.4 [340,837}6,117 |I8.8%{7,578 [3.3%
Henry "
Lake 7,639 [7,701/0.8%|7,639  [7,701 0.8% [100.0% J40.2 [$34,9662,788 [36.5%|2,040 [26.7%
6,783 6,711 26,783 26,711 -0.3% [100.0% [38.2 [837,91506,669 [24.9%7,555 [28.2%
Lauderdale I
. 08,801 [09,82]1.0%[98,801 199,827 1.0% [100.0% J38.2 [$57,647(17,586|17.8%p4,935 [25.2%
Madison .
. 26,118 [26,2410.5%)26,118 126,249 0.5% [100.0% [42.9 836,055,545 [17.4%6,905 [26.4%
McNairy o
. 30,110 P9,55F  [30,110 129,558 -1.8% [100.0% }3.0 [$39,866[5,329 [17.7%4}7,826  [26.0%
Obion s s
33,052 PB2,63 33,052 [32,639 -1.3% [100.0% [38.4 [$38,566[5,920 [19.7%4)7,315 [22.1%
Weakley M
. 527,003 [526,95(-0.01 (527,003 [526,950 -.01 100.0% 541,152 1100,794419.1% Ji135,271 [25.7%
Service Area Total 0
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oy 6,883,347 [1.097353.1% }6,883,347[7.097,353  B.1%  ]100.0% [38.9 [552.375 1,053,1[15.3% [1,432,200[20.8%
State of TN Total 53 5>

* Target Population is population that project will primarily serve. For example, nursing home, home health
agency, hospice agency projects typically primarily serve the Age 65+ population; projects for child and
adolescent psychiatric services will serve the Population Ages 0-17. Projected Year is defined in select service-
specific criteria and standards. If Projected Year is not defined, default should be four years from current year,
e.g., if Current Year is 2019, then default Projected Year is 2023.

Be sure to identify the target population, e.g., Age 65+, the current year and projected
year being used.

B. Describe the special needs of the service area population, including health disparities, the
accessibility to consumers, particularly the elderly, women, racial and ethnic minorities,
TennCare or Medicaid recipients, and low-income groups. Document how the business
plans of the facility will take into consideration the special needs of the service area
population.

RESPONSE: The median household income, percent enrolled in TennCare for the service
area are higher than for the State of Tennessee as a whole. The Applicant and proposed
services contained in this certificate of need will be accessible to all consumers,
especially women, the elderly, minorities, and low income groups.

4. Describe the existing and approved but unimplemented services of similar healthcare providers
in the service area. Include utilization and/or occupancy trends for each of the most recent three
years of data available for this type of project. List each provider and its utilization and/or
occupancy individually. Inpatient bed projects must include the following data: Admissions or
discharges, patient days, average length of stay, and occupancy. Other projects should use the
most appropriate measures, e.g., cases, procedures, visits, admissions, etc. This doesn’t apply
to projects that are solely relocating a service.

RESPONSE: The 18-county service area has six existing ambulatory surgical treatment centers.

Name 2019 2018 2017
Cape Surgery Center (Dyer County) 3,261 2,931 2,649
Van Dyck ASC LLC (Henry County) 1,631 2,546 3
DDC Surgery Center (Madison County) 3,520 4,452 6,668
Physicians Surgery Center (Madison County) | 4,354 5,210 5,286
Summit Endoscopy Center (Obion County) 3,159 3,710 3,061
Union City Surgery Center (Obion County) 320 301 19

Unduplicated cases
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Detail provided below.

2019
#ORs |#ProcRooms]| Total
Cape Surgery Center 2 "1 3
Ophthalmology 1,996 1,285 3,261
Van Dyck ASC 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 1,631 - 1,631
DDC Surgery Center - 2 2
Endoscopy - 3,520 3,520
Physicians Surgery Center 6 1 7
Cosmetic Surgery 37 - 37
Oral Surgery 2 - 2
Ophthalmoliogy 1,604 564 2,168
Orthopedics 2,021 - 2,021
Pain Management 112 - 112
Podiatry 4 - 4
Radiation Oncology Treatmt 7 - 7
Urology 3 - 3
Summit Endoscopy Center - 2 2
Endoscopy - 3,159 3,159
Union City Surgery Center 2 1 3
General Surgery 1 - 1
Orthopedics 214 - 214
Pain Management 206 - 206
Podiatry 21 - 21
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2018
#ORs |#ProcRooms| Total
Cape Surgery Center 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 1,876 1,055 2,931
Van Dyck ASC 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 2,546 - 2,546
DDC Surgery Center - 3 3
Endoscopy - 4,452 4,452
Physicians Surgery Center 4 1 5
Cosmetic Surgery 9 - 9
Oral Surgery - - -
Ophthalmology 2,244 838 3,082
Orthopedics 1,920 - 1,920
Pain Management 178 - 178
Podiatry 21 - 21
Radiation Oncology Treatmt - - -
Urology - - -
Summit Endoscopy Center - 2 2
Endoscopy - 3,710 3,710
Union City Surgery Center 2 1 3
General Surgery - - -
Orthopedics 256 - 256
Pain Management 45 - 45
Podiatry - - -
2017
#ORs |#ProcRooms| Total
Cape Surgery Center 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 1,876 1,055 2,931
Van Dyck ASC 2 1 3
Ophthalmology 2,546 - 2,546
DDC Surgery Center - 3 3
Endoscopy - 4,452 4,452
Physicians Surgery Center 4 1 5
Cosmetic Surgery S - 9
Oral Surgery - - -
Ophthalmology 2,244 838 3,082
Orthopedics 1,920 - 1,920
Pain Management 178 - 178
Podiatry 21 - 21
Radiation Oncology Treatmt - - -
Urology - - -
Summit Endoscopy Center - 2 2
Endoscopy - 3,710 3,710
Union City Surgery Center 2 ’ 1 3
General Surgery - - -
Orthopedics 256 - 256
Pain Management 45 - 45
Podiatry - - -
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5. Provide applicable utilization and/or occupancy statistics for your institution services for each of
the past three years and the projected annual utilization for each of the two years following
completion of the project. Additionally, provide the details regarding the methodology used to
project utilization. The methodology must include detailed calculations or documentation from
referral sources, and identification of all assumptions.

RESPONSE: Data for the past three years (2017, 2018, 2019) is for the existing West
Tennessee Surgery Center. Projections for 2022 and 2023 are for the Jackson Madison
Surgery Center. The Applicant conservatively estimate surgery cases during 2022 (3,685) as
operations are transitioned from a hospital-based facility to a freestanding facility. Surgery
cases during 2022 are expected to be to be 50 percent of Full Capacity. This is because the
Jackson Madison Surgery Center will have new electronic medical record, new administration,
new management company, new policies and procedures, and the like. The 2023 surgery
cases are anticipated to be 75 percent of Full Capacity. Near full capacity will be reached by
the third year of operation.

Year Surgery Cases
2017 6,553
2018 6,440
2019 6,687
2022 3,685
2023 5,641

ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY

The responses to this section of the application will help determine whether the project can be
economically accomplished and maintained.

1. Project Cost Chart Instructions

A. Al projects should have a project cost of at least $15,000 (the minimum CON Filing Fee)
(See Application Instructions for Filing Fee)

RESPONSE: Based on project costs of $19,844,873, the maximum filing fee of $95,000 is
included.

B. The cost of any lease (building, land, and/or equipment) should be based on fair market
value or the total amount of the lease payments over the initial term of the lease, whichever
is greater. Note: This applies to all equipment leases including by procedure or “per click”
arrangements. The methodology used to determine the total lease cost for a "per click"
arrangement must include, at a minimum, the projected procedures, the "per click" rate and
the term of the lease.

RESPONSE: The lease between Jackson Madison Surgery Center LLC and West Tennessee
Healthcare, Inc. stipulates $154,823 per month in rent or $1,857,876 per year for a term of 10
years. The total over the ten year period is $18,578,760.
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C. The cost for fixed and moveable equipment includes, but is not necessarily limited to,
maintenance agreements covering the expected useful life of the equipment; federal, state,
and local taxes and other government assessments; and installation charges, excluding
capital expenditures for physical plant renovation or in-wall shielding, which should be
included under construction costs or incorporated in a facility lease.

RESPONSE: Moveable equipment in the amount of $342,000 is for electronic medical
record.

D. The Total Construction Cost reported on line 5 should equal the Total Cost reported on the
Square Footage Chart.

RESPONSE: Not Applicable

E. For projects that include new construction, modification, and/or renovation—
documentation must be provided from a licensed architect or construction professional that
support the estimated construction costs. Provide a letter that includes the following:

RESPONSE: Not Applicable

1) A general description of the project;
2) An estimate of the cost to construct the project;
3) A description of the status of the site’s suitability for the proposed project; and

4) Attesting the physical environment will conform to applicable federal standards,
manufacturer’s specifications and licensing agencies’ requirements including the AIA
Guidelines for Design and Construction of Hospital and Health Care Facilities or
comparable document in current use by the licensing authority.
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PROJECT COST CHART

A.  Construction and equipment acquired by purchase:
1. Architectural and Engineering Fees

2. Legal, Administrative (Excluding CON Filing Fee), 521,012

Consultant Fees
Acquisition of Site

Preparation of Site

Total Construction Costs

Contingency Fund

Fixed Equipment (Not included in Construction Contract)

© N O O A~ W

Moveable Equipment (List all equipment over $50,000 as 342.000

separate attachments)

9. Other (Specify) _insurance 403,101

B.  Acquisition by gift, donation, or lease:

1. Facility (inclusive of building and land) 18,578,760
2. Building only

3. Land only

4, Equipment (Specify)

5. Other (Specify)

C. Financing Costs and Fees:
1. Interim Financing

Underwriting Costs

2.
3. Reserve for One Year's Debt Service
4.

Other (Specify)
D. Estimated Project Cost 19.844 873
(A+B+C)
E. CON Filing Fee 95,000
F. Total Estimated Project Cost
(D+E) TOTAL $19.939.873
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2,

Identify the funding source(s) for this project.

Check the applicable item(s) below and briefly summarize how the project will be financed.
(Documentation for the type of funding MUST be inserted at the end of the application, in the
correct alpha/numeric order and identified as Attachment Section B-Economic Feasibility-2.)

A

Commercial loan — Letter from lending institution or guarantor stating favorable initial
contact, proposed loan amount, expected interest rates, anticipated term of the loan, and
any restrictions or conditions;

Tax-exempt bonds —~ Copy of preliminary resolution or a letter from the issuing authority
stating favorable initial contact and a conditional agreement from an underwriter or
investment banker to proceed with the issuance;

General obligation bonds — Copy of resolution from issuing authority or minutes from
the appropriate meeting;

Grants — Notification of intent form for grant application or notice of grant award;

Cash Reserves — Appropriate documentation from Chief Financial Officer of the
organization providing the funding for the project and audited financial statements of the
organization; and/or

RESPONSE: Letter from Mr. Jeff Blankenship, Vice President/Chief Financial
Officer is included.

Other — |dentify and document funding from all other sources.

3. Complete Historical Data Charts on the following two pages—Do not modify the Charts

provided or submit Chart substitutions!

Historical Data Chart(s) provide revenue and expense information for the last three (3) years for

which complete data is available. The “Project Only Chart” provides information for the services

being presented in the proposed project while the “Total Facility Chart” provides information for

the entire facility. Complete both, if applicable.

Note that “Management Fees to Affiliates” should include management fees paid by agreement
to the parent company, another subsidiary of the parent company, or a third party with common
ownership as the applicant entity. “Management Fees to Non-Affiliates” should include any
management fees paid by agreement to third party entities not having common ownership with
the applicant.
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XProject Only
HISTORICAL DATA CHART o Total Facility
West Tennessee Surgery Center

Give information for the last three (3) years for which complete data are availabie for the facility or agency. The fiscal year
begins in_July (Month).

Fy2017 Fy2018 Fy2019
A.  Utilization Data
Specify Unit of Measure _surgical cases 6,553 6,440 6,687
B.  Revenue from Services to Patients
1. Inpatient Services $__ 582,260 $__450,935 $__ 460,878
2 Qutpatient Services 48,776,825 50,764,660 53,111,676
3. Emergency Services
4 Other Operating Revenue (Specify)
Gross Operating Revenue 349,359,085 $51,215,595 $.53,572,554
C.  Deductions from Gross Operating Revenue
1. Contractual Adjustments $32,192.701 $.33,807.871 $35,539,705
2. Provision for Charity Care 910,320 875,581 523.110
3. Provisions for Bad Debt 1,685,262 1,323,299 2,042,969
Total Deductions $34.788,283 $36.096,751 $38,105,784
NET OPERATING REVENUE $14,570,802_ $15.118.844 $15.468.770
D.  Operating Expenses
1. Salaries and Wages
a. Direct Patient Care 2,309,001 2,377,582 2,386,091
b. Non-Patient Care 567,363 582,857 590,607
2.  Physician’s Salaries and Wages
3. Supplies 4089743 4,840,786 4812511
4. Rent
a. Paid to Affiliates ————
b. Paid to Non-Affiliates 1002622 1,022,727 1,051,303
5. Management Fees:
a. Paid to Affiliates
b. Paid to Non-Affiliates —_—
6.  Other Operating Expenses (D6) 2,518,767 2,699,470 2,948,099
Total Operating Expenses $_10,487.496 $11.523,422 $11.788611
E. Earnings Before Interest, Taxes and Depreciation $ 4.083.305 $ 3.505.422 $ 3.678.160
F.  Non-Operating Expenses
1. Taxes $ $ $
2. Depreciation 1,078,766 1,097,198 1,088,623
3. Interest
4. Other Non-Operating Expenses
Total Non-Operating Expenses $_1.,078,766 $.1.097,198 $_1.088,623
NET INCOME (L.OSS) $.3.004,539 $.2,498.224 $_2,589,537

Chart Continues Onto Next Page
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NET INCOME (LOSS) $.3,004,539 $2.498,224 $2,589,537
G. Other Deductions

1. Annual Principal Debt Repayment $ $ $

2. Annual Capital Expenditure 699,395 1,258,167 182,657

Total Other Deductions $ 699,395 $1,258.167 $_182.657

NET BALANCE g 5 305144 $1,240,057 $2.406,880

DEPRECIATION g 1 078 766 $1.097.198 $1.088,623

FREE CASH FLOW (Net Balance + Depreciation) $3.383.910 $2.337.255 $ 3.495.503

HISTORICAL DATA CHART-OTHER EXPENSES

O XProject Facility

[ Total Oniy

QOTHER OPERATING EXPENSES CATEGORIES Fy2017 Fy2018 Fy2019

(D6)

1. Employee Benefits Allocation $ 746 917 $ 797,286 $784.677

2. Medical Director Fee 23,010 18,070 15,600

3. Copy Expense 14,545 19,048 18,142

4. _Other Service Fees 18,744 12,690 11,480

5. _Promotional ltems 6,653 4,442 5579

6. _Promotional Print ltems 505 2,559 625

7. _Equipment Maintenance Fees 314.469 340,779 220,422
Equipment Lease and Rental 4,501 5,043 178,302
Repairs and Renovation 67,853 106.008 34 057
Utilities 305,831 313,150 308,469
Telecommunications 3.747 3.813 3.965
Dues and Subscriptions 1,092 0 15
Cost Allocation 55,544 53,746 53,676
Cost Allocation-Direct Billed 174,850 181,426 185,601
System Services-Other 780,506 841,409.64 1,127.488.50
*Total Other Expenses $2,518,767 $2,699.470  $2,948,099

*Total other expenses should equal Line D.6. In the Historical Data Chart
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4. Complete Projected Data Charts on the following two pages — Do not modify the Charts
ided bmit Cf bstitutions!

Projected Data Chart(s) provide information for the two years following the completion of the
project. The “Project Only Chart” should reflect revenue and expense projections for the project
(i.e., if the application is for additional beds, include anticipated revenue from the proposed beds
only, not from all beds in the facility). The “Total Facility Chart” should reflect information for the
total facility. Complete both, if applicable.

Note that “Management Fees to Affiliates” should include management fees paid by agreement
to the parent company, another subsidiary of the parent company, or a third party with common
ownership as the applicant entity. “Management Fees to Non-Affiliates” should include any
management fees paid by agreement to third party entities not having common ownership with
the applicant.
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o XProject Only

PROJECTED DATA CHART o Total Facility
Jackson Madison Surgery Center

Give information for the two (2) years following the completion of this proposal. The fiscal yearbegins in July
(Month).

2022 2023
A. Utilization Data
Specify Unit of Measure _surgery cases . 3.685 5,641
B. Revenue from Services to Patients
1. Inpatient Services $ $
2. Outpatient Services -18.990.280 29,657,022
3. Emergency Services .
4. Other Operating Revenue (Specify) )
Gross Operating Revenue $_18,990,280 $.29,657.022
C  Deductions from Gross Operating Revenue
1. Contractual Adjustments $.12,131.783 $.16,663,535
2. Provision for Charity Care — 379806 593,140
3. Provisions for Bad Debt — 127.033 243,144
Total Deductions $_12,638,622 $.17,499.819
NET OPERATING REVENUE $_6.351.658 $.12,157,203
D.  Operating Expenses
1.  Salaries and Wages
a. Direct Patient Care 1,589,814 2181711
b. Non-Patient Care 703,807 820,423
2. Physician’s Salaries and Wages
3. Supplies 2,166,368 3,413,273
Rent
a. Paid to Affiliates
b. Paid to Non-Affiliates 1,102,977 1.136.066
5. Management Fees:
a. Paid to Affiliates
b. Paid to Non-Affiliates 317,583 607,860
6.  Other Operating Expenses (D6) 2,385,388 2,963,167
Total Operating Expenses $.8.265.937 $11.122,500
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes and Depreciation $(1.914,279) $_1.034,703
Non-Operating Expenses
1. Taxes $ $
2. Depreciation 1,087,396 1,087,396
3. Interest
4 Other Non-Operating Expenses
Total Non-Operating Expenses $ 1.087.398 $.1.087.396
NET INCOME (LOSS) $(3,001,675) $_ (52,693)

Chart Continues Onto Next Page
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NET INCOME (LOSS) $.(3,001,675) $_(52,693)
G.  Other Deductions
1. Estimated Annual Principal Debt Repayment $ $
2. Annual Capital Expenditure 500,000
Total Other Deductions $  500.000 $
NET BALANCE ¢ (3,501,675) $_(52,693)
DEPRECIATION ¢ 4 037 396 $ 1,087,396
FREE CASH FLOW (Net Balance + Depreciation) $(2.414,279) $ 1,034,703
0 XProject Facility
] Total Only
PROJECTED DATA CHART-OTHER EXPENSES
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES CATEGORIES 2022 2023
(D6)
1. Equipment Lease and Rental, Maintenance $638.543 $651.314
2. Lithotripsy Usage Fees 376,872 594 608
3. Repairs and Renovations 23,068 36,372
4, Medical Director Fees 25,500 26,010
5. Software Subscriptions/Lease 116,280 118,606
6. Utilities 323,700 333,411
7. Telecommunications 6,100 6,283
Insurance 72.409 138,592
Licensing/Accreditation 27.027 1,461
Other Operating Expenses 152,885 241,057
Employee Benefits 623,004 815,454
*Total Other Expenses $2,385,388 $.2,963,167

*Total other expenses should equal Line D.6. In the Projected Data Chart
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5. A.Please identify the project’s average gross charge, average deduction from operating revenue,
and average net charge using information from the Projected Data Charts for Year 1 and Year
2 of the proposed project. Complete Project Only Chart and Total Facility Chart, if applicable.

Project Only Chart

Previous Most Year One Year Two % Change

Year to Most | Recent Year_ Year._ (Current Year
Recent Year | Year Fy2022 Fy2023 to Year 2)
Year_ Year Fy2021
Gross Charge (Gross Operating  [$8,522 $8,432 $5,153 $5,257 2.02%
Revenue/Utilization Data)
Deduction from Revenue (Total ($6,269 $6,196 $3,430 $3,102 -9.55%
Deductions/Utilization Data)
Average Net Charge (Net $2,253 $2,236 $1,724 $2,155 25.03%
Operating Revenue/Utilization
Data)

Total Facility Chart Not Applicable
Previous Most Year One Year Two % Change
Year to Most | Recent Year___ | Year (Current Year
Recent Year | Year to Year 2)
Year Year

arge (Gross Operating
Revenue/Ulilization Data)
Deduction from Revenue (Total
Deductions/Utilization Data)
Average Net Charge (Net
Operating Revenue/Utilization
Data)

B. Provide the proposed charges for the project and discuss any adjustment to current charges
that will result from the implementation of the proposal. Additionally, describe the anticipated
revenue from the project and the impact on existing patient charges.

RESPONSE: Below is a sample of charges for the Jackson Madison Surgery Center. Also
provided are the Medicare rates, and for comparison purposes, the average hospital rate and
variance. Charges at the proposed Jackson Madison Surgery Center are much less than
corresponding hospital rate, and such cost savings are a key rationale for pursuing this project.
Such cost savings cannot be achieved with a hospital-based ASTC. Year One gross operating
revenue is projected $18,990,280 and net operating revenue, $6,351,658. Year Two gross
operating revenue is expected to be $29,657,022 with net operating revenue being $12,157,203.

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 39



Case Category

CPT
Code

ASC Charge Sample by Specialty

CPT Description

ASC
Charge

2020
Medicare
ASC Rate

Average
Hospital
Charge

Charge
Variance
to
Hospital

General Surgery

General Surgery

Gynecology

Gynecology

Ophthaimology

Ophthalmology
Otolaryngology

Otolaryngology

Pain Managemen

Pain Managemen-

Plastics

Plastics

Spine

Spine

Urology

Urology

438505

19125

58563

57522

66984

66982

31267

31256

62350

64430

11624

11642

22554

63030

52234

57288
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Repairinitial inguinal hernia, age 5 years orolder;
reducible ;

Excision of breast lesion identified by preoperative
placement of radiological marker, open; single lesion
Hysteroscopy, surgical; with endometrial ablation (eg,
endometrial resection, electrosurgical ablation,
thermoablation)

Conization of cervix, with or without fulguration, with or
without dilation and curettage, with or without repair; loop
electrode excision

Extracapsularcataractremoval with insertion of intraocular
lens prosthesis (1 stage procedure), manual or mechanical
technique (eg, irrigation and aspiration or
phacoemulsification); without endoscopic
cyclophotocoagulation

Extracapsularcataract removal with insertion of intraocular
lens prosthesis (1-stage procedure), manual or mechanical
technique (eg, irrigation and aspiration or
phacoemulsification), complex, requiring devices or
techniques notgenerallyused in routine cataract surgery
(eg, iris expansion device, suture support forintraocular
lens, or primary posterior capsulorrhexis) or performed on
patients in the amblyogenic developmental stage; without
endoscopic cyclophotocoagulation

Nasal/sinus endoscopy, surgical, with maxillary
antrostomy; with removal of tissue from maxillarysinus
Nasal/sinus endoscopy, surgical, with maxillary
antrostomy;

Implantation, revision orrepositioning of tunneled
intrathecal or epidural catheter, forlong-term medication
administration via an external pump orimplantable
reservoir/infusion pump; without laminectomy

Injection(s), anesthetic agent{s) and/or steroid; pudendal
nerve

Excision, malignantlesion including margins, scalp, neck,
hands, feet, genitalia; excised diameter 3.1to 4.0 cm

Excision, malignantlesion including margins, face, ears,
eyelids, nose, lips; excised diameter 1.1to 2.0 cm
Arthrodesis, anteriorinterbody technique, including
minimal discectomy to prepare interspace {other than for
decompression); cervical below C2

Laminotomy (hemilaminectomy), with decompression of
nerve root(s), including partial facetectomy, foraminotomy
and/or excision of herniated intervertebral disc; 1
interspace, lumbar

Cystourethroscopy, with fulguration (including cryosurgery
orlasersurgery) and/orresection of; SMALL bladder
tumor(s) (0.5 up to 2.0 cm)

Sling operation for stress incontinence (eg, fascia or
synthetic)

40

$ 3,957

$ 2,966

$ 4,957

$ 3,549

$ 2,462

$ 2,462
S 5,447

$ 2,828

$ 6,917

$ 997

$ 1,529

$ 455

$20,561

$ 8,054

$ 3,652

$ 6,827

$1,377.21

$1,118.44

$1,816.36

$1,235.31

$1,012.72

$1,012.72
$1,895.89

$1,237.71

$2,897.99

$ 410.32

$ 576.39

$ 171.43

$8,427.02

$2,803.36

$1,376.97

$2,451.77

$ 11,095

$11,924

$ 9,566

$ 8,357

$ 5,683

S 6,401
$ 20,608

$19,317

$ 36,307

$ 4,443

$12,803

$12,165

$ 22,553

$17,841

$ 9,485

$ 13,787

S (7,138)

$ (8,958)

S (4,609)

$ (4,808)

S (3,221)

$ (3,939)
S (15,161)

$ (16,489)

$ (29,390)

S (3,446)

S (11,274)

$ (11,710)

S (1,992)

$ (9,787)

$ (5,833

$ (6,960)



C. Compare the proposed charges to those of similar facilities/services in the service
area/adjoining service areas, or to proposed charges of recently approved Certificates of
Need. If applicable, compare the proposed charges of the project to the current Medicare
allowable fee schedule by common procedure terminology (CPT) code(s).

RESPONSE: The service area has six ambulatory surgery treatment centers. Two are multi
specialty. According to the Joint Annual reports, 2019, average charges are as follows

Physicians Surgery Center
Gross Average Charge $9,663
Net Average Charge  $1,921

Union City Surgery Center
Gross Average Charge $12,949
Net Average Charge $ 3,186

6. A. Discuss how projected utilization rates will be sufficient to support financial performance.

1) Noting when the project’s financial breakeven is expected, and

RESPONSE: The Applicant conservatively estimate surgery cases during 2022 (3,685) as
operations are transitioned from a hospital-based facility to a freestanding facility. Surgery
cases during 2022 (3,685) are expected to be to be 50 percent of Full Capacity. This is
because the Jackson Madison Surgery Center will have new electronic medical record, new
administration, new management company, new policies and procedures, and the like. The
2023 surgery cases (5,641) is anticipated to be 75 percent of Full Capacity. Near full capacity
(7,670) will be reached by the third year of operation. The project will cash flow year two
($1,034,702) and will have a positive net income in year three ($1,161,797).

2) Demonstrating the availability of sufficient cash flow until financial viability is achieved.

Provide copies of the balance sheet and income statement from the most recent
reporting period of the institution and the most recent audited financial statements with
accompanying notes, if applicable. For all projects, provide financial information for the
corporation, partnership, or principal parties that will be a source of funding for the
project. Copies must be inserted at the end of the application, in the correct alpha-
numeric order and labeled as Attachment Section B-Economic Feasibility-6A

RESPONSE: This is a new project and new ownership company and, thus, does not
have historical information available. Alternatively, the West Tennessee Healthcare
and Related Affiliates Financial Statements and Supplementary Information Years
Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 are provided as Attachment Section B-Economic
Feasibility-6A.

B. Net Operating Margin Ratio: The Net Operating Margin Radio demonstrates how much
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revenue is left over after all the variable or operating costs have been paid. The formula for
this ratio is: (Earnings before interest, Taxes, and Depreciation/Net Operating Revenue).

Utilizing information from the Historical and Projected Data Charts please report the net
operating margin ratio trends in the following tables. Complete Project Only Chart and Total
Facility Chart, if applicable.

Project Only Chart
2nd Previous | 1st Previous , .
Year to Most | Year to Most Most Recent Projected Projected
Year Year Year 1 Year 2
Recent Year | Recent Year | v . & 01 Year Year Fy2023
Year Fy2019 | YearFy2020 Fv2022 -
Net 23.78 19.99 22.04 -30.14 8.51
Operating
Margin Ratio
Total Facility Chart Not Applicable
2nd Previous | 1st Previous . .
Year to Most | Year to Most Most Recent Projected Projected
Year Year Year 1 Year 2
Recent Year Recent Year Y Y Y
Year Year ear____ ear__ ear
Net
Operating
Margin Ratio

Capitalization Ratio: The Long-term debt to capitalization ratio measures the proportion of debt
financing in a business’s permanent (long-term) financing mix. This ratio best measures a
business’s true capital structure because it is not affected by short-term financing decisions.
The formula for this ratio is: ((Long-Term Debt)/Long-Term Debt + Total Equity

{Net Assets}) X 100.

RESPONSE: Not applicable given that no debt will be used to implement this project.

For self or parent company funded projects, provide the capitalization ratio using the most

recent year available from the funding entity’'s audited balance sheet, if applicable.

Capitalization Ratios are not expected from outside the company lenders that provide funding.
his question is appli icati yhether or ng i

e 1O all dPP d eriinel e

7. Discuss the project’s participation in state and federal revenue programs, including a description
of the extent to which Medicare, TennCare/Medicaid and medically indigent patients will be served
by the project. Report the estimated gross operating revenue dollar amount and percentage of
projected gross operating revenue anticipated by payor classification for the first year of the project
by completing the table below. Complete Project Only Chart and Total Facility Chart, if applicable.
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Applicant’s Projected Payor Mix, Year 1

Project Only Chart
Payor Source Projected Gross As a % of total
Operating Revenue

Medicare/Medicare Managed Care $ 6,720,220.98 35.39%
TennCare/Medicaid $ 2,505,295.20 13.19%
Commercial/Other Managed Care $ 9,303,389.21 48.99%
Self-Pay S 461,374.61 2.43%

Other (Specify)

Total* $18,990,280.00 100.00%

Charity Care 3 379.805.60

*Needs to match Gross Operating Revenue Year One on Projected Data Chart

Applicant’s Projected Payor Mix, Year 1
Total Facility Chart Not Applicable

Payor Source

Projected Gross
Operating Revenue

As a % of total

Medicare/Medicare Managed Care

TennCare/Medicaid

Commercial/Other Managed Care

Self-Pay

Other (Specify)

Total*

Charity Care

*Needs to match Gross Operating Revenue Year One on Projected Data Chart

8. Provide the projected staffing for the project in Year 1 and compare to the current staffing for the
most recent 12-month period, as appropriate. This can be reported using full-time equivalent
(FTEs) positions for these positions. Identify projected salary amounts by position classifications
and compare the clinical staff salaries to prevailing wage patterns in the proposed service area
as published by the Department of Labor & Workforce Development and/or other documented
sources, such as the US Department of Labor. Wage data pertaining to healthcare professions
can be found at the following link:
hitps://iwww.bls.qov/oes/current/oes tn.him.

Position Existing Projected | Average Wage . Area _
Classification FTEs FTEs (Contractual Wide/Statewide
(enter year) Year 1 Rate) Average Wage
A. Direct Patient Care S o o
Positions o .
Registered Nurse 15.0 $22.83-834.12 $22.99-$33.66
Surgical Technician 4.5 $11.15-815.61 $10.38-$18.59
Clinical Manager 3.0 $28.74-$42.71 $28.15-$59.54
Total Direct Patient 22.5
Care Positions
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B. Non-Patient Care o
Positions G
Administrator 1.0 $57.22-$85.83 $66.53-$90.00
Business Office Manager 1.0 $12.53-$17.54 $13.74-$20.19
Billing 2.0 $12.53-$17.54 $13.74-$20.19
Schedulers 1.5 $11.82-$16.55 $12.16-$20.53
Receptionists 2.0 $11.00-$14.68 $9.93-$15.50
Financial Counselor 1.0 $12.53-$17.54 $13.74-820.19
Sterile Processing 3.0 $11.15-$15.61 $10.38-518.59
Other Support Staff 2.0 $12.53-$17.54 $13.74-$20.19
Materials Manager 1.0 $33.53-348.63 $30.28-$62.44
Total Non-Patient 14.5
Care Positions
Total Employees 37.0
(A+B)
C. Contractual Staff
Total Staff 37.0
(A+B+C)

9. What alternatives to this project were considered? Discuss the advantages and disadvantages of
each, including but not limited to:

A. The availability of less costly, more effective and/or more efficient methods of providing the
benefits intended by the project. If development of such alternatives is not practicable, justify
why not, including reasons as to why they were rejected.

RESPONSE: The alternative to this project was to maintain the status quo with the West
Tennessee Surgery Center remaining a hospital provider based outpatient surgery center. The
status quo is not desirable, as the regulatory requirements for such facilities do not allow for
flexibility in ownership and management structures that can achieve the improvements in patient
care and cost savings that are desired. The proposed project allows for a partnership with
physicians and a lower charge structure for patients.

B. Document that consideration has been given to alternatives to new construction, eg.,
modernization or sharing arrangements.

RESPONSE: Not Applicable, no new construction in this project.
QUALITY STANDARDS
1. Per PC 1043, Acts of 2016, any receiving a CON after July 1, 2016 must report annually using

forms prescribed by the Agency concerning continued need and appropriate quality measures
Please verify that annual reporting will occur.
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RESPONSE: The Applicant will report annually using forms prescribed by the Agency
concerning need and appropriate quality measures.

2. Quality-The the proposal shall provide health care that meets appropriate quality standards.
Please address each of the following questions:

A. Does the applicant commit to the following?
1) Maintaining the staffing comparable to the staffing chart presented in its CON application;

RESPONSE: The Applicant will maintain staffing comparable to the chart in this CON
application.

2) Obtaining and maintaining all applicable state licenses in good standing;
RESPONSE: The Applicant will maintain all state licenses in good standing.

3) Obtain and maintaining TennCare and Medicare certification(s), if participation in such
programs was indicated in the application;

RESPONSE: The Applicant will obtain and maintain all TennCare and Medicare
certifications as indicated in this application.

4) For an existing healthcare institution applying for a CON - Has it maintained substantial
compliance with applicable federal and state regulation for the three years prior to the
CON application. In the event of non-compliance, the nature of non-compliance and
corrective action should be discussed to include any of the following: suspension of
admissions, civil monetary penalties, notice of 23-day or 90-day termination proceedings
from Medicare/Medicaid/TennCare, revocation/denial of accreditation, or other similar
actions and what measures the applicant has or will put into place to avoid similar
findings in the future

RESPONSE: Not Applicable this is a new heaithcare institution.

5) For an existing healthcare institution applying for a CON - Has the entity been decertified
within the prior three years? If yes, please explain in detail. (This provision shall not apply
if a new, unrelated owner applies for a CON related to a previously decertified facility)

RESPONSE: Not applicable. This is a new healthcare institution. The existing West
Tennessee Surgery Center facility has been certified continuously during the last three
years.

B. Respond to all of the following and for such occurrences, identify, explain and provide
documentation:
1) Has any of the following:

a. Any person(s) or entity with more than 5% ownership (direct or indirect) in the
applicant (to include any entity in the chain of ownership for applicant);
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b. Any entity in which any person(s) or entity with more than 5% ownership (direct or
indirect) in the applicant (to include any entity in the chain of ownership for applicant)
has an ownership interest of more than 5%; and/or

c. Any physician or other provider of health care, or administrator employed by any
entity in which any person(s) or entity with more than 5% ownership in the applicant
(to include any entity in the chain of ownership for applicant) has an ownership
interest of more than 5%.

2) Been subjected to any of the following:

a. Final Order or Judgment in a state licensure action;
RESPONSE: No

b. Criminal fines in cases involving a Federal or State health care offense;
RESPONSE: No

c. Civil monetary penalties in cases involving a Federal or State health care offense;
RESPONSE: No

d. Administrative monetary penalties in cases involving a Federal or State health care
offense;
RESPONSE: No

e. Agreement to pay civil or administrative monetary penaities to the federal government or

any state in cases involving claims related to the provision of health care items and
services; and/or

RESPONSE: No

f. Suspension or termination of participation in Medicare or Medicaid/TennCare
programs.

RESPONSE: No

g. Is presently subject of/to an investigation, regulatory action, or party in any civil or
criminal action of which you are aware.

RESPONSE: No
h. Is presently subject to a corporate integrity agreement.
RESPONSE: No

C. Does the applicant plan, within 2 years of implementation of the project, to participate in self-
assessment and external assessment against nationally available benchmark data to
accurately assess its level of performance in relation to established standards and to
implement ways to continuously improve?
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Note: Existing licensed, accredited and/or certified providers are encouraged to describe
their process for same.

RESPONSE: The Applicant will participate in self-assessment and external
assessment against nationally available benchmark data to measure its level of
performance in relation to established standards.

Please complete the chart below on accreditation, certification, and licensure plans.

1) If the applicant does not plan to participate in these type of assessments, explain why
since quality healthcare must be demonstrated.

RESPONSE: The Applicant will participate in these types of assessments.

Credential Agency Status (Active or Will
Apply)
X Health Will Apply
Licensure o Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities

o0 Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services

XMedicare Will Apply
Certification X Medicaid/TennCare

o Other
Accreditation American Association for Accreditation of Ambulatory Surgery [Will Apply

Facilities (AAASF)

2) Based upon what was checked/completed in above table, will the applicant accepta
condition placed on the certificate of need relating to obtaining/maintaining license,
certification, and/or accreditation?

RESPONSE: The Applicant will obtain licensing, certification, and accreditation as
completed in the above table.

D. The following list of quality measures are service specific. Please indicate which standards
you will be addressing in the annual Continuing Need and Quality Measure report if the
project is approved.

For Ambulatory Surgical Treatment Center projects: Estimating the number of physicians by
specialty expected to utilize the facility, developing criteria to be used by the facility in extending
surgical and anesthesia privileges to medical personnel, and documenting the availability of
appropriate and qualified staff that will provide ancillary support services, whether on- or off-site?

RESPONSE: This quality indicator will be measured.
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For Cardiac Catheterization projects: Not Applicable

a. Documenting a plan to monitor the quality of its cardiac catheterization program, including
but not limited to, program outcomes and efficiencies; and

b. Describing how the applicant will agree to cooperate with quality enhancement efforts
sponsored or endorsed by the State of Tennessee; and

c. Describing how cardiology staff will be maintaining:

d. Adult Program: 75 cases annually averaged over the previous 5 years;

e. Pediatric Program: 50 cases annually averaged over the previous 5 years.

For Open Heart projects: Not Applicable

f.  Describing how the applicant will staff and maintain the number of who will perform the
volume of cases consistent with the State Health Plan (annual average of the previous 2
years), and maintain this volume in the future:

g. Describing how at least a surgeon will be recruited and retained (at least one shall have 5
years experience);

h.  Describing how the applicant will participate in a data reporting, quality improvement,
outcome monitoring, and external assessment system that benchmarks outcomes based on
national norms (demonstrated active participation in the STS National Database is expected
and shall be considered evidence of meeting this standard).

For Comprehensive Inpatient Rehabilitation Services projects: Retaining or recruiting a
physiatrist? Not Applicable

For Home Health projects: Documenting the existing or proposed plan for quality data reporting,
quality improvement, and an outcome and process monitoring system. Not Applicable

For Hospice projects: Documenting the existing or proposed plan for quality data reporting,
quality improvement, and an outcome and process monitoring system. Not Applicable

o 0o o O

For Megavoltage Radiation Therapy projects: Describing or demonstrating how the staffing and
quality assurance requirements will be met of the American Society of Therapeutic Radiation and
Oncology (ASTRO), the American College of Radiology (ACR), the American College of
Radiation Oncology (ACRO), National Cancer Institute (NCI), or a similar accrediting authority.N/A

For Neonatal Intensive Care Unit projects: Documenting the existing or proposed plan for data
reporting, quality improvement, and outcome and process monitoring systems; document the
intention and ability to comply with the staffing guidelines and qualifications set forth by the
Tennessee Perinatal Care System Guidelines for Regionalization, Hospital Care Levels, Staffing

and Facilities; and participating in the Tennessee Initiative for Perinatal Quality Care (TIPQC). N/A

For Nursing Home projects: Documenting the existing or proposed plan for data reporting,
quality improvement, and outcome and process monitoring systems, including in particular
details on its Quality Assurance and Performance Improvement program. Not Applicable

For Inpatient Psychiatric projects: Not Applicable

e Describing or demonstrating appropriate accommodations for:

» Seclusion/restraint of patients who present management problems and children who need
quiet space, proper sleeping and bathing arrangements for all patients);
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¢ Proper sleeping and bathing arrangements;

» Adequate staffing (i.e. that each unit will be staffed with at least two direct patient care staff,
one of which shall be a nurse, at all times);

« A staffing plan that will lead to quality care of the patient population served by the project.

e An existing or proposed plan for data reporting, quality improvement, and outcome and
process monitoring systems; and

» [f other psychiatric facilities are owned or administered, providing information on satisfactory
surveys and quality improvement programs at those facilities.

Involuntary admissions if identified in CON criteria and standard review

O For Freestanding Emergency Department projects: Demonstrating that it will be accredited with
the Joint Commission or other applicable accrediting agency, subject to the same accrediting
standards as the licensed hospital with which it is associated. Not Applicable

0 For Organ Transplant projects: Describing how the applicant will achieve and maintain institutional
membership in the national Organ Procurement and Transportation Network (OPTN), currently
operating as the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS), within one year of program initiation.
Describing how the applicant shall comply with CMS regulations set forth by 42 CFR Parts 405,
482, and 498, Medicare Program; Hospital Conditions of Participation: Requirements

for Approval and Re-Approval of Transplant Centers To Perform Organ Transplants. N/A

O For Relocation and/or Replacement of Health Care Institution projects: Describing how facility
and/or services specific measures will be met. Not Applicable

CONTRIBUTION TO THE ORDERLY DEVELOPMENT OF HEALTH CARE

The responses to this section of the application helps determine whether the project will
contribute to the orderly development of healthcare within the service area.

1. List all existing health care providers (i.e., hospitals, nursing homes, home care organizations,
etc.), managed care organizations, alliances, and/or networks with which the applicant currently
has or plans to have contractual and/or working relationships, that may directly or indirectly apply
to the project, such as, transfer agreements, contractual agreements for health services.

RESPONSE: The Applicant will have a transfer agreement with Jackson-Madison County General
Hospital.

2. Describe the effects of competition and/or duplication of the proposal on the health care system,
including the impact to consumers and existing providers in the service area. Discuss any
instances of competition and/or duplication arising from your proposal including a description of
the effect the proposal will have on the utilization rates of existing providers in the service area of
the project.

A. Positive Effects

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 49




RESPONSE: The positive effect is an easily accessible multi-specialty surgery center to provide
care for residents throughout 18 counties in rural West Tennessee that is able to offer a
comprehensive array of outpatient surgery services at a lower cost than is possible at the
existing facility.

B. Negative Effects

RESPONSE: This certificate of need is to convert a hospital-based outpatient surgery center to
an ambulatory surgical treatment center the will continue to serve residents of rural West
Tennessee at a lower cost.

3. A. Discuss the availability of and accessibility to human resources required by the proposal,
including clinical leadership and adequate professional staff, as per the State of Tennessee
licensing requirements, CMS, and/or accrediting agencies requirements, such as the Joint
Commission and Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities.

RESPONSE: The Applicant will have available and accessible staff, clinical leadership, and
professional staff to meet State of Tennessee licensing requirements and accreditation
standards.

B. Document the category of license/certification that is applicable to the project and why. These
include, without limitation, regulations concerning clinical leadership, physician supervision,
quality assurance policies and programs, utilization review policies and programs, record
keeping, clinical staffing requirements, and staff education.

RESPONSE: The Applicant will submit licensure for an ambulatory surgical treatment center
with the State of Tennessee Department of Health.

C. Discuss the applicant’s participation in the training of students in the areas of medicine,
nursing, social work, etc. (e.g., internships, residencies, etc.).
RESPONSE: This is an application for a new facility that will work with area colleges and
universities for clinical training: the University of Memphis Lambuth, Union University,
University of Tennessee at Martin, Jackson State Community College, Dyersburg State
Community College, and others.

4. Outstanding Projects:

RESPONSE: No outstanding projects.

A. Complete the following chart by entering information for each applicable outstanding CON by
applicant or share common ownership; and

. ling Proi
*Annual Progress Report(s) e
. Date Expiration

CON Number | Project Name Approved | Due Date Date Filed Date

None
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* Annual Progress Reports — HSDA Rules require that an Annual Progress Report (APR) be submitted each year. The APR is due
annually until the Final Project Report (FPR) is submitted (FPR is due within 90 ninety days of the completion and/or

implementation of the project). Brief progress status updates are requested as needed. The project remains outstanding until
the FPR is received.

B. Describe the current progress, and status of each applicable outstanding CON.

Not Applicable

Equipment Registry — For the applicant and all entities in common ownership with the applicant.

C. Do you own, lease, operate, and/or contract with a mobile vendor for a Computed Tomography

scanner (CT), Linear Accelerator, Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI), and/or Positron
Emission Tomographer (PET)? Yes

D. If yes, have you submitted their registration to HSDA? If you have, what was the date of
submission?_Yes, February 12, 2020

E. If yes, have you submitted your utilization to Health Services and Development Agency? If
you have, what was the date of submission? _Yes, February 12, 2020

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 51




SECTION C: STATE HEALTH PLAN QUESTIONS

T.C.A. §68-11-1625 requires the Tennessee Department of Health's Division of Health Planning to
develop and annually update the State Health Plan (found at hitps://www.tn.gov/health/health-program-
areas/health-planning/state-health-plan.html) The State Health Plan guides the State in the development
of health care programs and policies and in the allocation of health care resources in the State, including
the Certificate of Need program. The 5 Principles for Achieving Better Health are from the State Health
Plan’s framework and inform the Certificate of Need program and its standards and criteria.

Discuss how the proposed project will relate to the 5 Principles for Achieving Better Health found in the
State Health Plan.

1. The purpose of the State Health Plan is to improve the health of Tennesseans.

RESPONSE: The proposed multi-specialty ambulatory surgical treatment center will provide high
quality compassionate care for residents of rural West Tennessee. Services will improve the health of
residents in medically unreserved areas.

2. Every citizen should have reasonable access to health care.

RESPONSE: The Jackson Madison Surgery Center will participate in Medicare, all TennCare MCOs,
and many other heaith plans to reach as many citizens as possible.

3. The state’s health care resources should be developed to address the needs of Tennesseans while
encouraging competitive markets, economic efficiencies and the continued development of the
state’s health care system.

RESPONSE: The Jackson Madison Surgery Center will provide economic efficiencies and quality
care in efforts to address the state’s health plan.

4. Every citizen should have confidence that the quality of health care is continually monitored and
standards are adhered to by health care providers.

RESPONSE: Through licensure, accreditation, and voluntary participation in healthcare comparable
databases, citizens will have confidence in the quality of care through continuous monitoring.

5. The state should support the development, recruitment, and retention of a sufficient and quality
health care workforce.

RESPONSE: The Applicant will have sufficient, quality workforce to provide patient care. The
Applicant will participate in area student training to ensure the development and continued
recruitment of a quality workforce.
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PROOF OF PUBLICATION

Attach the full page of the newspaper in which the notice of intent appeared with the mast and
dateline intact or submit a publication affidavit from the newspaper that includes a copy of the
publication as proof of the publication of the letter of intent.

Date L.Ol was Submitted:
July 10, 2020
Date LOI was Published:
July 10, 2020
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NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS

1. T.C.A. §68-11-1607(c)(9)(A) states that “...Within ten (10) days of the filing of an application for a
nonresidential substitution-based treatment center for opiate addiction with the agency, the
applicant shall send a notice to the county mayor of the county in which the facility is proposed to be
located, the state representative and senator representing the house district and senate district in
which the facility is proposed to be located, and to the mayor of the municipality, if the facility is
proposed to be located within the corporate boundaries of a municipality, by certified mail, return
receipt requested, informing such officials that an application for a nonresidential substitution-based
treatment center for opiate addiction has been filed with the agency by the applicant.”

2. T.C.A §68-11-1607(c)(9)(B) states that “... If an application involves a healthcare facility in which a
county or municipality is the lessor of the facility or real property on which it sits, then within ten (10)
days of filing the application, the applicant shall notify the chief executive officer of the county or
municipality of the filing, by certified mail, return receipt requested.”

Failure to provide the notifications described above within the required statutory timeframe will
result in the voiding of the CON application.

Please provide documentation of these notifications.

DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE

T.C.A. §68-11-1609(c) provides that a Certificate of Need is valid for a period not to exceed three
(3) years (for hospital projects) or two (2) years (for all other projects) from the date of its issuance
and after such time shall expire; provided, that the Agency may, in granting the Certificate of
Need, allow longer periods of validity for Certificates of Need for good cause shown. Subsequent
to granting the Certificate of Need, the Agency may extend a Certificate of Need for a period upon
application and good cause shown, accompanied by a non-refundable reasonable filing fee, as
prescribed by rule. A Certificate of Need which has been extended shall expire at the end of the
extended time period. The decision whether to grant such an extension is within the sole
discretion of the Agency, and is not subject to review, reconsideration, or appeal.

1. Complete the Project Completion Forecast Chart on the next page. If the project will be
completed in multiple phases, please identify the anticipated completion date for each phase.

2. If the CON is granted and the project cannot be completed within the standard completion
time period (3 years for hospital projects and 2 years for all others), please document why an
extended period should be approved and document the “good cause” for such an extension.

RESPONSE: The West Tennessee Healthcare North Hospital is being renovated to increase the surgery
capacity. These renovations are anticipated to be completed by September 2021. At this time the former
West Tennessee Surgery Center located at 700 West Forest Avenue will close and surgery volumes moved
temporarily to the West Tennessee Healthcare North Hospital. During closure the Jackson Madison Surgery
Center will complete licensure as an ambulatory surgical treatment center with the State of Tennessee
Department of Health. Anticipated date of first service is December 1, 2021.
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PROJECT COMPLETION FORECAST CHART

Assuming the Certificate of Need (CON) approval becomes the final HSDA action on the date
listed in Item 1. below, indicate the number of days from the HSDA decision date to each phase
of the completion forecast.

Phase

1. Initial HSDA decision date

2. Architectural and engineering contract signed

3. Construction documents approved by the Tennessee
Department of Health

4. Construction contract signed

5. Building permit secured

6. Site preparation completed

7. Building construction commenced

8. Construction 40% complete

9. Construction 80% complete

10. Construction 100% complete (approved for occupancy)

368 November 1, 2021
11. *Issuance of License

30 December 1, 2021
12. *Issuance of Service
13. Final Architectural Certification of Payment

31 January 1, 2022

14. Final Project Report Form submitted (Form HR0055)

*For projects that DO NOT involve construction or renovation, complete ltems 11 & 12 only.

NOTE: If litigation occurs, the completion forecast will be adjusted at the time of the
final determination to reflect the actual issue date
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STATE OF Tennessee

COUNTY OF Madison

I, Victoria S. Lake , being first duly sworn, says that he/she is the

applicant named in this application or his/her/its lawful agent, that this project will be completed in
accordance with the application, that the applicant has read the directions to this application, the
Rules of the Health Services and Development Agency, and T.C.A. §68-11-1601, ef seq., and that
the responses to this application or any other questions deemed appropriate by the Health

Services and Development Agency are true and complete.

Direch

SIGR ATURETTITLE
Cmmuni A Yot ligmad

Sworn to and subscribed before me this §§ ) _day of Si}im __IALD g Notary

{Month) (Year) e tii182g,

son Cowntn, TN

Public in and for the County/State of

NOTARY PUBLIC

My commission expires o4 % 24 2N

(Month7Day) (Year)
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State of Tennessee =

Health Services and Development Agency

Andrew Jackson Building, 9" Floor

502 Deaderick Street

Nashville, TN 37243

www.tn.dov/ihsda  Phone: 615-741-2364 Fax: 615-741-9884

LETTER OF INTENT

The Publication of Intent is to be published in the The Jackson Sun_which is a newspaper
(Name of Newspaper)
of general circulation in_Madison, on or before July 10 . 2020
(County) (Month/ day) (Year)

for one day.

-——-——--—--—--_-—-____—--—————_—--—---———-——_----_—_—-—--—--———————_--_--_—_-—-_—_-_____----———-_—-————-
——-——-"-_--—--un——_-—-"————un-————-u—-—-—--“-————-—-u"-——————-u"-—_——-u"_—-—_--————"-————-

This is to provide official notice to the Health Services and Development Agency and all interested parties, in
ahccordance with T.C.A. § 68-11-1601 et seq., and the Rules of the Health Services and Development Agency,
that:

Jackson Madison Surgery Center an ambulatory surgical treatment center
(Name of Applicant) (Facility Type-Existing})

Owned and managed by:_Jackson Madison Surgery Center LLC intends to file an application for a Certificate of
Need _to establish a new multi specialty ambulatory surgical treatment center with surgical rooms (operating

rooms) in the former location of the West Tennessee Surgery Center, a hospital based outpatient surgery
center located at 700 West Forest Avenue, Jackson, Tennessee 38301. The new facility, which will occupy
31,543 square feet, will be licensed as an ambulatory surgical treatment center by the Tennessee Board for
Licensing Health Care Facilities. The total project costs are $19.939,873. The project does not include any
new major medical equipment or any additional health services.

The anticipated date of filing the application is: July 15 , 20 20
The contact person for this project is Victoria S. Lake Director Community
(Contact Name) Development  (Title)
who may be reached at:_West Tennessee Healthcare 620 Skyline Drive
{Company Name) (Address)
Jackson TN 38301 (731) 984-2160
. (State) (Zip Code) (Area Code / Phone Number)

i) o

i ﬁ vicki.lake@wth.org
(Signature) (E-mail Address)

—--——---————--—_————___—__—-_-—_-————-_———_————--————-—_—-_-—_——-—_—-——_——_——_——-——_-—-_------_-——-—-——-
———-——-u"——-—————-_—-u"-—————-——————u"u————————————-——-uu-————————--—_————-—u—————u-

The Letter of Intent must be filed in friplicate and received between the first and the tenth day of the month. If the
last day for filing is a Saturday, Sunday or State Holiday, filing must occur on the preceding business day. File
this form at the followingaddress:
Health Services and Development Agency
Andrew Jackson Building, 9% Floor
502 Deaderick Street
Nashville, Tennessee 37243

w-m-w-m;w.m -.w-m-.w-w-m-w—m-w-mnw.m.w-m.w-m-w-m-'

The published Letter of Intent must contain the following statement pursuant to T.C.A. § 68-1 1-1607(c)(1). {A) Any health
care institution wishing to oppose a Certificate of Need application must file a written notice with the Health Services and
Development Agency no later than fifteen (15) days before the regularly scheduled Health Services and Development
Agency meeting at which the application is originally scheduled; and (B) Any other person wishing to oppose the
application must file written objection with the Health Services and Development Agency at or prior to the consideration of
the application by the Agency. :



State of Tennessee

Health Services and Development Agency

Andrew Jackson Building, 9" Floor

502 Deaderick Street

Nashville, TN 37243

www.tn.gov/ihsda Phone: 615-741-2364 Fax: 615-741-9884

PUBLICATION OF INTENT

The following shall be published in the "Legal Notices" section of the newspaper in a space
no smaller than two (2) columns b inches.

Wl TSR B LA A TR TR A NI ST S TR AL A TR -A)w.m-w "L‘wg“z TR B TR WS A B BLPSIPUIT L A LA

NOTIFICATION OF INTENT TO APPLY FOR A CERTIFICATE OF NEED

This is to provide official notice to the Health Services and Development Agency and all interested parties, in
accordance with T.C.A. § 68-11-1601 et seq., and the Rules of the Health Services and Development Agency,
that:

Jackson Madison Surgery Center an ambulatory surgical treatment center
(Name of Applicant) (Facility Type-Existing}

Owned and managed by: Jackson Madison Surgery Center LLC intends to file an application for a Certificate of
Need to establish a new multi specialty ambulatory surgical treatment center with surgical rooms (operating

rooms) in the former location of the West Tennessee Surgery Center, a hospital based outpatient surgery

center located at 700 West Forest Avenue, Jackson, Tennessee 38301. The new facility, which will occupy

31,543 square feet, will be licensed as an ambulatory surgical treatment center by the Tennessee Board for
Licensing Health Care Facilities. The total project costs are $19,939.873. The project does not include any
new major medical equipment or any additional health services.

The anticipated date of filing the application is:_July 15 , 20 20
The contact person for this projectis Victoria S. Lake Director Community
(Contact Name) Development  (Title)
who may be reached at: West Tennessee Healthcare 620 Skyline Drive
(Company Name) (Address)
Jackson TN 38301 (731) 984-2160
(City) (State) (Zip Code) (Area Code / Phone Number)

Upon written request by interested parties, a local Fact-Finding public hearing shall be conducted.
Written requests for hearing should be sent to:

Health Services and Development Agency
Andrew Jackson Building, 9 Floor
502 Deaderick Street
Nashville, Tennessee 37243

The published Letter of Intent must contain the following statement pursuant to T.C.A. § 68-11-1607(c)(1). (A) Any
health care institution wishing to oppose a Certificate of Need application must file a written notice with the
Health Services and Development Agency no later than fifteen (15) days before the regularly scheduled Health
Services and Development Agency meeting at which the application is originally scheduled; and (B) Any other
person wishing to oppose the application must file written objection with the Health Services and Development

HF50 (Revised 01/09/2013 — all forms prior to this date are obsolete)
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= = HEALTHCARE

July 13, 2020

Mr. Logan Grant

Executive Director

Tennessee Health Services and Development Agency
Andrew Jackson Building 9" Floor

502 Deaderick Street

Nashville, Tennessee 37243

RE: Request for Consent Calendar
Jackson Madison Surgery Center

Dear Mr. Grant;

Jackson Madison Surgery Center requests to be heard on the Consent Calendar at the appropriate
meeting of the Health Services and Development Agency. The application concerns the
conversion of an existing hospital-based outpatient facility to a freestanding ASTC facility that
will located at 700 West Forest Avenue Suite 100, Jackson, Tennessee 38301. The application
will not affect the current number of ASTC’s in the proposed service area and does not involve
the acquisition of any major medical equipment.

Let us know any questions you may have. I may be reached at (731) 984-2160 or
vicki.lake(@wth.org.

Sincerely,

Victoria S. Lake
Director, Community Development

cc: Mr. W. Brantley Phillips, Jr. Bass, Berry & Sims, PLC
Ms. Lauren M. Gaffney, Bass, Berry, & Sims, PLC
Mr. James Ross, West Tennessee Healthcare
Mr. Jeff Blankenship, West Tennessee Healthcare
Ms. Deann Thelen, West Tennessee Healthcare
Ms. Currie Higgs, West Tennessee Healthcare
Ms. Vanessa Patrick, West Tennessee Healthcare

m
620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, Tennessee (731) 541-5000 telephone (731) 541-6802 fax
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Division of Business Services
Department of State

State of Tennessee
312 Rosa L. Parks AVE, 6th FL
Nashville, TN 37243-1102

Tre Hargett
Secretary of State

Jackson Madison Surgery Center, LLC March 10, 2020
STE 100

700 W FOREST AVE
JACKSON, TN 38301-3940

Filing Acknowledgment
Please review the filing information below and notify our office immediately of any discrepancies.

SOS Control # : 001084903 Formation Locale: TENNESSEE
Filing Type: Limited Liability Company - Domestic Date Formed: 03/09/2020
Filing Date: 03/09/2020 2:32 PM Fiscal Year Close: 12
Status: Active Annual Report Due: 04/01/2021
Duration Term: Perpetual image # . B0808-4447
Managed By: Manager Managed
Business County: MADISON COUNTY

Document Receipt
Receipt#: 005353679 Filing Fee: $300.00
Payment-Check/MO - CAPITAL FILING SERVICE, INC , NASHVILLE, TN $300.00
Registered Agent Address: Principal Address:
JEFF BLANKENSHIP STE 100
STE 100 700 W FOREST AVE
700 W FOREST AVE JACKSON, TN 38301-3940

JACKSON, TN 38301-3940

Congratulations on the successful filing of your Articles of Organization for Jackson Madison Surgery Center,
LLC in the State of Tennessee which is effective on the date shown above. You must also file this document in the
office of the Register of Deeds in the county where the entity has its principal office if such principal office is in
Tennessee. Please visit the Tennessee Department of Revenue website (www.tn.gov/revenue) to determine your
online tax registration requirements. If you need to obtain a Certificate of Existence for this entity, you can request,
pay for, and receive it from our website.

You must file an Annual Report with this office on or before the Annual Report Due Date noted above and maintain a
Registered Office and Registered Agent. Failure to do so will subject the business to Administrative

Dissolution/Revocation.

Tre Hargett
Processed By: Rebecca Neally Secretary of State

Phone (615) 741-2286 * Fax (615) 741-7310 * Website: hitp://tnbear.tn.gov/

Book CH42 Page 884
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ARTICLES OF ORGANIZATION FILED
OF
JACKSON MADISON SURGERY CENTER, LLC

Pursuant to the provisions of § 48-249-106 er seq. of the Tennessee Revised Limited
Liability Company Act, as amended (the “Act”), the undersigned organizer hereby adopts the
following Articles of Organization of a limited liability company:

ARTICLE1

The name of the limited liability company is Jackson Madison Surgery Center, LLC (the
“Company”).

ARTICLE 11
The address of the initial registered office of the Company is 700 W. Forest Avenue,
Suite 100, Jackson, Madison County, Tennessee, 38301. The initial registered agent at that
office is Jeff Blankenship.
ARTICLE I
There is one (1) member who has agreed to form this Company.
ARTICLE IV
The Company will be manager-managed.

ARTICLE V

The address of the initial principal executive office of the Company is 700 W. Forest
Avenue, Suite 100, Jackson, Madison County, Tennessee, 38301.

ARTICLE VI

These Articles of Organization are effective upon filing with the Secretary of State.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, these Articles of Organization have been executed on this
9th day of March, 2020 by the undersigned.

Jeff Blankenshig! Organizer

27929653.1
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True Copy Certification

I, _Lucretia Albert_, do hereby make oalin that [ am a licensed attorney and/or the
custodian of the electronic version of the attached document tendered for registration
herewith and that this is a true and correct copy of the original document executed and

authenticated according to law.

L)VLC;XZA&47{Q;, /Ak{qufirqh‘

State of  Tennessee

County of ___Davidson

Signature

Personally appeared before me. __ Jennifer Thompson___, a notary public for this county
and state, _ Lucretia Albert___ who acknowledges that this certification of an electronic
document is true and correct and whose signature | have witnessed.

%otﬁ’s Signature Z ;

My Commission expires: 203/

Notary’s Seal (if on paper)

s,

\\\:\\O\J\ PS On

oy,

A - &,
Ry
B &y

Book CH42 Page 886

BK/PG:CH42/884-886
20002946

3_PGS _: CHARTER
MARIE RAY 202739 —=20002946

037/10/2020——t3+30 £
YALUE
MORTGAGE TAX 0,00
IEBNSFER TBX 0.00
RECORDING FEE 5.00
DP_FEE 2.900
BEGISTER'S FEE 0.00
TOLAL AMOUNT F 1)
STATE of TENNESSEE MADISON COUNTY
—ANGIE BYERS —

REGISTER OF DEEDS
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Medical Office Space Lease

(Term Sheet)
Lease Term: Leased Premises:
Start Date: January |, 2091 Buildimg's Name Mecdical Center Physicians Tower
Fnd Date: December 31, 2030 Address: 700 West Forest Ave.
Jackson, TN 38301

Titial Term: Ten (10) Years Space Leased: Suite 100 Sce Extubit D
Renewals: This Lease SHALL NOT awuto- Termmation Notice: This Lease may not be terminated

renew. Tenant may renew this lease without cause.

for two additional 10 years terms.
Square Footage: | 31,043 Rate per Square Foot: | $ 31.97
Name and Address of Tenant Landlord Name and Address
Jackson Madison Surgery Center, LL.C West Tennessce Healtheare, Inc,
700 W Forest Eve, Ste 100 620 Skyhine Dr.
Jackson, Tennessee 88301 Jackson, TN 38301

| Base Rent per month: $ 91,921.56 | FF&E Rent per month: $ 62,901.92 | Total Monthly Rent: § 154,823

l

Common Area FExpenses and Additional Rent: Is not included in the Total Monthly Rent above and will be in addition to
such amount.

Sublease: This Lease is a sublcase to an underlying lease agreement (“Master Lease”) by and hetween West Tennessee
Investors, LLC, as Primary Landlord, and Jackson-Madison County General Hospital District, as Primary Tenant. In
addition to the provisions of this Sublease Agreement, Jackson Madison Surgery Center, LLC agrees to be bound by all the
terms and conditions of the lease between and the Primary Landlord and Primary Tenant, except for the Ferm and the
Base Rental Rate. The Master Lease is attached to this Sublease Agreement for reference. The terms of the Master Lease
arc hereby incorporated into this Sublease Agreement. No representation that is not included here or in the Master Lease
shall be binding upon the Parties.

This Leasc is contingent upon the Jackson-Madison County General Hospital District Board of Trustecs approval and the
State of Tennessce approving the Certificate of Need.

Altached and tcorporated for all purposes are the following Exhibits, (o which reference is made for the balance of the
terms ol this Lease.

Exhibit A—*Fxpense Responsibility”

Exhibit B—"[.cased Furniture, Fixtures, and Fquipment”

Exhibit C—=*Medical Oflice Space Lease Standard Terms and Couditions”
Exhibit D—“¥Floor Plan”

Exhibit E—*Master Lease”

Tenant: Landlord:
Jackson Madison Surgery Center, LLC Jackson-Madison County General Hospital District

By: By: \waﬁ. Q@‘%/

\xgmcs Ross, CEOQ & President
3} By: 177 @4 A \71791; le s/
_Icﬂmmgf(ship Decann Thelen

By:

WTH - 2020 Medical Office Space Lease



Note: No handwrilten or interfineated changes will
averride the printed text of this document.

Medical Office Space Lease ~ WTH is Landlord

Exhibit A

Additional Expenses

Expense Responsibility Landlord' Tenant’ Changes
Ulities (Gas, Water, Flectricity) X Landlord will Invoice Tenant Monthly
Telecom (Internet, Phone) X Landlord will Invoice Tenant Monthly
Janitonial Services X Landlord will invoice Tenant Monthly
Waste Disposal X Landlord will invoice Tenant Monthly
Medical Waste Disposal (f applicable) X Landlord will invoice Tenant Monthly
Landscaping and Ground Maintenance X )

Property Taxes’ X
Property Insurance’ X
Minor Maintenance and Repair X Not to exceed $500.00 per Repair “Repair Cap”
Major Maintenance and Repair X

! Included in Lease Rate

2 Not-Included in Lease Rate

} Does not include personal property taxes
* Does not include personal property.

Page 2 ot 17




Note: No handwritten or inferlineated changes will
override the printed fext of this document.

Medical Office Space Lease ~ WTH is Landlord

Exhibit B

Leased Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment

List will be Attached

Page 3 of 17




Note: No handwritten or interineated changes will : Medical Office Space Lease - WTH is Landlord
override the printed text of this document,

EXHIBIT C
MEDICAL OFFICE SPACE LEASE STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

In consideration ol the mutual covenants and representations set forth in the Medical Office Space Lease
Term Sheet, Exhibit A, Exhibit B, and this Exhibit C (collectively, this "Lease”) and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt of which is acknowledged, the partics agree as follows. The capitalized terms used in this
Lxhibit € shall have the meaning assigned to such terms in the Term Sheet, unless another meaning 18 assigned o
such terms in this Exhibit C. In the event of contradictory language in this Exhibit C and the Term Sheet, the Term
Sheet language controls.

1. LEASED PREMISES. Landlord leases to Tenant, and Tenant leases from Landlord, under the terms and
condition of this Lease the Leased Premises.

2. RENT. Rent shall be due and payable in twelve (12) equal monthly installiments in advance on the first day
ol cach calendar month during the Lease Term, without notice or demand. The installment of Rent for any partial
month falling within the Term shall be prorated per diem. The parties agree that the rental rate is commercially
reasonable, fair market rental value of the Leased Premises. Tenant agrees to pay all Monthly Rental Installments
and sums provided to be paid by Tenant under this Lease at the times and in the manner provided in thus Lease.
Landlord shall notify Tenant, in writing, to change the address or to whom the Rental Payments arc sent. Il any
Monthly Rental Installment or any other amount owed by Tenant to Landlord is not paid within ten (10) days
following the due date, then Landlord may, in its sole discretion, mmpose on Tenant a late charge cqual (o One
Hundred Filty and No/100 Dollars ($150.00). Such late charge is to defray the administrative costs and other
expenses which Landlord may incur on account of such delinquency and, if imposed by Landlord, shall becomne
due and payable from Tenant to Landlord with the next Monthly Rental Installment.

3. ANNUAL RENTAL ESCALATION. In order to ensure ongoing [air market value, the initial rental rate
will be increased Annually by 3.009%. The increase in rent shall be applicable for the next year, and monthly rental
payments shall remain constant throughout that year, and shall be referred to as the “Adjusted Rent.”

4. COMMON AREA EXPENSES. Samcs as defined in the Master Lease.

5. ADDITIONAL RENT. Same as delined in the Master Lease.

6. LANDLORD’S OBLIGATIONS''

a. Taxes. Landlord shall be responsible lor payment of property and other taxes on the real property and

Building.

b, Insurance. Landlord is a governmental entity as defined in the Tennessee Governmental Tort Liability
Act, T.C.AL Section 29-20-201. Landlord has elected to self-<insure its limited liability under this Act,
and maintains reserve funds deemed adequate by its Board of Trustees for the payment of professional
and general hiability claims under the Act.

3 Landlord’s Obligation shall include any additional obligations included as part of the Term Sheet or Exhibit A.
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C.

Maintenance and Repairs, Fxcept as otherwise provided herein, Landlord shall be responsible for

commercially reasonable maintenance, upkeep and repairs for the Building, heating and air conditioning
cquipment, and any common arcas, at its own expense.

TENANT’S OBLIGATIONS.’

d.

Utiliies. Tenant shall be responsible for utilities for the Leased Premises and for Tenants pro rata usc
of Common Arcas, except for any utilities included in the Rent on the Term Sheet or other Exhibits.

Janitorial Services. "Tenant shall be responsible tor the provision ol janitorial services, including general

Janitorial and cleaning services, light bulb replacement and exterior window cleaning for the Leased

Premises, unless such services are included in the Term Sheet,

Maintenance and Repairs.

L.

1l

v,

Minor Maintenance and Repairs. "Uenant shall be responsible for minor repairs up to the Repair
Cap m Lxhibit A, including normal maintenance and servicing ol above-ground lavatory
lacilities, totlets, sinks, and [aucets located within the Leased Premises and other minor repairs.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall be responsible for all repairs arising [rom
Landlord’s breach of this Lease Agreement or negligence or willlul misconduct.

Damiages. Tenant shall be responsible for the total costs of any repairs resulting from misuse or
any damage caused by the negligent acts of "Tenant, its agents, cmploycees or customers.
Personal Property. Tenant shall be responsible for repairing and maintaining all of its personal
property and cquipment,

Notlication. "T'enant is responsible for notifying Landlord as soon as possible of any repair or
maintenance issues, providing Landlord an opportunity to make repairs and prevent further
damage.

d. Insurance.

C.

I.

Personal Property Insurance. Tenant shall be responsible lor insuring its personal property
located in or on the Leased Premisces.

Liability Insurance. "Tenant shall obtain and keep in full loree and clfect at its expense during
the Lease Term, and any holdover occupancy, a policy of comprehensive general liabiluty
msurance with a {inancially responsible insurer duly authorized to do business in the State of
Tennessee. The Insurance policy shall have a combined single limit of not less than One Million
and No/100 Dollars (51,000,000.00), protecting against any loss to property or bodily injury (o
any person in or about the Leased Premises (including the building and parking arcas).  Such
policy ol liability insurance shall name Landlord as additional insured.  Promptly {ollowing
Landlord’s written request, Tenant shall furnish Landlord with a certificate [rom its insurance
company mdicating the issuance ol the required coverage. In furtherance of this provision,
Tenant hereby agrees to pay delense costs of, including reasonable attorney fees, and indemnify
Landlord and hold Landlord harmless from and against any direet damage sullered or liability
mcurred on or about the Leased Premises to the extent arising from the negligence, reckless
disregard, or intentional/willful misconduct of Tenant.

Taxes. Tenant shall pay all personal property taxes and assessments and all business taxes and license

fees related to Tenants use of the Leased Premiises.

Compliance. "T'enant shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations relating to
Tenant’s use, condition or occupancy of the Leased Premises, and all applicable policies of Landlord.

¢ Tenant’s Obligations shall include any additional obligations included as part of the Term Sheet.
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8. IMPROVEMENTS. Tenant agrees that it will not make any alterations or additions to the Leased Premises
without first obtaining Landlord’s written consent, with any such alterations or additions to be at Tenant’s expense
and to remain a portion ol the Leased Premises upon the expiration of the Lease Term.  Trade fixtures and other
cquipment owned by the Tenant and installed on or within the Leased Premises by Tenant shall remain as personal
property, and may be removed upon termination of the Lease Agreement Any repairs necessary due to removal ol
such trade fixtures or equipment will be made by Tenant at its own cxpernse,

9. USE OF LEASED PREMISES.

a. Tenant shall use the Leased Premises solely for the purpose of the licensed practice of medicine and
the medical treatment of Tenant’s paticnts and related ancillary services and lor no other purposc.
Without himiting the foregoing, unless approved by Landlord in advance and in writing, Tenant shall
not use the Leased Premiscs [or the operation of a "commercial ancillary medical care lacility.” In no
cvent shall the Leased Premises or any part be used for the following activities without the prior wrilten
consent of Landlord, which consent may be granted or denied in its sole and absolute discretion. (1) Any
purpose that is in violation of any law, code, ordinance, zoning ordinance or condition or governmental
rule or regulation. (i) Any purpose deemed by Landlord or its insurer to be extra hazardous on account
ol fire risk, (i) Any purpose that would reasonably cause a cancellation of any msurance policy covering
the Building. Or (v} any operation which creates a nuisance.  Tenant will conduct its business, and
control its agents, employees, and invitees in such @ manner as not, to create any nuisance or interlere
with, annoy or disturb other Tenants or Landlord in the management of the Building.

b. The use of certain diagnostic cquipment (including x-ray, but specifically excluding magnetic resonance
imaging, nuclear medicine (esting, and computerized tomography (C1)) and the performance ol minor
outpaticnt surgical procedures which do not require general anesthesia or intravenous sedation shall not
be considered (o violate the terms of this Section 7. So long as the use of such equipment and such
surgical procedures are merely ancillary and incidental to the primary medical practice conducted by
Tenant in the Leased Premises and do not constitute the primary medical practice or specialty of Tenant
nor the predominant services rendered by Tenant to the Tenant’s paticnts.

10. ASSIGNMENT; SUBLETTING. Tenant shall not, without the prior consent of Landlord, which consent
may be withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion, sublease, license or assign its interest under this Lease (o any other
person or entity. Assignment or subletting without the prior consent of Landlord, including assigmment by operation
of the law, shall constitute an event of deflault. In no event, whether with or without consent of Landlord, shall an
assignment or lease relieve Tenant of liability under the terms, conditions, and provisions of this Lease.

11.  INSURANCE.

a. Tenant shall keep and maintaun at all tmes during the Term the following insurance coverage on the
Leased Premises: (@) comprehensive general liability insurance coverage on the Leased Premises in the
sum ol One Million Dollars (51,000,000 for any single claim and Three Million Dollars ($3.000,000)
lor annual aggregate claims for bodily injury and death. (b) Insurance coverage in the sum of One
Hundred Thousand Dollars (§100,000.00) per occurrence against liability for damage to property,
arising out of the maintenance or use of the Leased Premises by the Tenant. And, (¢) casualty insurance
insuring Tenant against loss or damage to its cquipment and other personal property in the Leased
Premises by fire and all other casualties usually covered under an “all risk” policy of casualty insurance.
The policies described in this Section 9 shall name both Tenant and Landlord as additional insureds.
Annually, Tenant shall furnish Landlord with a certilicate of such coverage which shall provide that thirty
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(30) days” advance written notice be given to Landlord in the event of cancellation or material change in
the msurance policy.

b. Tenant shall not do or permit any act which will increase premiums for any casualty, fire, liability or
other insurance maintained by Landlord on the Building or any other property therein or which shall
render such insurance void or voidable.

12. DAMAGE TO PROPERTY/INJURY TO PERSON. Tenant shall mdemnify and hold Landlord
harmless from and against any and all claims (o the extent they avise [rom the following: (1) Tenant’s use of the
Leased Premises or the conduct ol its business. (i) Any activity, work, or thing done, permitted, or suffered by the
Tenantin or about the Leased Premises. (iii) Any breach or default in the performance ol any obligation on T'enant’s
part to be performed under the terms of this Lease. Or, (v) any act of negligence ol Tenant or his agents or
employces.

13. EARLY TERMINATION BECAUSE OF THE DEATH OR DISABILITY OF A SOLE
PRACTITIONER; OTHER VACATION OR ABANDONMENT. If Tenant is a sole practitioner and dies or
becomes disabled, then either party shall have the right to terminate this Lease prior to the expiration date by giving
the other party not less than thirty (30) days prior written notice. “Disabled” is delined for purposcs ol this Lease as
any physical or mental condition that prevents or is reasonably expected to prevent such physician from practicing
medicine lor more than ninety (90) days. Except as expressly provided in the preceding sentence, any other vacation
of the Leased Premises for more than thirty (30) days or any abandonment of the Leased Premises by Tenant will
be considered a material default under this Lease.

14. LAWS AND REGULATIONS; RULES OF THE BUILDING. Tenant atits sole cost and expense will
maintain the Leased Premises in a clean and healthful condition and will comply with all laws, ordinances, orders,
rules, and regulations of any governmental authority having jurisdiction over the use, condition, or occupancy ol the
Leased Premises. Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall be responsible for medical, special, and infectious
waste removal for the Leased Premises in accordance with all applicable laws, regulations, and orders. Tenant shall
not permit the mixing or disposal of any hazardous substances, wastes, or materials or any mecdical, special, or
mlectious waste with the general office refuse and Landlord shall have no duty or obligation (o remove any
hazardous substances, wastes, or materials or any medical, special, or infectious waste from the Leased Premises.
Without lmitng the generality of the foregoing, Tenant shall comply strictly and in all respects with the
requirements of all “Hazardous Waste Laws.” Tenant shall indemmnify Landlord and hold Landlord harmless from
and against any liabilities, costs, or expenses that may arise on account of the release, discharge, storage, disposal,
treatment, processing, or other handling or discovery ol any “Hazardous Substance” within the Leased Premiscs.
As used herein, “Hazardous Substance” means any substance, material, or matter that may give rise (o liability under
any Hazardous Waste Laws. “Hazardous Waste Laws” shall mean any local, state, or federal laws, rules, ordinances,
regulations, and policy and guidance statements by any envirommental agencies, cither in existence as of the date
hereol, or enacted, promulgated, or issued after the date of this Lease, that concern the management, control,
discharge, treatment, containment, or removal of substances or materials that are or may become a threat to public
health or the cenvironment, including without limitation the Comprehensive  Environmental  Responsc,
Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA) and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA).

15.  EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES.

a. Lvents of Default Delined. The following shall be Fvents of Default under this Lease Agreement:
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I

1.

Iv.

Delinquency in the due and punctual payment ol any rent or additional payment under this
Lease Agreement when such rent shall become payable, and such default shall continue for
flilicen (15) days alter payment is due;

Default by the Tenant or Landlord in the performance or compliance with any of the conditions
or covenants contained in this Lease Agreement for a period of thirty (30) days alter written
notice thereof from the non-defaulting party to the defaulting party, except for any default not
susceptible ol being cured within such thirty (30) day period, in which cvent, the time permitted
to cure such default shall be extended for so long as shall be reasonably necessary to cure such
defauly, provided the Tenant or Landlord shall commence promptly and proceed diligently to
cure such default, and provided further that such period of time shall not be so extended as (o

Jeopardize the interest of the other party in this Lease Agreement or the Leased Premises or so

as o subject the Landlord or the Tenant o any c¢ivil or criminal liabilitics;

The filing by the Tenant or Landlord ol a voluntary petition in bankruptey, or adjudication of
the Tenant or Landlord as a bankrupt, or assignment, partial or general, by the Tenant or
Landlord [or the benefit ol its creditors, or the approval by a court of competent jurisdiction of
a petition applicable to the Tenant or Landlord in any proceeding lor its reorganization instituted
under the provisions ol the United States Bankruptey Act, as amended, or under any shmilar act
which may herealter be enacted; and

The vacation, desertion, or unoccupancy of the Leased Premises for a period of 30 consecutive
days, or the discontinuation of business of Fenant,

b. Remedics of Default, Whenever any event of Delault shall have occurred, the Landlord may take

any one or more of the following actions:

i

it

v,

Landlord may re-enter and take possession of the Leased Premises without termimnating this
Lease Agreement, and sublease the Leased Premises for the account of the Tenant, holding the
Tenant liable lor the difference in the rent and other amounts payable by such sub-lease in such
sub-leasing, and the rents and other amounts payable by the Tenant;

The Landlord may terminate this Lease Agreement and demand and colleet from Tenant the
entire unpaid balance of rent for the entire Lease Term, i.c. acceleration of all future rents due
hereunder:

The Landlord may terminate this Lease Agreement and exclude the Tenant [rom possession of
the Leased Premises and miay lease the Leased Premises to another for the account of the
Tenant, holding the Tenant liable for all rent and other payments duce up to the effective date of
such leasing and for the excess, if any, of the rent and other amounts payable by the Tenant
under this Lease Agreement had the Lease Term or any renewal thereol not have been
termmated over the rents and other amounts which are payable by such new Tenant under such
new lease; and

The Landlord or Tenant may take whatever action 1s available in the enforcement ol these
remedies at law or in equity, and otherwise as may appear necessary or desirable to collect rents
due, or to become due, or 1o enforce specific performance and observation of any obligation,
agreement or covenant under this Lease Agreement.
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¢. No Remedy Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to cither party is intended (o
be exclusive of any other available remedices, such as those available at law or in cquity. No delay or
omission (o exercise any right shall be construed to be a waiver of such right,

d. Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses. In the event either party should default under this
Lease Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall be entitled to demand payment of reasonable attorney
lees and expenses incurred necessary to enforce this Lease Agreement from the defanlting party.

¢.  No Additonal Waiver Implicd by One Waiver, 1ff any agreement confamed in this Lease should be
breached and therealter waived, such waiver shall be limited to (hat particular breach only.

16.  RIGHT OF ENTRY. Landlord, and/or its representative, may cnter the Leased Premises at any reasonable
time for the purpose of inspecting the Leased Premisces, taking possession, performing any work which the Landlord
may clect to undertake made necessary by reason ol the Tenants default, exhibiting the Leased Premises [or sale,
or postng any notices including those for letting purposes. The Landlord may exercise such right of entry without
the same conslituting an eviction of the Tenant in whole or in part. Landlord agrees to schiedule any entry and/or
repairs at times or on dates, which will minimize interription or inconvenience to Tenant’s business operations,

17. END OF TERM. At the termination of this Lease, Tenant shall surrender its interest in the Leased
Premises to Landlord in as good condition and repair as reasonable use thereof will permit, ordinary wear and tear
excepted, and will leave the Leased Premises broom clean. Tenant shall have the right, prior to termination, (o
remove any equipment, furniture, trade lixtures, or other personal property in the Leased Premises owned by
Tenant. Tenant shall promptly repair any damage (o the Leased Premises caused by removal of such property.

18. HOLDOVER TENANCY. In the event, Tenant shall remain in possession ol Leased Premises alter the
expiration or termination ol this Lease the hold-over tenancy shall be month to month (not o exceed 6 months);
provided, however, during any such period of holdover, the Rent shall be increased to 110% of the Rent due and
payable in the last month of the Term of this Lease, but otherwise subject to all of the terms of this Lease Agreement.
Landlord and Tenant shall cach have the right to terminate this Lease by delivering written notice to the other at
least ninety (90) days prior (o the desired expiration date.

19. ATTORNEYS' FEES. In the event that suit is brought by cither party against the other for breach or delault
under the terms of this Lease, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attornceys’ fees, expenses (including
expert wittiess lees), and court costs equal to the sum established by the court.

20. HEADINGS. "The article captions or headings contained in this Lease are for the convenicnee of the partics
only and in no way deline, limit, or describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Leasc.

21. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 'This Lease Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding
between the parties as to the Leased Premises. This Lease supersedes and replaces any prior leases or agreements
that may exist that relate to Tenant’s use of the Leased Premises, which are now terminated. There are no oral
understandings, terms, or conditions and no party has relied upon any representations, express, or mnplied, not
contamned in this Lease Agreement. This Agreement cannot be changed orally, but by written agreement signed by
the party to be charged. This Lease cannot be changed or terminated orally, but it can only be changed by agreement
m writing and signed by all parties.

22. DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION. I the Leased Preniises are damaged by fire or other castialty, the
damage shall be repaired by and at the expense of Landlord (excluding any equipment which is owned by Tenant),
provided that such repairs can, in Landlord’s opinion, be made within sixty (60) days alter the occurrence of such
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damage. Landlord shall notify Tenant within fiftcen (15) days of the event of casualty of its determination. Until
such repairs are completed, the rent shall be abated in proportion to the part of the Leased Premises rendered
unusable, but there shall be no abatement of rent for a period cqual to one (1) day or less. If such repairs cannot,
in Landlord’s opinion, be made within sixty (60) days and Landlord nonetheless chooses (o repair, then Tenant
may, at its option, continue as Tenant under this Lease until such repairs are completed, during which time all rent
shall abate, or Tenant may terminate ts Lease. A total destruction of the Building in which the Leased Premises
arc located shall automatically terminate this Lease. Total destruction of the Building 1s defined as damage greater
than fifty percent (509%) of the then replacement value of the building. Landlord’s obligation to repair or restore
shall in no event exceed the scope of the original construction of the improvements on the Leased Premises.
23.  EMINENT DOMAIN. If the whole of the Leased Premises or so much thereofl as to render the balance
unusable by Tenant shall be taken under power of eminent domain, this Lease shall automatically terminate as of
the cffective date of the taking and all Rent payable shall be apportioned as of such date. In the event of a partial
taking, which does not result in a termination of this Lease, the rent reserved shall remain unaflected. No part of
any award for the property and improvements shall belong to the Tenant. However, the Tenant shall have the right
to make a separate claim with the condemning authority for the value of the Tenant’s leaschold interest and/or
moving or relocation expenses; provided however, that such separate claim shall not reduce or adversely allect the
amountt of the Landlord’s award.

24.  WAIVER. No waiver by cither party shall be deemed to be a waiver of any other provision hereol or of
any subscquent breach by cither party of the same or any other provision. Landlord ’s consent (o or approval of
any act by Tenant requiring Landlord’s consent or approval shall not be deemed to render unnccessary the obtaining
ol Landlord’s consent to or approval of any subsequent act of Tenant, whether or not similar to the act so consented
to or approved.

25. NOTICES. Any notice required or permitted (o be given may be given by mail and shall be sufliciently
given if personally served, sent by certified mail, or by special or overnight courier, addressed to the relevant party
at the addresses specilied in this Lease (notice to Tenant shall be given at the Leased Premises). For any notice
given to Landlord, a copy shall be provided to the Landlord’s counsel as [ollows: West Tennessee Healtheare, Atn:
Legal Department, 620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN 38301.

26.  BINDING EFFECT. The Leasc shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the partics hereto, their
hieirs, successors, assigns, executors, and administrators. Nothing in this article shall be deemed to amend the
provisions herein concerning assignment and subletting.

27.  GOVERNING LAW. The laws ol the state ol Tennessce shall be employed in and govern the

mterpretation of all of the covenants, terms, and conditions of this Lease.

28.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE. For any causc ol action filed in regard to the subject matter of this
Contract shall rest solely in the Circuit and/or Chancery Courts of Madison County, Tennessee. This provision
shall survive the ternunation of this Contract.

29. NO PARTNERSHIP RELATIONSHIP. Notwithstanding any agreement herein contained, Landlord
shall not be construed or held (o be a partuer or associate ol Tenant in the conduct of its business, it being cxpressly
understood and agreed that the relationship between the parties is and at all times shall remain that of Landlord
and Tenant,

30.  NO INDUCEMENT FOR PATIENT REFERRAL. No part of this Lease shall be construed to induce,

encourage, solicit or reimburse the referral of any patients or business, including any patients or business funded in
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whole or in part by a federal healthcare program. The partics acknowledge that there is no requirement under this
Lease or any other agreement between Landlord and Tenant that cither Landlord or Tenant refer any patients to
cach other or any of their respective alfiliates. No payment made under this Lease shall be in return for the referral
of patients or business, including those paid in whole or in part by state or federal government programs. Both
partics represent to the other that the Annual Rental Rate provided for in this Lease is at fair market value and do
not take into account the value or volume of any referrals or other business generated between the partics. Both as
a material condition (o this Lease and as a continuing representation and warranty for the duration of this Lease,
Tenant represents and warrants that neither it nor any ol its owners, officers, directors, employees, agents, or
subcontractors, have been suspended, excluded, or debarred from any government payor program.

3l.  SUBORDINATION, ATTORNMENT AND NON-DISTURBANCE.

a. Tenant agrees that this Lease and all rights of Tenant are and shall be subject and subordinate to any
ground or underlying lease which may now or at a later date be in effect regarding the Building or any
componcent thereol, to any mortgage now or hereafler encumbering the Leased Premises or the Building
or any component thereol, to all advances made or herealter to be made upon the seawrity of such
mortgage, to all amendments, modifications, renewals, consolidations, extensions and restatements of
such mortgage, and to any replacements and substitutions for such mortgage. The terms of this provision
shall be sell-operative and no further instrument of subordination shall be required. Tenant, however,
upon request ol any party in interest, shall execute promptly such instrument or certificates as may be
reasonably required to carry out the intent ol this provision.

b, In the event any proceedings are brought for the foreclosure of, or in the event of exercise of the power
ol sale under, or in the event of a deed in licu of foreclosure with respect to any mortgage covering the
Leased Premises or the Building, or in the event of termination ol any Lease under which Landlord
may hold utle, Tenant shall, at the option of transferee, attorn to such transferce and shall recognize and
be bound and obligated to such person as the Landlord under this Lease. Tenant agrees to execute any
attornment agreement not in contlict with this provision.

¢. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, so long as Tenant is not in default in the
payment of Rentals or other charges, or in the performance of any of the other terms, covenants or
conditions of this Lease, mortgagee or such person shall not disturb Tenant in its occupancy ol the
Leased Premises during the original or any renewal term of this Lease notwithstanding any cvent or
proceedings described in this section.

32. ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE. Within thirty (30) days alter written request [rom Landlord, Tenant shall
deliver an executed statement addressed to Landlord certifying (f such be the case) that this Lease is in full force
and clfect, that "Tenant has commenced the payment of rent, and that there are no defenses or offsets to this Lease
claimed by Tenant, as well as any other information reasonably requested. Il Tenant fails or refuses o give a
certificate hereunder within the required time frame, then the information on such certificate as submitied by
Landlord shall be deemed correct for all purposes and Landlord shall have the right to treat such failure or refusal
as a default by Tenant,

33. FORCE MAJEURE. With the exception of the obligation of Fenant to pay Rent and all other amounts
that may be duce from time to time under this Lease, if either party shall be delayed or hindered in or prevented
from doing or performing any act or thing required hereunder by reason of any matters beyond the reasonable
control ol such party, then such party shall not be liable or responsible for any such delays and the doing or
performing ol such act or thing shall be extended for a period equivalent to the period of such delay. In such event,

Page 11 0f 17



Note:  No handwritten or interlineated changes will Medical Office Space Lease ~ WTH is Landlord
override the printed text of this document.

this Lease and the obligations of both parties to perform and comply with all of the other terms and provisions of
this Lease shall in no way be affected, impaired, or excused.

34.  SUBLEASE. In the cvent this Lease is a sublease to an underlying lease agreement, then with respect to
the Leased Premises, except for the Term of this Lease and the Rental Rate/Installment, Tenant shall perform all
ol the obligations of "Tenant under such underlying lease agreement.

35.  LIMITATION OF LANDLORD LIABILITY. The liability of Landlord to Tenant for any default by
Landlord under the terms of this Lease shall be limited to the interest of Landlord in the Building and the Land,
and Landlord shall not be personally liable for any deficiency. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaned
m this Lease, in the event Landlord sells, assigns, transfers or conveys its interest in the Land, Landlord shall have
no lability for any acts or omissions that occur aller the date ol said sale, assigniment, transfer or conveyance,
provided that any such grantec, assignee or transferee assumes all of Landlord’s obligations under this Lease.

36.  BROKERAGE. Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that it has not had any dealings with any
broker or agent in connection with the negotiation or exccution of this Lease: and Tenant agrees to indemnily
Landlord and hold Landlord harmless from and against any and all costs, expenses or ltability for commissions or
other compensation or charges claimed by any other broker or agent, through commitments of Tenant with respect
to this Lease. In the event Landlord clects to engage a broker or agent in connection with the negotation or
execution of this Lease, Landlord shall be solely responsible to pay any commissions or fees due and payable to
such broker or agent.

37. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY. This Leasc is for the sole benefit of Landlord, its successors and

assigns, and Tenant, its permitted successors and assigns, and it is not for the benefit of any third party.

38.  SEVERABILITY. Ifany clause or provision of this Lease is illegal, invalid or unenforceable under present
or future laws effective during the term of this Lease, then and in that event, it is the intention of the parties hereto
that the remainder of this Lease shall not be aftected thereby, and it 1s also the intention of the parties to this Lease
that in licu of cach clause or provision that is illegal, invalid or unenforceable, there be added as a part of this Lease
a clause or provision as similar in terms to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable clause or provision as may be
possible and still be legal, valid and enforceable.

39. MECHANICS’ LIENS. Nothing contained in this Lease shall authorize Tenant to do any act which shall
m any way encumber the tide of Landlord in and to the Leased Premises or the Building or any part thereol and if
any mechanic’s or materialman’s lien is filed or claimed against the Leased Premises or Building or any part thereol
in connection with any work performed, materials furnished or obligation incurred by or at the request of Tenant,
Tenant will promptly either (x) pay samne and cause it (o be released of record or {y) contest same in good faith and,
il it has not been removed within thirty (30) days, bond around it. It the lien is not released of record (or bonded
around) and default in payment thereol shall continue for thirty (30) days alter written notice thereof from Landlord
to Tenant, Landlord shall have the right and privilege at Landlord’s option of paying the same or any portion thereol
without inquiry as the validity thercol, and any amounts so paid, including expenses and interest, shall be repaid to
Landlord mmmediately by Tenant on demand therelor.

40, ABANDONED PROPERTY. All personal property of Uenant remaining in the Leased Premises alter the
expiration or carlier termination of the Term may be treated by Landlord as having been abandoned by Tenant,
and Landlord shall have the right to remove such personal property from the Leased Premises without any
obligation to deliver such personal property to Tenant and without any liability to Tenant whatsoever, it being agreed
that "Uenant shall have no right to reclaim such property.  Provided, however, that in no event whatsoever shall
Landlord have any access or rights to the conlidential and proprictary information of Tenant, specifically including,
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without limitation, patient medical charts, records or other information. Landlord shall have no duty to notify
Tenant that Landlord may disposc of Tenant’s property.

41.  TRANSFER OF LANDLORD’S RIGHTS. In the event Landlord transfers its interest in the Building,
Landlord shall thereby be released from any further obhgations, and Tenant agrees to look solely to the successor
in interest of the Landlord for the performance of such obligations, provided however, that any assignec or
transferee of Landlord shall assume by written agreement all of Landlord’s obligation under this Lease.

42.  REMEASUREMENT. Tenant or Landlord, at such party’s own cost and expense, shall have the right o
re-measure the Leased Premises and the Building from time to time (but not more than once per vear). In the event
such re-measurement reveals a different square footage for the Premises or the Building than is set forth in this
Lease, the parties shall exceute an amendment which revises the rentable square footage of the Leased Premises
and the Tenant’s Proportionate Share and the Tenant’s payment of Rent shall be adjusted accordingly. In the event
that the Tenant refuses to execute such amendment, then Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease upon
thirty (30) days written notice to T'enant.

43.  RULES AND REGULATIONS. Tenant shall faithfully observe and comply strictly with the following rules
and regulations, adopted for the safety, care and cleanliness of the Building or the preservation of good order
therem. Landlord shall not be hable to Tenant for a violation ol such rules and regulations, or lor the breach of
any covenant or condition m a lease by any other Tenant in the Building. Landlord may, lrom tme (o tme and
upon notice to Tenant, adopt additional ov substitute rules and regulations of the Building.

2. Conduct. Tenant shall not conduct its practice or business, or advertise such business, profession or
activities of Tenant conducted in the Premises in any manner which violates local, state or federal laws
or regulations.

b. Hallways and Stairways. Tenant shall not obstruct or use for storage, or for any purpose other than
mgress and egress, the sidewalks, entrance, passages, courts, corridors, vestibules, halls, clevators and
statrways ol the Building.

¢. Nuisances. Tenant shall not make or permit any noise, odor or act that is objectionable to other
occupants of the Building to emanate from the Premises, and shall not create or maintain a nuisance
thereon.

d. Musical Instruments, Ete. Tenant shall not install or operate any phonograph, musical instrument, radio
receiver or similar device in the Building in such manner as to disturb or annoy other Tenants of the
Building or the neighborhood. Tenant shall not install any antennac, acrial wires or other equipment
outsile the Building without the prior written approval ol Landlord.

¢. Locks. No additional locks or bolts of any kind shall be placed upon any of the doors or windows by
Tenant, nor shall any changes be made in existing locks or the mechanism thereol, Tenant must upon
the termination of its tenancy restore to Landlord all keys to the Premises and toilet rooms cithier
lurnished to or otherwise produced by Tenant, and in the event of loss of any keys so furnished, Tenant
shall pay to Landlord the cost thereol.

[, Obstructing Light, Damage. "The doors, window glass, lights and skylights that reflect or admit light into
the halls or other places of the Building shall not be covered or obstructed. The toilets and urinals shall
not be used for any purpose other than those for which they were intended and constructed, and no
rubbish, newspapers or other substance of any kind shall be thrown into them. Waste and excessive or
unusual use ol water shall not be allowed. Tenant shall not mark, drive nails, screw or drill into, paint,
nor in any way deface the walls, cetlings, partitions, loors, wood, stone or iron work. The expense of
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q.

any breakage, stoppage or damage resulting from a violation of this rule by Tenant shall be borne by
Tenant. Tenant shall be permitted to hang pictures on office walls, but it must be done in a workmanlike
manner and m such a way as not to damage or deface such walls.

Wiring. Flectrical wiring of every kind shall be introduced and connected only as directed by Landlord,
and no boring nor cutting of wires will be allowed except with the consent of Landlord. The location of
the telephone, call boxes, cte., shall be subject to the approval of Landlord.

Lquipment, Moving, Furniture, Fte. Landlord shall approve the weight, size and position of all fixtures,
cquipment and other property brought into the Building, and the times of moving which must be done
under the supervision of Landlord. Landlord will not be responsible for any loss of or damage to any
such equipment or property [rom any cause, and all damage done in the Building by moving or
maintining any such property shall be repaired at the expense of Tenant. Al cquipment shall be
mstalled as required by law.

Requirements of Tenant. The requirements of Tenant will be attended (o only upon application at the
oflice of Landlord. Employcees shall not perform any work nor do anything outside their regular duties
unless under special instructions from Landlord. No employees shall admit any person, Tenant or
otherwise, to any other ollice without instruction from the office of Landlord. Al Janttorial services
personnel, guards or any outside contractors employed by Tenant shall be subject to the regulations and
control of Landlord, but shall not act as an agent or servant of Landlord.

Mcdical and Hazardous Wastes. "Tenant shall comply with all policics established from time to time by
Landlord regarding the storage and disposal of hazardous substances, wastes and materials, and medical,
spectal or infectious wastes.

Access o Building. Any person entering or leaving the Building may be questioned by Building sccurity
regarding his/her business in the Building and may be required to sign in and out. Anyone who [ails (o
provide a satistactory reason for being in the Building may be excluded.

Vehicles, Animals, Refuse. Tenant shall not allow anything to be placed on the outside window ledges
of the Premises or to be thrown out of the windows of the Building. No bicycle or other vehicle, and
no animal, except for service animal, shall be brought into the oflices, halls, corridors, elevators or any
other parts of the Building by Tenant or the agents, employees or invitees of Tenant, and Tenant shall
not place or permit to be placed any obstruction or refuse in any public part of the Building.

Laguipment Defects. Tenant shall give Landlord prompt notice of any accidents to or defects in the
water pipes. gas pipes, clectric lights and fixtures, heating apparatus, or any other service cquipment.

Parking. Unless otherwise specified by Landlord, Tenant and its employees may park automobiles only
i spaces designated by Landlord for such purpose and shall in no event park in spaces reserved for
public parking. Tenant agrees that Landlord assumes no respousibility of any kind whatsoever in
reference (o such automobile parking arca or the use thereol by Tenant or its agents or employees.

Conscrvation and Sccurity. Tenant will sce that all windows and doors are sceurely locked, and that all
laucets and clectrie light switches are turned off before leaving the Building,

Signage. Tenant shall not place any sign upon the Leased Premises or the Building without Landlord’s
prior written conscnt.

Tobacco-Free Campus. The Tenant agrees that the Leased Premises will be used and occupied in
compliance with the Landlord’s Tobacco-Free Campus Policy.

FINAL LEASE VERSION. The Leasc is collectively comprised of the Medical Office Space Lease (o

which this Exhibit C is attached, and all Ixhibits attached hereto. Notwithstanding any provision contained herein
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to the contrary, no handwritten or interlineated changes (o this Lease will override the printed text of this Leasce
unless those changes are included in the final fully executed counterpart of this Lease which is scanned and
clectronically stored in Landlord’s database.
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EXHIBIT D

Floor plan
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Cash Reserves Letter



- 620 Skyline Drive
- Jackson, Tennessee 38301
HEALTHCARE P 731.541.5000

Fi731.424.6251

July 6, 2020

Mr. Logan Grant

Tennessee Health Services and Development Agency
Andrew Jackson Building, 9" Floor

502 Deaderick Street

Nashville, Tennessee 37243

RE:  Funding Source-Jackson Madison Surgery Center

Dear Mr. Grant:

This letter confirms that funding for the Jackson Madison Surgery Center will come from
the current sole member of the Jackson Madison Surgery Center, LLC. The current sole
member is the Jackson-Madison County General Hospital District.

Funding will be provided from cash reserves. A copy of the latest audit is attached with the
Certificate of Need.

Sincerely,

£l ) —

i
J efﬁ/ey D. Blankenship
Vice President/Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Board of Trustees
West Tennessee Healthcare and Related Affiliates
Jackson, Tennessee

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of West Tennessee Healthcare and Related
Affiliates (the "Company"), as of and for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the related notes to
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Company's basic financial statements as listed in the
table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Govermment Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Company's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the changes in its financial position and its cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management's
discussion and analysis on pages 5 through 11, the Schedule of Changes in Net Pension and OPEB Liability
(asset) and Related Ratios on page 48, and the Schedule of Contributions on page 49 be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB"), which considers it to be
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. We do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements as a
whole. The Roster of Governance and Management Officials on page 4, the Deductions from Gross Patient
Service Revenues information on page 50 and the Schedule of Changes in Long-term Debt by Individual
Issue on page 51 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic
financial statements.

The Deductions from Gross Patient Service Revenues and the Schedule of Changes in Long-term Debt by
Individual Issue information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relate directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The Roster of Governance and Management Officials has not been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on it.



Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 4, 2019,
on our consideration of the Company's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Company's internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

Lixon z‘ﬁﬂh&é Goodman [LP

Memphis, Tennessee
October 4, 2019
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West Tennessee Healthcare and Related Affiliates
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

This section of the financial statements of West Tennessee Healthcare and Related Affiliates (the "Company")
presents management's analysis of the Company's financial performance during the fiscal years ended June 30,
2019 and 2018.

Financial highlights
2019

The Company experienced an operating loss for the year, net of interest expense, of $44.6 million representing
an operating margin of -5.1%.

In November 2018, the Company issued the Series 2018A Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds in the amount of
$62.87 million and Series 2018B Taxable Hospital Revenue Bonds in the amount of $91.025 million. The
proceeds of the Series 2018A Bonds, together with other funds, were used by the Company to refund all
outstanding Bonds from the Series 2008 Bond issue and reimburse the Company for the $90 million financed as
part of the Tennova West acquisition.

Total operating revenues were 14% above the prior year, an increase of $106 million. The increase was driven
primarily by a full 12 months of activity from the Tennova West acquisition in fiscal year 2019 as opposed to one
month of activity from Tennova West in fiscal year 2018. The increase in revenue with the acquisition was offset
by adjustments approximating $32 million made to decrease net patient service revenue and increase the
allowance for doubtful accounts and contractual allowances resulting from 1) the run-out of legacy accounts
receivable from the revenue cycle conversion in May 2018 with related deterioration in the estimate of
collectability for remaining balances, and 2) the anticipated write-off of accounts receivable with the conversion of
Tennova facilities revenue cycle in May 2019 and the related termination of transitional services in October 2019.
These adjustments were based on management's best estimate of the estimated net realizable value of the
related receivables.

Operating expenses increased by $148.2 million or 20%, also due to a full 12 months of activity from the Tennova
West acquisition in fiscal year 2019. Operating expenses were higher than anticipated with operational transitions
post-acquisition of the Tennova West facilities and related operational adjustments throughout the year as the
organization adjusted itself to the larger revenue base and incorporated the acquired entities into the health
system.

The Company's net non-operating revenue (expense) increased to $1.6 million in expense in 2019 as compared
to $1.2 million in expense in 2018. The most material change was an increase in interest expense related to the
refunding of bonds.

2018

The Company experienced an operating loss for the year, net of interest expense, of $0.2 million representing an
operating margin of (0.0)%. The year was one of significant transition for the Company, with several notable
issues impacting the base operation and a crucial transaction to expand the Company’s presence in the region.

On May 31, 2018, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Community Health Systems in West
Tennessee, operating locally under the brand Tennova Healthcare (hereafter referred to as “Tennova West"). The
acquired operation included three hospitals, 19 clinics, and an EMS operation. The acquired hospitals were
located in Dyersburg, Martin, and Jackson, Tennessee. The acquisition will enhance the Company's ability to
fulfill its mission in a sustainable business model, with the goal of improving quality and access to care for west
Tennesseans. The acquisition is consistent with the organization's strategic vision of becoming a more complete
health system. On June 1, 2018, the Company began operation of the acquired services, maintaining the same
level of service in each location with the exception of the hospital located in north Jackson, which became a
satellite of the Company’s flagship hospital, Jackson-Madison County General Hospital (“*JMCGH”). The satellite
campus is just 4.7 miles from the flagship hospital. The purchase included fixed assets and limited working
capital. The total purchase price was $73.2 million. The Company obtained $90 million in interim financing to fund
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

the transaction and support working capital during provider enrollment, with a plan to obtain permanent financing
in the coming fiscal year.

On May 5, 2018, the Company replaced its legacy revenue cycle systems for acute hospitals with a new system
integrated with the organization's hospital electronic health record. As a result, patient accounts receivable were
temporarily and unusually high at June 30, 2018.

Total operating revenues were 4% above the prior year, an increase of approximately $26.6 million. The increase
was driven primarily by revenue growth for the flagship hospital, in addition to one month of revenue for the first
month of operation of the newly acquired operations described above.

Total salaries and benefits expense increased by $18 million, or 5%, due to several factors, most notably agency
staffing utilization and employee rate adjustments awarded during the fiscal year. Supplies and other costs
increased by $21.4 million, or 8%, driven primarily by increased drug costs as a result of changes to JMCGH’s
status in the federal 340b drug purchasing program.

The Company's net non-operating revenue (expense) went from revenue of $10.1 million in 2017 to expense of
$1.2 million in 2018. The change is primarily related to a decrease in investment income with the shift in the value
of the investment portfolio from the previous year. In addition, non-operating expenses increased with the
acquisition of the Tennova West hospitals described above, with the cost of diligence and advisory services
related to the transaction of $5.8 million.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company discontinued the practice of offering post-employment medical benefits
beyond what is required by regulation. After the change, the Company's OPEB plan was overfunded by $3.6
million. In February 2018, the Company distributed $2.5 million of the excess to Plan participants. The remainder
of the balance will continue to be drawn down as expenses are incurred by the Plan’s existing beneficiaries.

Overview of the financial statements

The financial statements consist of two parts: management's discussion and analysis and the basic financial
statements. The basic financial statements also include notes and required supplementary information that
explain in more detail some of the information in the financial statements.

Required basic financial statements

The Company reports financial information about the Company using accounting methods similar to those used
by private sector companies. These statements offer short-term and long-term financial information about its
activities. The statements of net position include all the Company's assets and liabilities and provide information
about the nature and amounts of investments in resources (assets) and the obligations to Company creditors
(liabilities). The assets and liabilities are presented in a classified format, which distinguishes between current and
long-term assets and liabilities. These statements also provide the basis for computing rate of return, evaluating
the capital structure of the Company and assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of the Company.

All of the Company’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the statements of revenues and expenses and
changes in net position. These statements measure the performance of the Company's operations over the past
year and can be used to determine whether the Company has successfully recovered all its costs through the
services provided, as well as its profitability and creditworthiness.

The final required statement is the statement of cash flows. The primary purpose of this statement is to provide
information about the Company's cash receipts and cash payments during the reporting period. The statement
reports cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash resulting from operating, investing, non-capital
financing and financing activities, and provides information as to where cash came from, what cash was used for,
and what the change in the cash balance was during the reporting period.
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Financial analysis

Our analysis of the financial statements of the Company begins below. One of the most important questions
asked about the Company's finances is, "Is the Company as a whole better off or worse off as a result of the
year's activities?" The statements of net position and the statements of revenues and expenses and changes in
net position report information about the Company's activities in a way that will help answer this question. These
statements report the net position of the Company and changes in them. You can think of the Company's net
position - the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources — as one way to measure financial health or financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in the
Company's net position are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. However,
you will need to consider other non-financial factors such as changes in interest rates, economic conditions,
regulations and new or changed government legislation.

Table A-1

Condensed Statements of Net Position (in millions of dollars)

Dollar Percentage Dollar Percentage
Increase Increase Increase Increase
June 30 (Decrease) ({Decrease) (Decrease} (Decrease)
2019 2018 2017 2018-2019 2018-2019 2017-2018 2017-2018
Current assets $ 197.4 $ 207.8 $ 1676 $ (10.4) -5% $ 40.2 24%
Capital assets, net 432.4 428.2 371.0 4.2 1% 57.2 15%
Other non-current assets 394.5 413.8 401.0 (19.3) -5% 12.8 3%
Total assets 1,024.3 1,049.8 939.6 (25.5) -2% 110.2 12%
Deferred outflows of
Resources 57.4 60.4 78.0 (3.0) 5% (17.6) -23%
Total assets and
deferred outflows $ 10817 $ 11102 $ 10176 § (28.5) -3% $ 92,6 9%
Current liabilities $ 84.0 $ 170.4 $ 742 $ (86.4) -51% $ 96.2 130%
Non-current liabilities 475.4 388.4 405.5 87.0 22% (17.1) -4%
Total liabilities 559.4 558.8 479.7 0.6 0% 79.1 16%
Net position:
Unrestricted 381.7 411.4 394.2 (29.7) 7% 17.2 4%
Invested in capital assets 134.4 129.3 133.0 5.1 4% (3.7) -3%
Restricted 6.2 10.7 10.7 (4.5) -42% - 0%
Total net position 522.3 551.4 537.9 (29.1) -5% 13.5 3%
Total liabilities
and net position $ 10817 $ 11102 $_10176 $ (28.5) -3% $ 9286 9%
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As indicated in Table A-1, net position decreased from fiscal 2018 by $29.1 million or 5% with the Company's
financial performance in fiscal year 2019.

1.

Total assets decreased by $25.5 million or 2% when compared to 2018. This decrease was driven
primarily by a decrease in accounts receivable balances as a result of increased collections subsequent
to the implementation of the new revenue cycle system in May 2018, just prior to the end of the previous
fiscal year. Other non-current assets decreased primarily due to the elimination of the $16.9 million
Wellness Center receivable that was relieved with the purchase of the LIFT Weliness Center.

Deferred outflows decreased by $3 million or 5% due to the actual versus projected earnings of the
Company’s pension plan investments.

Total liabilities stayed relatively flat as compared to the prior year, as the debt incurred by the 2018 Bond
Issues offset the repayment of the $90 million bridge loan.

As indicated in Table A-1, net position increased from fiscal 2017 by $13.5 million or 3% with the Company's
financial performance in fiscal year 2018.

1. Total assets increased by $110.2 million or 12% due primarily to the Company’s acquisition of Tennova
West's assets and the implementation of a new revenue cycle system, which caused accounts receivable
to be temporarily and unusually high at yearend.

2. Deferred outflows decreased by $17.6 million or 23% due to the actual versus projected earnings of the
Company's pension plan investments.

3. Total liabilities increased by $78.1 million or 16% due to the $90 million interim financing the Company
obtained as part of the Tennova West acquisition, offset by a decrease in net pension liability.

Table A-2

Condensed Statements of Revenues and Expenses and Changes in Net Position (in millions of dollars)

Dollar Percentage Dollar Percentage
Increase Increase increase Increase

Year Ended June 30 (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease)

2019 2018 2017 2019-2018 2019-2018 2017-2018 2017-2018
Net patient service revenues $ 8309 $ 7245 §$ 6910 § 1064 15% § 33.5 5%
Other operating revenues 49.3 49.7 56.6 0.4 1% (6.9} -12%
Total operating revenues 880.2 774.2 747.6 106.0 14% 26.6 4%
Salaries and benefits 485.3 415.9 397.9 69.4 17% 18.0 5%
Supplies and other expenses 369.8 295.0 273.6 74.8 25% 21.4 8%
Depreciation and amortization 52.6 48.6 46.6 4.0 8% 2.0 4%
Total operating expenses 907.7 759.5 7181 148.2 20% 414 6%
Income from operations (27.5) 14.7 29.5 (42.2) -287% (14.8) -50%

Net non-operating revenues

(expenses) (1.6) (1.2) 10.1 (0.4) 33% (11.3) -112%
Change in net position (29.1) 13.5 39.6 (42.6) -316% (26.1) -66%
Beginning net position 551.4 537.9 498.3 13.5 3% 39.6 8%
Ending net position $ §223 $ 5514 $ 5379 (29.1) 5% §$§ 135 3%
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While the statements of net position show the change in financial position or net position, the statements of
revenues and expenses and changes in net position, as indicated above, provide answers as to the nature and
source of these changes (i.e., the financial result of current year operations).

Operating revenues increased by $106 million or 14% from 2018 to 2019.

1.

The increase in revenue was driven by a full 12 months of activity from the Tennova West acquisition in
fiscal year 2019 as opposed to 1 month of activity from Tennova West in fiscal year 2018.

Adjustments approximating $32 million were made to decrease net patient service revenue and increase
the allowance for doubtful accounts and contractual allowances resulting from 1) the run-out of legacy
accounts receivable from the revenue cycle conversion in May 2018 with related deterioration in the
estimate of collectability for remaining balances, and 2) the anticipated write-off of accounts receivable
with the conversion of Tennova facilities revenue cycle in May 2019 and the related termination of
transitional services in October 2019. These adjustments were based on management’s best estimate of
the estimated net realizable value of the related receivables.

3. Other operating revenue remained flat in fiscal year 2019 as compared to 2018.

Operating revenues increased by $26.6 million or 4% from 2017 to 2018.

1.

In the final month of the fiscal year, the Company acquired the operations of Tennova West and began
operation. The addition of these services in fiscal year 2018 accounted for an increase in operating
revenue of approximately $13.3 million over the prior year.

The remaining increase was due to routine revenue growth from hospital inpatient and outpatient
services, particularly for the JMCGH flagship hospital.

In the final quarter of fiscal year 2017, the Company acquired and began operating a primary care
practice added to the Company’s medical group practice. The addition of this practice accounted for an
increase in operating revenue of approximately $1.0 million over the prior year.

Operating expense increased by $148.2 million or 20% when comparing 2019 to 2018.

1.

The increase in expense was driven by a full 12 months of activity from the Tennova West acquisition in
fiscal year 2019 as opposed to 1 month of activity from Tennova West in fiscal year 2018. In this first year
post-acquisition, operating expenses were higher than expected with transitional activity related to the
incorporation of the acquired entities into the health system and adjustment of operations post-
acquisition.

Total salaries and benefits expense increased by $69.4 million or 17% during the fiscal year due to a full
year of Tennova West expense.

Supplies and other costs increased by $74.8 million or 25%, driven by a full year of Tennova West
expense in addition to a significant increase in drug costs at the Kirkiand Cancer Center.

Operating expense increased by $41.4 million or 6% when comparing 2018 to 2017.

1.

In the final month of the fiscal year, the Company acquired Tennova West operations and began
operation. The addition of these services in fiscal year 2018 accounted for an increase in total operating
expense of approximately $13.2 million over the prior year.
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2. Total salaries and benefits expense increased by $18 million or 5% during the fiscal year with routine
increases in staffing, routine employee rate adjustments and continued utilization of agency staffing for
the flagship hospital in response fo nursing turnover and vacancies.

3. Supplies and other costs increased by $21.4 million or 8%, driven by routine escalation of administrative
costs and a significant increase in drug costs due to a change in the 340B status at the flagship hospital.

Capital assets

As of June 30, 2019, the Company had $432.4 million invested in a variety of capital assets, as reflected in Table
A-3, which represents a net increase (additions, disposals and depreciation) of $4.2 million or 1% from the end of
last year.

Table A-3

Capital Assets (in millions of dollars)

June 30
2019 2018
Land and land improvements $ 57.1 $ 56.8
Buildings 384.2 360.8
Equipment 769.0 746.3
Construction in progress 17.9 9.6
Total capital assets 1,228.2 1,173.5
Accumulated depreciation (795.8) (745.3)
Capital assets, net $ 432.4 3 428.2

Long-term debt

In November 2018, the Company issued the Series 2018A Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds in the amount of
$62.87 million and Series 2018B Taxable Hospital Revenue Bonds in the amount of $91.025 million. The
proceeds of the Series 2018A Bonds, together with other funds, were used by the Company to refund all
outstanding Bonds from the Series 2008 Bond issue. The proceeds of the Series 2018B Bonds were used to
reimburse the Company for the $90 million financed as part of the Tennova West acquisition.

In Aprit 2015, the Company issued the Series 2015 Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds in the amount of
$205,965,000. The proceeds of the Series 2015 Bonds, together with other funds, were used by the Company to
advance refund $210,895,000 of the outstanding Series 2008 Bond issue.

As of June 30, 2019, the Company had $349.1 million in outstanding long-term debt and as of June 30, 2018, the
Company had $265.7 million in outstanding long-term debt. This represents a net increase of $83.4 million over
the prior fiscal year. For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Company had total outstanding debt of $355.7 million,
which included the $90 million financing as part of the Tennova West acquisition.

For more detailed information regarding the Company's capital assets and long-term debt, please refer to the
notes to the financial statements.

Future outlook

The 2019 fiscal year was one of great transition, with a revenue cycle system conversion and a significant
acquisition occurring just prior to the beginning of the year. Both projects resulted in significant disruption to

10
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operating performance. With these projects behind, the Board of Trustees and Management have a positive
outlook for the future, re-focusing the organization’s commitment to high quality care and exceptional patient
experience, while maintaining stable financial performance. The Company’s fong range financial goals have been
reviewed and updated to be consistent with what is required to maintain financial sustainability and the coming
year’s budget has been adopted accordingly. In addition, the organizational structure has been re-aligned {o focus
on accountability for performance to ensure planned improvements are realized.

Requests for information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Company's finances. Questions concerning
any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to the
Company.

11



West Tennessee Healthcare and Related Affiliates
Statements of Net Position

June 30, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable:
Patient accounts receivable, less allowances for doubtful
accounts of approximately $36,449 in 2019, and $40,097 in 2018
Other
Total accounts receivable

Inventories

Prepaid expenses

Assets limited as to use - current portion of debt service reserve fund
Total current assets

Assets limited as to use:
Debt service reserve fund
Board designated contingency fund
Other internally designated
Total assets limited as to use

Other assets:
Intangibles
Weliness Center loan receivable
Investment in joint venture
Other
Total other assets

Capital assets:
Land and land improvements
Buildings
Fixed equipment
Moveable equipment
Construction in progress

Accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets

Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred charges on refundings

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date

Difference between expected and actual pension experience

Difference between actual and projected earnings on
pension plan investments

Excess consideration provided for acquisitions

Total deferred outflows of resources

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources

See accompanying notes.

2019 2018

$ 24,266 $ 13,848
140,933 156,842
5,062 8,254
145,995 165,096
8,694 12,488
12,216 11,480
6,195 4,887
197,366 207,799

- 5,792

9,270 9,270
351,149 347,974
360,419 363,036
1,706 1,456

. 16,872

28,252 27,597
4,142 4,879
34,100 50,804
57,120 56,807
384,174 360,813
223,077 218,045
545,941 528,211
17,924 9,617
1,228,236 1,173,493
(795,804) (745,270)
432,432 428,223
1,024,317 1,049,862
26,377 27,924
13,470 12,370
5,323 4,239
4,207 7,583
8,007 8,290
57,384 60,406

$ 1,081,701 $ 1,110,268




LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and related expenses
Accrued interest expense
Other accrued expenses
Estimated third-party settlements
Bridge loan payable
Long-term debt due within one year

Total current liabilities

Other liabilities:
Long-term debt, less amounts due within one year
Net pension liability
Total other liabilities

Total liabilities

NET POSITION

Unrestricted

Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for debt service

Total net position

Total liabilities and net position

2019 2018
$ 26,609 $ 31,390
28,695 25,893
4,118 3,297
9,779 8,397
4,713 5,126
. 90,000
10,090 6,355
84,004 170,458
357,924 273,637
117,463 114,736
475,387 388,373
559,391 558,831
381,713 411,411
134,402 129,347
6,195 10,679
522,310 551,437
_$ 1,081,701 $ 1,110,268
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West Tennessee Healthcare and Related Affiliates

Statements of Revenues and Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018
(in thousands)

Operating revenues:
Net patient service revenues, net of provision for bad
debts of $68,462 in 2019, and $52,027 in 2018
Other revenues
Total operating revenues
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Supplies and other
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Operating (loss) income
Nonoperating (expenses) revenues:
Investment income
Interest expense
Contributions to affiliated entities
Acquisition costs and other
Nonoperating (expenses) revenues, net
Change in net position

Net position, beginning of year

Net position, end of year

See accompanying notes.

2019 2018

$ 830944 § 724,510
49,262 49,702
880,206 774,212
485,277 415,894
369,773 295,077
52,663 48,584
907,713 759,555
(27,507) 14,657
19,431 20,701
(17,121) (14,814)
(2,099) (958)
(1,831) (6,104)
(1,620) (1,175)
(29,127) 13,482
551,437 537,955

$ 522310 _$ 551,437
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West Tennessee Healthcare and Related Affiliates
Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands)

2019 2018
Operating activities:
Receipts from third-party payors and patients $ 850,045 $ 676,793
Receipts from other operations 49,262 49,701
Payments to suppliers (371,210) (296,545)
Payments to employees (478,556) {405,975)
Net cash provided by operating activities 49,541 23,974
Noncapital financing activity:
Capital contributions to City of Jackson and Madison County (2,099) (958)
Net cash used in noncapital financing activity {2,099) (958)
Investing activities:
Interest and dividends received 719 1,653
Purchases of investments (114,841) (90,437)
Proceeds from sales of investments 134,862 99,749
Net cash provided by investing activities 20,740 10,965
Capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition of Tennova West, including acquisition related costs - (79,038)
Purchases of capital assets (29,738) (40,594)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 971 -
Repayment of long-term debt (80,926) {6,095)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 159,060 -
Proceeds from bridge loan - 90,000
Repayment of bridge loan (90,000) -
Interest paid on long-term debt (15,300) (13,621)
Other (1,831) (277)
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (57,764) (49,625)
Change in cash and cash equivalents 10,418 (15,644)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 13,848 29,492
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 24,266 $ 13,848

See accompanying notes. 14



West Tennessee Healthcare and Related Affiliates

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

(in thousands) (Continued)

2019 2018

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Income (loss) from operations $ (27,507) $ 14,657
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Pension expense 17,389 17,705
Depreciation 52,287 48,220
Provision for bad debts 68,462 52,027
(Gain) loss on disposals of capital assets (422) 500
Amortization 376 364
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (49,361) (99,744)
Inventories and prepaid expenses 3,058 (1,423)
Other assets (261) (227)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (597) 7,626
Estimated third-party settlements (413) (3,261)
Deferred outflows - contributions to pension plan (13,400) (12,300)
Deferred outflows - contributions to 415(m) plan (70) (70)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 49,541 $ 23,974

Supplementary schedule of noncash investing activities:
Change in fair value of investments $ 18,712 3 19,048

Supplementary schedule of noncash capital and
related financing activities:
Capital asset acquired through forgiveness

of Wellness Center Loan Receivable $ 16,872 $ -
Capital asset acquired with capital leases $ 10,435 $ -
Deferred outflows of resources recognized for

loss on defeasance of debt $ 847 $ -

See accompanying notes. 15



West Tennessee Healthcare and Related Affiliates
Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

1.  Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and basis of presentation

The accompanying financial statements include West Tennessee Healthcare and its related affiliates (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the "Company"), all of which are under common control of the Jackson-Madison County
General Hospital District (the "District”) and have been presented as blended component units ("BCUs") of the
Company. We consider Jackson-Madison County General Hospital, Bolivar General Hospital, Camden General
Hospital, Milan General Hospital, Volunteer Martin Hospital, Dyersburg Hospital, Pathways Behavioral Health,
LIFT Therapy, Health Partners, Therapy & Learning Center and the West Tennessee Medical Group BCUs of
West Tennessee Healthcare, as the governing body is substantively the same as the governing body of West
Tennessee Healthcare and has operational responsibility of those component units. The Company presents its
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Proprietary fund accounting

The Company utilizes the economic resources measurement focus and the proprietary fund method of accounting
whereby revenues and expenses are recognized on an accrual basis. Substantially all revenues and expenses
are subject to accrual.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers temporary cash investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to
be cash and cash equivalents. In accordance with Tennessee Code Annotated Section 9-1-118, the full amount of
principal and any accrued interest of each such deposit is insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
("FDIC"). For deposits above and beyond the amount covered by the FDIC, the Company follows the
requirements as set forth in Tennessee Code Annotated Title 9 Chapter 4, Part 5, “Collateral Pool for Public
Deposits Act of 1990,” whereby “Local governments with bank deposits that are in excess of the amount covered
by FDIC insurance must either maintain the deposit with a bank that is a member of the bank collateral pool or
collateralize the deposit in accordance with State statues.”

Investments

The Company's investments are reported at fair value in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards
Board ("GASB") Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, which establishes a fair value
hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy, which has three levels, is based on the valuation inputs used to measure an
asset's fair value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are
significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The fair values of
investments in certain private equity, hedge and real estate funds are based on the investments’ net asset value
(“NAV”) per share (or its equivalent) provided by the fund manager. The Company invests in government bonds,
short-term money market investments, equity securities and alternative investments that are in accordance with
the Company's investment policy. Alternative investments include the Company's ownership interest in limited
partnerships and hedge, private equity and real estate investment funds.

Changes in fair value that occur during a fiscal year are recognized as investment income reported for that fiscal
year. Investment income includes interest earnings, changes in fair value, and any gains or losses realized upon
the liquidation or sale of investments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market.
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(in thousands)

Assets limited as to use

Assets limited as to use represent investments and temporary cash deposits set aside for muitiple purposes:

« Funds by trustee under trust indentures

» To self-insure against malpractice and other general liability claims
e For future renovation, replacement, and expansion of the facilities
+ To replenish operating funds as needed

The types of securities that are permitted investments for Company funds are established by the Company's
Investment Policy in accordance with Tennessee Statutes. All funds of the Company may be invested in
obligations of or guaranteed by the United States Government. In addition, certain funds of the Company may be
invested in obligations of agencies of the U.S. government; obligations of or guaranteed by the State of
Tennessee; collateralized certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements; commercial paper; and other asset
classes including fixed income, domestic equities, international equities, and alternative investments.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 40 years.

Capital assets

Property, plant, and equipment are recorded on the basis of cost. Depreciation is computed by applying the
straight-line method over the estimated remaining useful lives of buildings and improvements (10 to 40 years) and
equipment (4 to 20 years). Assets under capital leases are amortized using the straight-line method over the
shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets or life of the lease term, excluding any lease renewal, unless the
lease renewals are reasonably assured. Amortization expense related to assets under capital leases is included
in depreciation expense. The Company's capitalization threshold is $1 and a minimum useful fife of 2 years.

Deferred outflows/inflows of resources

In addition to assets, the statements of net position report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources.
Deferred outflows of resources represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so
will not be recognized as outflow of resources (expense) until then. In addition to liabilities, the statements of net
position report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. Deferred inflows of resources represents an
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources
(revenue) until that time. The Company's deferred inflows and outflows are related to pensions, excess
consideration provided for acquisitions and deferred charges on bond refundings.

Compensated absences

The Company allows employees to accumulate paid time off to be used for vacation, holiday and sick time. The
Company allows employees to be paid for their vacation and holiday time not taken and accrues its liability for
such time. Such liability is classified as accrued compensation and related expenses in the accompanying
statements of net position.

Defined benefit pension plans

For purposes of measuring the 2019 and 2018 net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
Company's defined benefit pension plans and additions to/deductions from the Company's fiduciary net position
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the plans. For this purpose, benefit payments
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair
value.
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(in thousands)

Bond original issue discounts or premiums

Bond original issue discounts or premiums are included with the long-term debt accounts and are amortized over
the life of the related bonds by the interest method. Such amortization is included in interest expense in the
accompanying statements of revenues and expenses and changes in net position.

Patient accounts receivable

Patient accounts receivable are reported net of both an estimated allowance for contractual adjustments and an
estimated allowance for uncollectible accounts. The contractual allowance represents the difference between
established billing rates and estimated reimbursement from Medicare, TennCare and other third-party payor
programs. The bad debt allowance is estimated based upon the age of the account, prior experience and any
unusual circumstances which affect the collectability. The Company does not require collateral or other security
for patient accounts receivable and routinely accepts assignment of, or is otherwise entitled to receive, patient
benefits payable under health insurance programs, plans or policies.

Charity care and community benefit

As a community provider, the Company's policy is to accept all patients regardless of their ability to pay.
Management believes that substantially all the uncollected amounts are due to patients' inability to pay.
Therefore, all amounts which are not collected, other than third-party payor contractual adjustments, are recorded
as charity care and excluded from net patient service revenues. In April 2015, the Company implemented a
presumptive charity program, which is designed to provide financial assistance for non-glective services to
individuals who meet approved eligibility criteria that have not applied through the traditional Patient Financial
Assistance Program. Evaluation for presumptive charity begins at 90 days from initial patient billing, and
determinations are made based upon obtainable credit history and estimated household income. As a result of
this program, deductions to revenue that were considered bad debts in prior years are now considered to be
charity care. The community benefit provided through charity care, including provisions for bad debts, was
$107,161 and $91,575, based on gross charges, for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The
estimated costs of providing charity services are based on a calculation, which applies a ratio of costs to charges
to the gross uncompensated charges associated with providing care to charity patients. The ratio of cost to
charges is calculated based on the Company’s total expenses divided by gross patient service revenue. The
estimated cost of providing such services amounted to approximately $28,668 and $29,147 for 2019 and 2018,
respectively.

EHR incentive payments

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 included provisions for implementing health information
technology under the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act ("HITECH"). The
provisions were designed to increase the use of electronic health record ("EHR") technology and establish the
requirements for a Medicare and Medicaid incentive payment program beginning in 2011 for eligible providers
that adopt and meaningfully use certified EHR technology. Eligibility for annual Medicare incentive payments is
dependent on providers demonstrating meaningful use of EHR technology in each period over a four-year period.
Initial Medicaid incentive payments are available to providers that adopt, implement or upgrade certified EHR
technology. Providers must demonstrate meaningful use of such technology in subsequent years to qualify for
additional Medicaid incentive payments.

Net patient service revenues

Net patient service revenues are reported at the net amounts billed to patients, third-party payors and others for
services rendered, including an estimated provision for bad debts and estimated retroactive adjustments under
reimbursement agreements with third-party payors. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an estimated basis in
the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as changes in estimated provisions
and final settlements are determined. Changes in estimated provisions and final settlements are included in net
patient service revenues. Changes in estimated settlements resulted in an increase in net patient service
revenues of $3,191 and $3,458 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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(in thousands)

The Company has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments to the Company at amounts
different from its established rates. A summary of the payment arrangements with major third-party payors
follows:

Medicare

Inpatient acute care services and skilled nursing services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid at
prospectively determined rates per discharge. These rates vary according to a patient classification system that is
based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. The Company receives additional payments from Medicare based
on the provision of services to a disproportionate share of Medicaid-eligible and other low income patients. The
Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS") established an outpatient prospective payment system. CMS
established groups called ambulatory payment classifications for outpatient procedures. Payments are made
based on the group assignment for the service rendered. Additionally, CMS established a prospective payment
system for home health services.

TennCare

The Company contracts with managed care organizations to receive reimbursement for providing hospital
services to patients covered under the TennCare program. Payment arrangements with these managed care
organizations consist primarily of prospectively determined rates per discharge, discounts from established
charges or prospectively determined daily rates.

Other

The Company has also entered into payment agreements with certain commercial insurance carriers, health
maintenance organizations and preferred provider organizations. The bases for payment to the Company under
these agreements include prospectively determined rates per discharge, discounts from established charges or
prospectively determined daily rates.

Charges at the Company's established billing rates (gross patient service charges) related to patients covered by
Medicare, Medicaid, and TennCare programs were 69% and 67% of gross patient service revenues for the fiscal
years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Charges exceeding amounts reimbursed and not included in net patient service revenues were as follows:

2019 2018
Medicare $ 1,399,769 $ 919,132
TennCare 488,477 292,637
Other 676,165 463,842
Bad debts 68,462 52,027

$ 2632873 $§ 1727.638

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and TennCare/Medicaid programs are complex and subject to
interpretation. As a result, there is at least a reasonable possibility that recorded estimates will change by a
material amount in the near term. The estimated reimbursement amounts are adjusted in subsequent periods as
cost reports are prepared and filed and as final settlements are determined (in relation to certain government
programs, primarily Medicare, this is generally referred to as the "cost report" filing and settlement process). Final
determination of amounts earned under prospective payment and cost reimbursement activities is subject to
review by appropriate governmental authorities or their agents. Management believes that adequate provisions
have been made for adjustments that may result from final determination of amounts earned under Medicare and
Medicaid programs.
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(in thousands)

Essential access, critical access, Federal Medical Assistance Percentage and Medicaid Disproportionate Share
payments of approximately $6,781 and $6,207 received from TennCare/Medicaid were included in net patient
service revenues during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The Company believes that it is in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. Compliance with such
laws and regulations can be subject to future government review and interpretation as well as significant
regulatory action including fines, penalties, and exclusion from the Medicare and TennCare/Medicaid programs.

Operating revenues and expenses

The Company's primary mission is to provide heaith care services to the citizens of West Tennessee through its
acute care and specialty care facilities. Therefore, operating revenues and expenses include those generated
from direct patient care and sundry revenues and expenses related to the operation of the Company's facilities.

Federal income taxes

The Internal Revenue Service has determined that all material affiliates comprising the Company are exempt from
federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code ("IRC"). The District is also exempt
from federal income taxes under Section 115 of the IRC. As qualified tax-exempt organizations, each of the tax-
exempt affiliates comprising the Company must operate in conformity with the IRC to maintain its tax-exempt
status.

Recent accounting pronouncements

GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and
local governments. The focus of the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets of
the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria are
included to identify fiduciary component units and postemployment benefit arrangements that are fiduciary
activities. An activity meeting the criteria should be reported in a fiduciary fund in the basic financial statements.
Governments with activities meeting the criteria should present a statement of fiduciary net position and a
statement of changes in fiduciary net position. An exception to that requirement is provided for a business-type
activity that normally expects to hold custodial assets for three months or less. This Statement describes four
fiduciary funds that should be reported, if applicable: (1) pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds, (2)
investment trust funds, (3) private-purpose trust funds, and (4) custodial funds. Custodial funds generally should
report fiduciary activities that are not held in a trust or equivalent arrangement that meets specific criteria. A
fiduciary component unit, when reported in the fiduciary fund financial statements of a primary government,
should combine its information with its component units that are fiduciary component units and aggregate that
combined information with the primary government’s fiduciary funds. This Statement also provides for recognition
of a liability to the beneficiaries in a fiduciary fund when an event has occurred that compels the government to
disburse fiduciary resources. Events that compel a government to disburse fiduciary resources occur when a
demand for the resources has been made or when no further action, approval, or condition is required to be taken
or met by the beneficiary to release the assets. The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2018 (the Company’s fiscal year 2020).

GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, has the objective to better meet the information needs of financial statement
users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments. This Statement increases the
usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for
leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of
resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting
based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this
Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a
lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the
relevance and consistency of information about governments’ leasing activities. The requirements of this
Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019 (the Company's fiscal year
2021).
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GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period,
establishes accounting requirements for interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period. Such
interest cost includes all interest that previously was accounted for in accordance with the requirements of
paragraphs 5-22 of Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in
Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, which are superseded by this Statement. This
Statement requires that interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period be recognized as an
expense in the period in which the cost is incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic
resources measurement focus. As a result, interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period will not
be included in the historical cost of a capital asset reported in a business-type activity or enterprise fund. This
Statement also reiterates that in financial statements prepared using the current financial resources measurement
focus, interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period should be recognized as an expenditure on a
basis consistent with governmental fund accounting principles. The requirements of this Statement are effective
for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019 (the Company'’s fiscal year 2021 )

GASB Statement No. 80, Majority Equity Interests — an Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No.61, has
the primary objective of improving the consistency and comparability of reporting a government's majority equity
interest in a legally separate organization and to improve the relevance of financial statement information for
certain component units. It defines a majority equity interest and specifies that a majority equity interest in a
legally separate organization should be reported as an investment if a government's holding of the equity interest
meets the definition of an investment. A majority equity interest that meets the definition of an investment should
be measured using the equity method, unless it is held by a special-purpose government engaged only in
fiduciary activities, a fiduciary fund, or an endowment (including permanent and term endowments) or permanent
fund. Those governments and funds should measure the maijority equity interest at fair value. For all other
holdings of a majority equity interest in a legally separate organization, a government should report the legally
separate organization as a component unit, and the government or fund that holds the equity interest should
report an asset related to the majority equity interest using the equity method. The requirements of this Statement
are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018 (the Company’s fiscal year 2020).

GASB Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations, has the primary objective of providing a single method of
reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice associated with (1) commitments
extended by issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations, and (3) related note disclosures.
This Statement achieves those objectives by clarifying the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation;
establishing that a conduit debt obligation is not a liability of the issuer; establishing standards for accounting and
financial reporting of additional commitments and voluntary commitments extended by issuers and arrangements
associated with conduit debt obligations; and improving required note disclosures. The requirements of this
Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020 (the Company's fiscal year
2022).

Management is evaluating the impact that the adoption of these standards will have on the financial statements.

2. Business Combination

On May 31, 2018, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Community Health Systems in West
Tennessee, operating locally under the brand Tennova Healthcare (hereafter referred to as “Tennova West"). The
acquired operations included three hospitals, 19 clinics, and an EMS operation. The acquired hospitals were
located in Dyersburg, Martin, and Jackson, Tennessee. The acquisition will enhance the Company's ability to
fulfill its mission in a sustainable business model, with the goal of improving quality and access to care for west
Tennesseans. The acquisition is consistent with the Company's strategic vision of becoming a more complete
health system. On June 1, 2018, the Company began operation of the acquired services, maintaining the same
level of service in each location with the exception of the hospital located in Jackson, which became a satellite of
the Company’s flagship hospital, Jackson-Madison County General Hospital. The satellite campus is located just
4.7 miles from the flagship hospital. The purchase included fixed assets and limited working capital. The total
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purchase price was $73,211, adjusted for working capital settlements at closing. The Company obtained $90,000
in interim financing to fund the transaction and support working capital during provider enroliment. The Company
obtained permanent financing during fiscal year 2019, with Series 2018A and Series 2018B bond issues.
Acquisition related expenses incurred in fiscal year 2018 were $5,827.

The Company recorded the acquisition in accordance with GASB Statement No. 69, Government Combinations
and Disposals of Operations. Under Statement No. 69, all assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred
inflows are recognized at acquisition value.

The following summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of the three hospitals as of
the acquisition date:

Assets acquired:

Current assets $ 6,733
Fixed assets 65,303
identifiable intangible assets 3398
Other assets 2622
Total assets 74,997
Liabilities assumed:
Current liabilities assumed 1,786
Net position acquired $ 73,211

3. New Accounting Standards

Effective July 1, 2018, the Company adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement
Obligations, which addresses accounting and financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations ("“AROs").
An ARO is a legally enforceable liability associated with the retirement of a tangible capital asset. A government
that has legal obligations to perform future asset retirement activities related to its tangible capital assets should
recognize a liability based on the guidance in this Statement. This Statement establishes criteria for determining
the timing and pattern of recognition of a liability and a corresponding deferred outflow of resources for AROs.
This Statement requires that recognition occur when the liability is both incurred and reasonably estimable. The
determination of when the liability is incurred should be based on the occurrence of external laws, regulations,
contracts, or court judgments, together with the occurrence of an internal event that obligates a government to
perform asset retirement activities. Laws and regulations may require governments to take specific actions to
retire certain tangible capital assets at the end of the useful lives of those capital assets, such as
decommissioning nuclear reactors and dismantling and removing sewage treatment plants. Other obligations to
retire tangible capital assets may arise from contracts or court judgments. Internal obligating events include the
occurrence of contamination, placing into operation a tangible capital asset that is required to be retired,
abandoning a tangible capital asset before it is placed into operation, or acquiring a tangible capital asset that has
an existing ARO. The adoption of this standard had no effect on the Company’s statements of net position or
statements of revenues and expenses and changes in net position.

Effective July 1, 2018, the Company adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures
Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct Placements, which modifies the disclosure requirements
in notes to government financial statements related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct placements. It
also clarifies which liabilities governments should include when disclosing information related to debt. This
Statement defines debt for purposes of disclosure in notes to financial statements as a liability that arises from a
contractual obligation to pay cash (or other assets that may be used in lieu of cash) in one or more payments to
settle an amount that is fixed at the date the contractual obligation is established. This Statement requires that
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additional essential information related to debt be disclosed in notes to financial statements, including unused
lines of credit; assets pledged as collateral for the debt; and terms specified in debt agreements related to
significant events of default with finance-related consequences, significant termination events with finance-related
consequences, and significant subjective acceleration clauses. For notes to financial statements related to debt,
this Statement also requires that existing and additional information be provided for direct borrowings and direct
placements of debt separately from other debt. The adoption of this standard had no effect on the Company’s
statements of net position or statements of revenues and expenses and changes in net position. The adoption
required the Company to disclose additional information related to events of default and acceleration clauses
related to the Series 2018 and Series 2015 bonds.

4. Assets Limited as to Use

The Company, as authorized by the Board of Trustees, maintains checking accounts necessary for daily
operations and deposits and investments for debt service reserve funds, the contingency fund, and other
internally designated funds.

Debt service reserve funds

The bond funds are maintained in accordance with the bond indentures related to the Series 2008 $318,980
Hospital Revenue Refunding and Improvement Bonds and the Series 2015 $205,965 Hospital Revenue
Refunding Bonds (see Note 9). The interest fund and bond sinking fund are maintained for the payment of bond
principal and interest. A debt service reserve fund was created under the existing indenture in connection with the
issuance of the Series 2008 Bonds and this fund was eliminated in 2018 subsequent to the Series 2018A bond
issue that refunded all outstanding Series 2008 bonds. The debt service reserve fund was maintained to make up
any deficiencies in the interest fund and bond sinking fund. No debt service reserve fund was required in
connection with the Series 2015, Series 2018A or Series 2018B bonds. Certain amounts comprising the interest
fund, bond sinking fund and debt service reserve fund are included in the current portion of assets limited as to
use in the accompanying statements of net position based on debt service requirements during the following fiscal
year. The Company first applies restricted resources when expenses are incurred for purposes for which both
restricted and unrestricted assets are available.

Board designated contingency fund and other internally designated

The Company established a board designated contingency fund for losses on self-insured professional liability
claims. The Company also reserves funds for future purchases of capital assets and other internal purposes, and
these funds are included in other internally designated assets limited as to use.

5. Cash and Investments

At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company had cash and deposits as follows:

2019 2018

Cash on hand $ 19 $ 13
Cash insured (FDIC) or collateralized with securities held by

the Company 1,425 906
Cash collateralized by securities held by the pledging financial

institution's trust department in the Company's name or in the

State of Tennessee Collateral Pool 22,822 12,929
Total $ 24,266 3 13,848
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Assets limited as to use consist of the following investments which are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis. Recurring fair value measurements are those that GASB statements require or permit on the statements of
net position at the end of each reporting period. Fair value measurements are categorized based on the valuation
inputs used to measure an asset’s fair value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.

Prices for investment securities such as common stocks and mutual funds are readily available in the active
markets in which those securities are traded, and the resulting fair values are categorized as Level 1.

Prices for preferred stock, corporate bonds, U.S. government and agency fixed income securities, collateralized
debt obligations and mortgage-backed securities are determined on a recurring basis based on inputs that are
readily available in public markets or can be derived from information available in publicly quoted markets and are
categorized as Level 2.

There is limited or no observable data for the price of the private limited partnership fund, and the resulting fair
value is categorized as Level 3. The fair value of this investment was estimated based primarily on the value of
the underlying investments held by the fund and other information provided by the fund manager.

investments’ fair value measurements are as follows at June 30, 2019 and 2018:

2019 Fair Value Measurements Using
Fair Value Level 1inputs Level2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs
Mutual funds:
Money market $ 7,682 $ 7,682 $ - $ -
Fixed income 20,610 20,610 - -
Balanced 8.830 8,830 - -
37,122 37,122 - -
Common stock 582 582 - -
Limited partnership fund of funds 1,685 - - 1,685
Total investments in the fair value hierarchy 39,389 $ 37,704 $ - $ 1,685
Investments measured at NAV 327,225
Total investments $ 366614
2018 Fair Value Measurements Using
Fair Value Level 1Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs
Mutual funds:
Money market $ 10,816 $ 10,816 § - 8 -
Balanced 17,418 17,418 - -
Fixed income 25074 25074 - -
53,308 53,308 - -
Common stock 538 538 - -
Limited partnership fund of funds 2,110 - - 2,110
Total investments in the fair value hierarchy 55,956 $ 53846 § - 8 2,110
Investments measured at NAV 311,967
Total investments $ 367923

The fair values of investments in certain private equity and hedge funds are based on the investments’ NAV per
share (or its equivalent) provided by the fund manager. Investments valued at NAV are as follows at June 30,
2019 and 2018;

24



West Tennessee Healthecare and Related Affiliates
Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

2019 2018 Unfunded Redemption Redemption
Fair Value Fair Value Commitments _Frequency Notice Period
Limited partnerships and hedge funds
Equity fund @ $ 136,034* §  127,311* None Daily None
Core fixed income 75,301 * 78,801* None Daily None
Public inflation hedge © 28,536 * 30,248* None Daily None
Real estate limited partnership @ 36,959 * 34,751* None Quarterly 60 days
Direct hedged equity fund ® 32,757 * 29,032* None Monthly 100 days
Private equity fund — global @ 13,174 11,824 None Quarterly 30 days
Private equity funds ©@ 4,464 - $1,451 (9) N/A

$§ 327225 § 311967

*Denotes an investment that is more than 5% of total investments.

@ This common and collective trust fund is primarily invested in common stocks and exchange traded mutual funds in
the United States and globally. The fair value of this investment has been estimated using the net asset value as
provided by the hedge fund manager.

®  This common and collective trust fund is primarily invested in a broad range of fixed income securities, including
commercial mortgage - backed securities, U.S. and global corporate bonds, and U.S. government securities.

©  This common and collective trust fund’s objective is to provide a partial hedge against inflation through a basket of
inflation-sensitive assets. The fund holds investments in common stocks, exchange traded mutual funds and a broad
range of fixed income securities in the U.S. and globally. Additionally, the fund is invested in derivatives and interest
rate swaps.

@ This real estate mortgage fund actively manages a core portfolio consisting primarily of participating mortgage loans
and equity real estate investments located in the United States.

©®  This common and collective trust fund invests in a number of alternative strategies through the use of separate
accounts and limited partnerships. The objective is to provide a long-term total return with reduced volatility and
reduced correlation to conventional stock and bond markets by utilizing a broad array of trading and investment
strategies.

O This semi-liquid investment fund provides diversified private markets exposure in a registered investment company
vehicle. 70% of the portfolio will be allocated to private equity, 20% to private debt, and the remaining 10% in liquid
investments for cash management purposes.

@®  This investment is an illiquid investment that provides dedicated exposure to private equity investments. Investments
in this fund cannot be redeemed. Rather, investments will be made for the first 5 years of the fund, and redemptions
will be made as the underlying assets of the fund are liquidated. Final redemption could exceed 10 years. Because it
is not probable that any of the investment will be sold prior to redemption, the fair value of the investment has been
determined using the NAV per share of the Company’s ownership interest.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures, the Company has
assessed the custodial credit risk, the concentration of credit risk, credit risk, and interest rate risk of its cash and
investments.

Custodial credit risk

The Company's deposits are exposed to custodial credit risk if they are not covered by depository insurance and
the deposits are uncollateralized or are collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution's
trust department or agent but not in the depositor-government's name. The deposit risk is that, in the event of the
failure of a depository financial institution, the Company will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to
recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Company's investment securities
are exposed to custodial credit risk if the securities are uninsured, are not registered in the name of the Company,
and are held by either the counterparty or the counterparty's trust department or agent but not in the Company's
name. The investment risk is that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a transaction, the Company will
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not be able to recover the value of the investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside
party.

At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company's bank balances were not exposed to custodial credit risk since the full
amount was covered by FDIC insurance or collateralized by securities held by the pledging financial institution's
trust department in the Company's name or by the State of Tennessee Collateral Pool.

As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company's investments in assets limited as to use were registered in the
Company's name; therefore, they are not exposed to custodial credit risk. In addition, the Company's investment
policy requires that specific qualifications be met in order to represent the Company as a custodian.

Concentration of credit risk

This is the risk associated with the amount of investments the Company has with any one issuer that exceeds 5%
or more of its total investments. Investments issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government and
investments in mutual funds, external investment pools, and other pooled investments are excluded from this
requirement. The Company's investment policy states that no equity may represent more than 8% of any
individual portfolio manager and that no single purchase shall represent more than 5% of the Company's total
equity position.

Credit risk

GASB Statement No. 40 requires that disclosure be made as to the credit rating of all debt security investments
except for obligations of the U.S. government or obligations explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government. This is
the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. The Company's
investment policy provides guidelines for its fund managers and lists specific allowable investments. The policy
provides for the utilization of varying styles of managers so that portfolio diversification is maximized and total
portfolio efficiency is enhanced.

The credit risk profile of the Company's investments as of June 30, 2019, is as follows:

Balance Rating
June 30, 2018 AAA AA+/AAIAA- A+/AA- NA

Money market mutual funds $ 7,682 $ 7,682 $ - $ - $ -
Real estate limited

partnership at NAV 36,959 - - - 36,959
Fixed income mutual fund 20,610 6,072 1,237 7,007 6,294
Balanced mutual fund 8,830 - - - 8,830
Common stock 582 - - - 582
Limited partnerships 1,685 - - - 1,685
Common and collective

trust funds 272,628 62,414 5477 6,647 198,090
Private equity funds 17,638 - - - 17.638
Total investments 366,614 76,168 6,714 13,654 270,078
Amounts required to

meet current obligations (6,195) (6,195) - - -

$ 360419 % 69973 $ 6,714 $_ 13654 §__ 270078
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Interest rate risk

This is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. The Company's
investment policy authorizes a strategic asset allocation that is designed to provide an optimal return over the
Company's investment horizon and within the Company's risk tolerance and cash requirements.

The distribution of the Company's investments by maturity as of June 30, 2019, is as follows:

Balance Maturity
June 30, 12 Months 12to 24 24 to 60 More than
2019 orless Months Months 60 Months NA
Money market
mutual funds $ 7682 $ 7682 3% - 3 -3 - $ -
Real estate limited
partnership at NAV 36,959 - - - - 36,959
Fixed income mutual fund 20,610 17,397 3,213 - - -
Balanced mutual fund 8,830 - - - - 8,830
Common stock 582 - - - - 582
Limited partnerships 1,685 - - - - 1,685
Common and collective
trust funds 272,628 - - - 89,570 183,058
Private equity hedge fund 17.638 - - - - 17.638
Total investments 366,614 25,079 3,213 - 89,570 248,752
Amounts required to
meet current obligations (6,195) (6,195) - - - -
$ 360419 $ 18884 § 3213 & - $ 89570 § 248752
For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, investment income is comprised of the following:
2019 2018
Interest and dividends $ 719 $ 1,653
Net increase in fair value of investments 18,712 19,048

§ 10431 § 20701

6. Wellness Center Loan Receivable

During fiscal year 2012, Jackson-Madison County General Hospital executed a promissory note with the WF
Healthy Community Investment Fund, LLC in the amount of $186,872 for development of the Wellness Center,
known as the LIFT at the Jackson Walk development in downtown Jackson. This note bore an interest rate of
4.25% until maturity and was payable quarterly. In October 2018, the Company purchased the LIFT Wellness
Center. The Wellness Center was purchased for $19,172, which consisted of $2,300 in cash in addition to the
$16,872 million that was provided in 2012.
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7.  Disaggregation of Payable Balances

Accounts payable at June 30, 2019 and 2018, consisted of the following:

2019 2018
Due to vendors $ 23,416 $ 28,275
Due to patients and third-party payers 3,120 2,464
Other 73 651
Total accounts payable $ 26609 $ 31,390
Other accrued expenses at June 30, 2019 and 2018, consisted of the following:
2019 2018
Self-insured professional liability $ 4,242 $ 4,037
Self-insured employee health claims liability 4,503 3,861
Other 1,034 499
Total other accrued expenses $ 97719 3 8.397
8. Capital Assets
Capital assets activity for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, consisted of the following:
Balance Balance
June 30, 2018 Additions Transfers Reductions June 30, 2019
Land $ 40,609 $ 149 $ 3 66) $ 40,692
Land improvements 16,198 8 227 (5) 16,428
Building 360,813 19,147 4,844 (630) 384,174
Equipment 746,256 18,874 5,489 (1,601) 769.018
1,163,876 38,178 10,560 (2,302) 1,210,312
ClP 9.617 18,867 (10.560) - 17,924
Total capital assets 1,173,493 57,045 - (2,302) 1,228,236
Accumulated depreciation (745,270) (52,287) - 1.753 (795,804)
Net capital assets b 428223 §_ 4758 § - 3 (549) $ 432,432
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Balance Balance

June 30, 2017 Additions Transfers Reductions June 30, 2018

Land $ 35220 $ 5388 § - % - $ 40,609

Land improvements 15,950 95 156 3 16,198

Building 311,493 47,524 1,916 (120) 360,813

Equipment 686.879 36,752 26,710 (4,085) 746,256

1,049,542 89,760 28,782 (4,208) 1,163,876

CIP 22,260 16,137 (28.782) 2 9617

Total capital assets 1,071,802 105,897 - (4,206) 1,173,493
Accumulated depreciation (700,756) (48.220) - 3.706 (745,270)

Net capital assets 3 371046 § 576717 % - $ (500) $ 428,223

Depreciation expense totaled $52,287 and $48,220, during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018,

respectively.

Construction in progress at June 30, 2019, consists of various projects for additions and renovations to the
Company's facilities. The Company has outstanding contracts and other commitments related to the completion of

these projects. The Company estimates approximately $5,675 in costs to complete these projects.

9.

Long-term debt consists of the following at June 30, 2019 and 2018:

Hospital Revenue Bonds, Series 2008
Less unamortized bond discount
Hospital Revenue Bonds, Series 2015
Plus unamortized bond premium
Hospital Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A
Plus unamortized bond premium
Hospital Revenue Bonds, Series 2018B
Capital leases payable

Amount due within one year, Series 2008
Amount due within one year, Series 2015
Amount due within one year, Series 2018A
Amount due within one year, Series 2018B
Amount due within one year, Capital leases

Total amounts due within one year

Total long-term debt less amounts due within one year

Long-Term Debt, Capital Lease Obligations and Bridge Loan

2019 2018
$ - 3 73,425
. (872)

187,635 192,305

13,932 15,134

60,980 -

4,948 -

90,480 -

10,039 -

368,014 279,992

- (1,685)

(4,900) (4,670)

(1,585) -

(1,520) -

(2,085) -

(10,090) (6,355)

$ 357924 § 273,637

In November 2018, the Company issued $62,870 of Series 2018A Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds and
$91,025 of Series 2018B Taxable Hospital Revenue Bonds. The proceeds of the Series 2018A Bonds, together
with other funds, were used by the Company to refund all outstanding Bonds from the Series 2008 Bond issue.
The proceeds of the Series 2018B Bonds were used to reimburse the Company for the $30,000 bridge loan
financing that was obtained for the Tennova West acquisition. The difference between the reacquisition price
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($159,060) and the net carrying value of the old debt ($159,907) resulted in a loss of $847, which was recorded
as deferred outflows of resources in the accompanying statements of net position and is being amortized over the
remaining life of the Series 2008 Bonds (through 2041).

In April 2015, the District issued $205,965 of Series 2015 Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds. The proceeds of
the Series 2015 Bonds, together with other funds, were used by the District to advance refund $210,895 of the
outstanding Series 2008 Hospital Revenue Refunding and Improvement Bonds. The difference between the
reacquisition price ($241,465) and the net carrying value of the old debt ($207,897) resulted in a loss of $33,568,
which was recorded as deferred outflows of resources in the accompanying statements of net position and is
being amortized over the remaining life of the Series 2008 Bonds (through 2041).

In August 2008, the District issued $318,980 of Series 2008 Hospital Revenue Refunding and Improvement
Bonds. With the 2008 fixed rate bond issue, the District has eliminated all auction rate and variable rate debt. A
portion of the proceeds was used to refund $78,350 of its Series 2003 Auction Rate Hospital Revenue Bonds;
$48,725 of its Series 2006A Auction Rate Hospital Revenue Bonds; and $143,600 of its Series 2006B Variable
Demand Rate Hospital Revenue Refunding and Improvement Bonds. A Debt Service Reserve Fund was created
under the 2008 indenture. On the date of issuance of the 2008 bonds, $21,300 of the proceeds of the 2008 bonds
were deposited in the Debt Service Reserve Fund.

The District's revenues are pledged as collateral to the Series 2018 and Series 2015 Bonds. Interest rates range
from 3.25% to 5.31% on the Series 2018 Bonds and 2.0% to 5.25% on the Series 2015 Bonds. The District's
Series 2018 and Series 2015 Bonds contain covenant and default provisions as defined in the agreements,
including the requirement to maintain rates such that net revenue available for debt service in a given fiscal year
be greater than 110% of the principal and interest payment requirements for all debt for such fiscal year. In the
event that the District violates this covenant by not maintaining such ratio, the District has the ability to cure the
violation as defined in the agreement. The inability to cure the violation would result in a default. In each and
every case of default, unless cured by the District within 30 days after written notice, the outstanding amounts can
become due immediately upon approval of the bondholders.

In May 2018, the Company obtained a $90,000 bridge loan in order to finance the acquisition of Tennova West.
The note bore interest at a rate of three-month LIBOR plus .65%, with interest due quarterly beginning June 30,
2018. The loan was collateralized by revenues of the District. On October 1, 2018, the Company repaid all
borrowings and interest on the bridge loan.

Capital lease obligations

The Company entered into capital lease agreements, whereby it is leasing certain equipment through 2029. At
June 30, 2019, the carrying value of equipment held under these leases totaled $10,435 (no depreciation has
been recorded as the equipment has not been placed in service as of June 30, 2019).

Minimum future lease payments under the capital leases at June 30, 2019, are as follows:

2020 $ 2,444
2021 2,244
2022 2,244
2023 2,244
2023 1,521
Thereafter 368
11,065
Less: Amount representing interest (1.026)
Present value of net minimum lease payments 10,039
Less: Current maturities (2,085)
Long-term maturities of capital lease 3 7,954

30



West Tennessee Healthcare and Related Affiliates

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

Long-term debt and bridge loan activity (excluding unamortized bond premium or discount) for the years ended
June 30, 2019 and 2018, consisted of the following:

June 30, June 30, June 30,
2017 Additions Reductions 2018 Additions Reductions 2019
Bonds payable $ 271,825 $ - $ 6,095 $ 265,730 $ 153,895 $ 80,530 $ 339,095
Bridge loan - 90,000 - 90,000 - 90,000 -
Capital leases - - - - 10,435 396 10,039
Total $ 271825 § 90000 $ 6005 § 355730 § 164330 § 170926 $ 349,134

Scheduled principal and interest payments, including bonds payable and capital leases, are as follows:

Fiscal years ending June 30:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025-2029
2030-2034
2035-2039
2040-2044
2045-2048

Unamortized bond premium, net

Total

10. Leases

Total Debt
Principal Interest Service

$ 10,090 $ 16,787 $ 26,877
10,347 16,329 26,676
10,832 15,847 26,679
11,340 15,340 26,680
11,140 14,810 25,950
56,206 66,331 122,537
71,200 50,951 122,151
90,740 31,408 122,148
55,744 11,426 67,170
21,495 2,927 24,422
349,134 242 156 591,290
18,880 - 18,880

$ 368,014 3 242 156 3 610,170

The Company leases equipment under various operating leases. Rent expense for all operating leases and office
space was approximately $9,216 and $6,181 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Approximate minimum future rental payments, by year and in the aggregate, under noncancellable operating
leases with initial terms of one year or more are as follows at June 30, 2019:;

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025-2029
2030-2034
2035

4,855
3,619
3,339
3,068
1,999
6,816
918
70

§ 24684
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11. Retirement Plans

The Company maintains and administers a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan, a defined contribution
plan, a supplemental 415(m) plan, and other post-employment benefits plan. The operation of the plans is
consistent with the laws of Tennessee and the United States federal government.

The Company's net pension liability as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, consists of the following:

2019 2018

Defined benefit pension plan $ 116,371 $ 113,704
Supplemental 415(m) plan 1,092 1,032

$ 117,463 $ 114,736

Defined benefit pension plan

The West Tennessee Healthcare Pension Pian (the "Plan") is a single-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the District. All employees hired after October 1, 2005, and prior to June 30, 2010, are covered
on the fifth anniversary of their date of hire after they have completed at least 1,800 hours of employment per
year. The Plan was discontinued for employees hired after June 30, 2010. The Plan provides retirement,
termination, disability, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. The Plan issues a publicly available
financial report that can be obtained from the Company’s Internal Audit Department, 620 Skyline Drive, Jackson,
Tennessee 38301.

Normal retirement benefits for employees hired prior to October 1, 2005, are calculated as one-twelfth of 1.2% of
the employee’s highest consecutive 5-year average salary, plus .65% of average compensation in excess of
covered compensation, as defined, for each year of credited service up to a maximum of 30 years. Normal
retirement benefits for employees hired after October 1, 2005, are calculated as one-twelfth of the sum of (1), (2),
and (3) as defined below:

(1) 0.5% of the employee's average compensation multiplied by years of credited service, as defined, up to
ten years.

(2) 1% of the employee's average compensation, multiplied by years of credited service, as defined, in
excess of ten years, but not over twenty years.

(3) 1.5% of the employee's average compensation multiplied by years of credited service, as defined, in
excess of twenty years, but not exceeding thirty years.

Employees initially hired or acquired prior to October 1, 2005, are eligible to retire at the first of the month
coincident with or next following the date on which the person attains age 65. Employees initially hired or acquired
on or after October 1, 2005, are eligible to retire at the first of the month coincident with or next following the date
the person attains age 65 and has been credited with at least five years of service. Employees initially hired or
acquired prior to October 1, 2005, are eligible to retire before normal retirement on or after attaining age 55.
Employees initially hired or acquired on or after October 1, 2005, are eligible to retire before normal retirement on
or after attaining age 55 with five years of service.

All employees are eligible for disability benefits after 10 years of service. Disability retirement benefits are
determined in the same manner as retirement benefits but are payable immediately without an actuarial reduction.
Death benefit is determined as if the employee had retired immediately before death and had elected to receive a
joint and 100% survivor annuity naming the beneficiary as the joint annuitant.
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At January 1, 2018 and January 1, 2017, the census dates used to measure the 2019 and 2018 total pension
liability, respectively, the following employees (stated in actual numbers, not thousands) were covered by the
benefit terms of the Plan:

2019 2018
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 2,407 1,104
Inactive employees or beneficiaries entitled to but not yet
receiving benefits 683 752
Active employees 1,133 2,564
Total 4,223 4,420
Contributions

The Company has no legal or Plan requirements to fund the Plan. The Company's funding policy is to make
contributions based on an amount recommended by an independent actuary calculated as of June 30, one year
prior to the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported. The actuarially determined contribution is the
estimated amount necessary to finance the cost of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an
additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The additional amount to finance the unfunded
liability has been estimated with the goal of fully funding the plan over a closed 30-year period beginning in 2017.
In addition, annual gains and losses have been spread over a 10-year period in order to reduce the effects of
market volatility and provide stability to the suggested contributions. For the years ended June 30, 2019 and
2018, the Company's average contribution rate was 9.3% and 8.3%, respectively, of annual payroll.

Net pension liability

The Company's net pension liability at June 30, 2019, was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the total pension
liabifity used to calculate the 2019 net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.
The total pension liability in the June 30, 2019, actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions:

Inflation 2.5%
Salary increases 3.5%
Investment rate of return 6.5%

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Table for males and females with adjustments for
generational projections based on Scale BB, using the Entry Age Normal Cost method. The actuarial assumptions
used in the June 30, 2019, valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period
July 1, 2017, to June 30, 2018.

The long-term expected rate of return on Plan investments was determined using best-estimate ranges of
expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of Plan investment expense and inflation) for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:
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Asset Class

Domestic & international equity securities
Private equity

Hedged equity

Real estate and other

Fixed income

Long-term

Expected

Target Real Rate
Allocation of Return
55% 71-7.8%
10% 83-87%
10% 57-5.9%
15% 59-6.0%
10% 3.1-4.0%

1QQO£

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.5%. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that the Company contributions will be made at actuarially determined
amounts. Based on these assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all
projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected
rate of return on Plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total

pension liability.

Changes in the net pension liability

The net pension liability and annual pension expense for fiscal year 2019 are based on a measurement date of
June 30, 2018, and a measurement period of July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018.

Balance, June 30, 2018
Service cost
Interest
Difference between expected and
actual experience
Contributions — employer
Net investment income
Benefit payments
Administrative expense

Net changes

Balance, June 30, 2019

Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciary Pension
Liability Net Position Liability

(b) (b) (a) —(b)
$ 342,314 $ 228610  §$ 113,704
6,749 - 6,749
22,220 - 22,220
2,376 - 2,376
- 12,300 (12,300)
- 16,378 (16,378)
(14,657) (14,657) -
16,688 14,021 2,667
$ 350002 § 242631 §__ 116,371
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The net pension liability and annual pension expense for fiscal year 2017 are based on a measurement date of
June 30, 2016, and a measurement period of July 1, 2015, to June 30, 2016.

Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciary Pension
Liability Net Position Liability
(b) (b) (a} - (b)
Balance, June 30, 2017 $ 328,156 $ 204,901 $ 123,255
Service cost 6,815 - 6,815
Interest 21,309 - 21,309
Difference between expected and
actual experience 535 - 535
Contributions — employer - 18,000 (18,000)
Net investment income - 20,210 (20,210)
Benefit payments (14,501) (14,501) -
Administrative expense - - -
Net changes 14,158 23,709 (9,551)
Balance, June 30, 2018 $ 342.314 $ 228610 $ 113704

The following presents the net pension liability of the Company, calculated using the discount rate of 6.5%, as
well as what the Company's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1%
lower or 1% higher than the current rate.

Current
1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase
{5.5%) _Rate (6.5%) (7.5%)
Net pension liability $ 163,375 $ 116,371 $ 77,117

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized pension expense of $17,259 and
$17,659, respectively.

At June 30, 2019, and 2018, the Company reported pension deferred outflows of resources as noted below:

2019 2018
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 5,323 $ 4,239
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on Plan investments 4,207 7,583
Pension contributions subsequent to the measurement date 13.470 12,370

$ 23000 § 24192
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as
follows:

Fiscal Year
Ending June 30
2020 $ 5,589
2021 3,196
2022 (359)
2023 851
2024 254

Supplemental 415(m) retirement plan

In 2005, the Company established a supplemental 415(m) retirement plan (the "415 Plan"). The 415 Plan
provides monthly benefits, to a single retiree, equal to the benefit that cannot be paid from the Plan due to the
application of the IRC Section 415 limits. The 415 Plan is unfunded. Benefit payments are deemed contributions
when paid.

The 415 Plan net pension liability of $1,092 and annual pension expense of $130 for fiscal year 2019 are based
on a measurement date of June 30, 2018, and a measurement period of July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018, as
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The total pension liability in the June 30, 2019, actuarial
valuation was determined using a discount rate of 4%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the
discount rate assumed that the Company contributions will be made at actuarially determined amounts.

The 415 Plan net pension liability of $1,032 and annual pension expense of $46 for fiscal year 2018 are based on
a measurement date of June 30, 2017, and a measurement period of July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017, as
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The total pension liability in the June 30, 2018, actuarial
valuation was determined using a discount rate of 4%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the
discount rate assumed that the Company contributions will be made at actuarially determined amounts.

Other post-employment benefits (“OPEB”)

The West Tennessee Healthcare Postretirement Medical Plan (the "OPEB") is a single-employer plan
administered by the Company, and provides postretirement health insurance benefits to certain retired employees
and their beneficiaries. Effective July 1, 2017, the Company accounts for its OPEB plan in accordance with GASB
Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.
During 2016, the OPEB plan was amended to not allow participation for employees retiring after December 31,
2017.

Based on the June 30, 2019, actuarial valuation, the Company’s OPEB plan was overfunded by $2,368 (the “net
OPEB asset”). In February 2018, the Company distributed approximately $2,500 of excess plan assets to plan
participants. Since the Company's OPEB plan was terminated to new participants on December 31, 2017, and the
Company distributed $2,500 of excess plan assets to participants, and the remainder of plan assets will be drawn
down as expenses are incurred by the plan’s existing beneficiaries, which are few, the Company’s 2019 financial
statements do not reflect the net OPEB asset or the related deferred inflows of resources or OPEB income of
$1,451 that are described in the following paragraphs as such amounts are immaterial. The plan does not issue a
publicly available financial report.

Based on the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation, the Company's OPEB plan was overfunded by $3,576. As

described above, the Company’s 2018 financial statements do not reflect the net OPEB asset or the related
deferred inflows of resources or OPEB income of $450.
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Description of OPEB plan

90% of future eligible retirees are assumed to elect medical coverage in the OPEB plan. 100% of current retirees
are assumed to continue medical coverage until Medicare eligibility, or until death if grandfathered. Employees
that are eligible to participate in the OPEB plan are employees that were either full-time or part-time, enrolled in
healthcare benefits, and retired prior to January 1, 2018, after meeting the following criteria:

s Age 60 and 30 years of service
*+ Age 62 and 15 years of service

Retiree coverage ends at age 65 (Medicare eligibility). Spouse coverage ends at the earlier of the spouse’s age
65 or 18 months after the retiree reaches age 65. There is a closed group of grandfathered retirees that are
eligible to continue coverage through their lifetime beyond age 65.

Retirees have the choice between two plan options for medical coverage: a medical deductible plan or a medical
copayment plan. The retiree monthly contributions (in dollars) as of January 1, 2018, the actuarial valuation date
and date of collection of census data, are summarized in the following table:

Medical Deductible Plan Medical Copayment Plan
Individual $ 627 $ 678
Individuat + 1 $ 1,235 $ 1,335
Family $ 1,724 $ 1,863

Certain grandfathered retirees have no contribution requirement, and certain grandfathered retirees will not be
subject to contribution increases.

At January 1, 2018 and 2017, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms of the OPEB plan:

2019 2018
Active employees - 5,379
Retired employees receiving benefits 31 35
Spouses of retired employees receiving benefits 6 8
Total 37 5,422

Contributions

The Company has no legal or plan requirements to fund the OPEB plan. The Company’s funding policy is to
make contributions based on an amount recommended by an independent actuary calculated as of June 30 one
year prior to the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported. The actuarially determined contribution
is the estimated amount necessary to finance the cost of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an
additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the
Company was not required to make a contribution to the OPEB plan.

Net OPEB asset

The Company's net OPEB asset at June 30, 2019, was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the total liability used
to calculate the 2019 net OPEB asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The total OPEB
liability in the June 30, 2019, actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions:

Salary increases 3.5%
Investment rate of return 6.5%
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Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Table for males and females with adjustments for
generational projections based on Scale BB, using the Entry Age Normal Cost method.

The long-term expected rate of return on Plan investments was determined using best-estimate ranges of
expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of Plan investment expense and inflation) for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:

Long-term
Target Expected Real
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
Domestic & international equity securities 100% 6.9-7.3%

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 6.5%. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that the Company contributions will be made at actuarially determined
amounts. Based on these assumptions, the plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all
projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected
rate of return on plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total
pension liability.

Changes in the net OPEB asset

The net OPEB asset and annual OPEB income for fiscal year 2019 are based on a measurement date of June
30, 2018, and a measurement period of July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018.

Total Plan Net
OPEB Fiduciary OPEB
Liability Net Position Asset
(a) {b) {a) - (b)
Balance, June 30, 2018 $ 1,540 $ 5,116 $ (3,576)
Service cost 16 - 16
Interest 100 - 100
Difference between expected
and actual experience (1,149) - (1,149)
Net investment income - 266 (266)
Benefit payments (41) (2,548) 2,507
Net changes (1,074) (2,282) 1,208
Balance, June 30, 2019 $ 466 $ 2.834 $ (2,368)

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the Company, calculated using the discount rate of 6.5% and
healthcare cost trend rates of 6.6% decreasing to 4.5%, as well as what the Company's total OPEB liability would
be if it were calculated using a discount rate and healthcare cost trend rate that is 1% lower or 1% higher than the
current rate.

1% Decrease Current Rates 1% Increase

Total OPEB liability with changes in discount rate $ 479 $ 4866 $ 454
Total OPEB liability with changes in healthcare
cost trend rates $ 451 $ 466 $ 481
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At June 30, 2019, the actuarially determined OPEB deferred inflows of resources are as follows:

Difference between expected and actual experience $ -

Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on OPEB plan investments 135
$ 135

Amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources related to the OPEB plan are scheduled to be recognized in
OPEB income as follows:

Fiscal Year
Ending June 30
2020 $ (44)
2021 (44)
2022 (44)
2023 (3)

Prior to July 1, 2017, the Company accounted for OPEBs in accordance with GASB Statement No. 45,
Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes were based on the terms of the plan and the following
actuarial assumptions which were determined as part of the January 1, 2015, actuarial valuation. The Company's
annual required contribution ("ARC") was calculated using the Projected Unit Credit actuarial cost method.

The unfunded actuarial accrued liability was amortized using a level percentage of pay with a 30-year closed
amortization period, of which 21 years remained. The actuarial assumptions included 6.5% post-retirement and
8.5% pre-retirement investment rate of return and a projected salary increase of 3.5% per year.

During fiscal year 2017, the Company funded 100% of the annual OPEB cost (credit). As of June 30, 2017, the
net OPEB asset consisted of an actuarially determined credit due from the OPEB plan of $143. During fiscal year
2018, the OPEB plan refunded the fiscal year 2017 net OPEB asset of $143.

Defined contribution plan

The Company also maintains a defined contribution plan under Section 403(b) of the IRC which provides for
voluntary contributions by employees upon employment and matching contributions by the Company after 90
days of service. Substantially all employees of the Company are eligible and may contribute up to 100% of their
compensation, subject to certain IRC limitations. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, upon January 1 or
July 1 after the completion of 90 days of credited service, for every 1% the employee invested up to 6%, the
Company matched 25% of the employee's contribution. Beginning on January 1, 2013, upon January 1 or July 1
after the completion of 90 days of credited service, for every 1% the employee invested up to 6%, the Company
matched 50% of the employee's contribution. The Company recognized expense related to the 403(b) Plan of
$6,023 and $4,482 in 2019 and 2018, respectively. There is no separate audited financial report available for the
defined contribution plan, the 415 Plan or the OPEB plan.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is exposed to various risks of loss from torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets;
business interruption; errors and omissions; employee injuries and illnesses; natural disasters; and employee
health, dental and accident benefits. Commercial insurance coverage is purchased for claims arising from such
matters. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the three preceding years.
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Professional liability

The Company established the contingency fund as a professional liability self-insurance fund in accordance with
the Tennessee Governmental Tort Liability Act ("the Tort Act"), which restricts the District's exposure to
professional liability risks to a pre-determined amount per occurrence.

The District is a "governmental entity" within the meaning of the Tort Act. As such, its maximum liability for state
law tort causes of action is $300 for bodily injury or death of any one person in accident, occurrence, or act, and
$700 for bodily injury or death of all persons in any one accident, occurrence, or act. These limits are subject to
change by the Tennessee Legislature.

The Company's accrual for self-insured professional liability risks was $4,242 and $4,037 at June 30, 2019 and
2018, respectively, and was based on asserted claims for occurrences prior to that date.

Workers’' compensation

Under the Tennessee Workers' Compensation Law, governmental entities such as the District need not accept
the workers' compensation system, thereby remaining subject to common law liability for work-related injuries and
retaining all common law defenses to such claims. The limits of liability under the Tort Act are applicable to such
claims. The District has not accepted the workers' compensation system. The Tennessee Supreme Court has
ruled this exemption applicable to the District's affiliate nonprofit corporations as well.

Self-insured health insurance

The Company is self-insured with respect to employee health insurance. Estimates of health insurance claims
incurred but unpaid as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, are accrued based on estimates that incorporate the
Company's past experience, as well as other considerations including the nature of claims and relevant trends.
The Company accrued a liability for incurred but unpaid claims of approximately $4,503 and $3,861 as of June
30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which is included in other accrued expenses in the accompanying statements of
net position. The expenses related to claims paid during the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, are $54,098
and $45,350, respectively, and are included in salaries and benefits expense.

The following represents changes in those aggregate liabilities for estimates of health insurance for the years
ended June 30:

2019 2018
Claims payable, beginning of year $ 3,861 $ 3,452
Incurred claims expense 54,740 45,759
Claims payments (54,098) {(45,350)
Claims payable, end of year $ 4503 $ 3,861

Litigation
The Company is subject to claims and suits which arise in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of
management, reserves for estimated losses on pending legal proceedings are adequate, and the ultimate

resolution of any pending legal proceedings will not have a material effect on the Company's financial position.
However, the ultimate outcome of such matters is unknown.

13. Concentrations

The Company purchased approximately 51% and 52% of medical supplies and drugs from two vendors for the
years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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14. Investment in Joint Venture

Through June 30, 2017, the Company owned and operated a 48-bed inpatient rehabilitation unit located at
Jackson-Madison County General Hospital, and HealthSouth Corporation owned and operated a 40-bed inpatient
rehabilitation hospital known as HealthSouth Cane Creek Rehab Hospital, located in Martin, Tennessee. The
Company and HealthSouth entered into a joint venture agreement for the (a) construction, development and
operation of a new 48-bed inpatient rehabilitation hospital in Jackson, Tennessee, and {(b) the continued operation
of the Cane Creek Rehab Hospital in its current location. The parties formed a limited liability company with both
parties receiving @ 50% ownership. During the year ended June 30, 2017, the Company contributed cash to the
joint venture for construction and other costs totaling $13,781. Effective June 30, 2017, the Company
discontinued its existing inpatient rehabilitation operations and made a contribution to the joint venture for the
estimated value of those operations, resulting in a gain of $12,988. The Company’s investment in the joint venture
is accounted for using the equity method and was carried at $28,252 and $27,597 as of June 30, 2019, and 2018,
respectively. The Company recognized earnings from the joint venture of $2,730 and $1,044 during the years
ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In fiscal 2019, the Company received $2,075 of distributions from
the joint venture. Separately issued financial statements for the joint venture are not available. The carrying value
of the Company’s investment at June 30, 2018, approximates its share of underlying equity in the net assets of
the joint venture, adjusted for the effects of contributed capital and other items in accordance with the terms of the
joint venture agreement.

The joint venture's assets and liabilities totaled $59,486 and $32,367, respectively, as of June 30, 2019. The joint
venture's revenues and net income for the year ended June 30, 2019, were $47,845 and $5,461, respectively.
The joint venture's assets and liabilities totaled $57,038 and $1,860, respectively, as of June 30, 2018. The joint
venture's revenues and net income for the year ended June 30, 2018, were $27,123 and $2,321, respectively.

15. Obligated Group

As disclosed in Note 9, the Company has revenue bonds outstanding that are payable from the operating
revenues of certain affiliates of the District (the “Obligated Group”). Summary financial information for the
Obligated Group is as follows:

June 30
2019 2018
Assets:
Current assets $ 220,674 $ 204,030
Capital assets 416,400 412,193
Other assets 394,519 413,830
1,031,593 1,030,053
Deferred outflows of resources 57,384 60,406
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $§ 1,088,977 $ 1090459
Liabilities:
Current liabilities $ 74,876 $ 163,108
Long-term debt 357,924 273,637
Net pension fiability 117,463 114,736
550,263 551,481
Net position:
Unrestricted net position 414,149 414,982
Invested in capital assets, net of related financing 118,370 113,317
Restricted net position 6,195 10.679
538,714 538,978
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position $ 1088977 $ 1090459
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Year Ended June 30
2019 2018
Net patient service revenues $ 727,095 3 631,003
Other revenues 31,578 33,889
Total operating revenues 758,673 664,892
Operating expenses 709,824 597,369
Depreciation 50,122 45,895
Total operating expenses 759,946 643,264
Operating (loss) income (1,273) 21,628
Net nonoperating revenues 15,411 13,611
Interest expense (14,402) (14.814)
Increase in net position (264) 20,425
Net position, beginning of year 538,978 518,553
Net position, end of year $ 538,714 $ 538,978
Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 44,376 $ 18,095
Noncapital financing activities (2,099) (958)
Capital and related financing activities 20,650 (68,100)
Investing activities (52,501) 36,855
10,426 (14,108)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 11,779 25,887
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 22,205 $ 11.779

16. Blended Component Units

Jackson-Madison County General Hospital, Bolivar General Hospital, Camden General Hospital, Milan General
Hospital, Volunteer Martin Hospital, Dyersburg Hospital, Pathways Behavioral Health, LIFT Therapy, Health
Partners, Therapy & Learning Center and the West Tennessee Medical Group are considered blended
component units ("BCUs") of West Tennessee Healthcare, as the governing body is substantively the same as
the governing body of West Tennessee Healthcare and has operational responsibility of these component units.
Separately issued financial statements are not available for any blended component unit. In the statements that
follow, we present condensed combining information for the BCUs. In 2019, the Company transferred certain
assets and liabilities, other operating revenues, operating expenses, and interest expense used to support all
component unit operations to “System Support”, as reflected in the following statements. The revenues and
expenses are allocated to component units based on a cost allocation methodology. Prior to 2019, these assets,
liabilities, revenues, and expenses were reflected under Jackson-Madison County General Hospital.

As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, there were five and three, respectively, blended component units that had an
ending deficit net position, including West Tennessee Medical Group, Therapy & Learning Center, Health
Partners, Volunteer Hospital, and Dyersburg Hospital. The contributing factors to each unit's deficit net position
vary by service. The units are integral to the overall mission of the health care system and the organization works
to balance deficits in operational performance for these business units with surplus performance in other
component units. In all cases, the organization strives to improve performance and the overall position of the
component units as well as the organization as a whole.
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Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit
of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Board of Trustees
West Tennessee Healthcare and Related Affiliates
Jackson, Tennessee

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of West Tennessee Healthcare and
Related Affiliates (the "Company"), which comprise the statement of net position as of June 30, 2019, and the
related statements of revenues and expenses, and changes in net position, and cash flows for the year then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 4,
2019.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Company's internal
control over financial reporting ("internal control") to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness,
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Company's financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results
of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control
or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the Company's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this
communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Dixon Hughes Gooduan 1P

Memphis, Tennessee
October 4, 2019
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July 23, 2020

Mr. Phillip Earhart

HSD Examiner

Tennessee Health Services and Development Agency
502 Deaderick Street

Andrew Jackson Buildin

Nashville, Tennessee 37243

RE: Certificate of Need Application CN2007-020
Jackson Madison Surgery Center

Dear Mr. Earhart,

We are in receipt of your letter with additional questions. Below are our answers.

1. Section A, 3. Executive Summary, Item A, Overview. 1) Description

It is noted the purpose of this project is to convert the hospital-based outpatient
surgery center located at 700 West Forest Avenue, Suite 100, Jackson, TN to a
freestanding ambulatory surgical treatment center. However, the Letter of Intent
(LOI) notes the proposed ASTC will be located in the “former location” of the West
Tennessee Surgery Center. Should the LOI have stated “current location” of West
Tennessee Surgery Center (hospital-based outpatient surgery center)? Please
clarify.

RESPONSE: The Jackson Madison Surgery Center will be located at the current
site of the West Tennessee Surgery Center.

Please clarify why the applicant is willing to decrease from 6,687 surgical cases in
2019 licensed as a hospital-based outpatient surgery center to 3,685 surgical cases
in 2022 licensed as freestanding ambulatory surgical treatment center.

RESPONSE: The decrease in volume is temporary due to changes involved in
the conversion from a hospital based outpatient surgery center to a freestanding
ambulatory surgical treatment center. The health system will have to make other
adjustments to balance the decrease in revenue. Orthopedic volume will be
moving from the West Tennessee Surgery Center to the West Tennessee
Healthcare North Hospital location to focus on that particular specialty so those
cases are shifting to a different location and not necessarily decreasing.
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If approved, what will be last date of operations for the existing West Tennessee
Surgery Center, and the first day of operations for the proposed freestanding
ASTC project?

RESPONSE: The estimated last day of operations at the West Tennessee Surgery
Center will be 60 days prior to first day of the Jackson Madison Surgery Center
operations

Please clarify if any part of the proposed freestanding ASTC will be physician
owned.

RESPONSE: We do not know if the Jackson Madison Surgery Center will be
physician owned at this time. Our intent is to evaluate that once the facility is
transitioned from the hospital based outpatient surgery center to an ambulatory
surgery treatment center.

Please discuss if outpatient surgeries are being currently being performed at
West Tennessee Healthcare North Hospital during renovation. In addition,
please indicate if any outpatient surgical volumes from West Tennessee
Healthcare North Hospital were shifted to the existing West Tennessee Surgery
Center.

RESPONSE: No surgeries are currently being performed at West Tennessee
Healthcare North Hospital today. Renovations are required to begin operations
again.

2. Section A, 3. Executive Summary, Item A, Overview. 2) Ownership structure
What is meant by “manager-managed”?

RESPONSE: The response should have read owner-managed. Replacement page
2R is attached.

3. Section A, 3. Executive Summary, Item A, Overview. 3) Existing Similar
Service Providers

It is noted by the applicant the 18-county service area has six ambulatory surgical
treatment centers, and this proposed project will not result in any additional
ambulatory surgical center being added to the 18-county service area. However,
if this project is approved, an additional licensed ambulatory surgical center will
be added to the 18-county service area since the applicant is currently licensed as
a hospital based outpatient surgery center. Please clarify. If needed, please correct
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and submit a replacement page 2 (labeled as 2R).

RESPONSE: One ambulatory surgery center will be added to the service area. A
replacement page 2R is attached.

4. Section A, 3. Executive Summary, Item A, Overview. 3.C Consent Justification

Please address the need for Consent Calendar by addressing the following four
criteria:

e Need, Economic Feasibility, Contribution to the Orderly Development of
Healthcare, and Quality Measures.

RESPONSE: The application concerns the conversion of an existing hospital-
based outpatient facility to a freestanding ASTC facility that will located at 700
West Forest Avenue Suite 100, Jackson, Tennessee 38301. While it will add one
ASTC to the service area, services will for the most part will remain the same. For
an 18 county area and approximately 527,000 residents, the Jackson Madison
Surgery Center will offer the most comprehensive surgery specialty services.
Funding for the project is from cash reserves and a positive financial margin will
begin in year three. The Jackson Madison Surgery Center will be licensed and
accredited as an ambulatory surgery treatment center. The Center will enroll
with all TennCare MCOs. It will also participate in independent quality
measurement programs.

If there is a need for the proposed project to be placed on Consent Calendar, why
is the applicant waiting until September 2021 to complete licensure as a
freestanding ASTC when there is no construction or renovation involved?

RESPONSE: While there is no renovation needed at the Jackson Madison
Surgery Center site, there is renovation need at the West Tennessee Healthcare
North Hospital. The West Tennessee Healthcare North Hospital will have to be
operational for transitioning cases there while the current West Tennessee
Surgery Center at 700 West Forest Avenue is closed for licensure and survey as a
new ambulatory surgery treatment center. Because the West Tennessee Surgery
Center is operational today as a hospital based outpatient surgery center, the
volume of cases currently being performed cannot be stopped for 30-60 days to
accommodate the transition to an ambulatory surgical treatment center. The
renovation at the West Tennessee Healthcare North Hospital is required prior to
the temporary move of cases from the current West Tennessee Surgery Center
because the main Operating Rooms at Jackson-Madison County General
Hospital (620 Skyline Drive) cannot accommodate the volume currently being
performed at the West Tennessee Surgery Center.
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5. Section A, 3. Executive Summary, Item A, Overview. 4) Existing similar service
providers

Please provide a listing of other healthcare facilities owned or managed by the
applicant.

RESPONSE: Attachment A,3. Executive Summary, Item A, Overview 4) contains
the listing.

Please provide a brief description of the applicant’s expertise to operate a
freestanding ASTC.

RESPONSE: While we do not operate an ambulatory surgery treatment center
today, we have operated a hospital based outpatient surgery center for over 20
years. We have engaged the ambulatory surgery treatment center experts from
ECG Management Consultants, A Siemens Healthineers Company including
Naya Kehayes to consult on transition.

6. Section A, 4. Project Details, Item 4.B, Type of Ownership Control

Describe the existing or proposed ownership structure of the applicant, including
an ownership structure organizational chart. Explain the corporate structure and
the manner in which all entities of the ownership structure relate to the applicant.
As applicable, identify the members of the ownership entity and each member’s
percentage of ownership, for those members with 5% ownership (direct or
indirect) interest.

RESPONSE: An organizational chart is attached. The entity is a limited liability
corporation (LLC) that is currently 100 owned by the Jackson-Madison County
General Hospital District.

7. Section A, 5. Project Details, Item 5, Name of Management/Operating Entity

It is noted a management company is “not applicable” to the proposed project.
FHowever, in the bottom paragraph on page 5 the applicant notes there will be a
new management company. Please clarify.

RESPONSE: The Jackson Madison Surgery Center will be owner managed by
the Jackson Madison Surgery Center LLC. There will not be a separate
management company.
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8.

10.

Section A, Applicant Profile, Item 6A., Legal Interest in the site

Please provide documentation, e.g., deed, title, etc., that West Tennessee
Investors, LLC owns the building and property site of the proposed project.

Please provide the referenced master lease.

RESPONSE: Attached as Section A, Applicant Profile, Item 6A, Legal Interest in
the Site are the following;:

Ground Lease between West Tennessee Healthcare, Inc. and West Tennessee
Investors, LLC.

Real Estate Assessment Data indicating property owner West Tennessee
Investors LLC

Tenant Lease Agreement between West Tennessee Investors, LLC and Jackson-
Madison County General Hospital District

Warranty Deed and Plat

Section A, Applicant Profile, Item 6B. (2), Floor Plan

The 2019 Jackson Madison County General Hospital Joint Annual Report
indicates there are 3 dedicated outpatient procedure rooms. Where are they
located?

RESPONSE: The procedure rooms are located in the hospital based Skyline
Endoscopy Center, 27 Medical Center Drive, Jackson, Tennessee 38301.

Section A, Applicant Profile, Item 12 Square Footage and Cost Per Square
Footage Chart

Please provide a brief description of the office building, including the age, the
number of floors, the total square footage of the building, and if the ASTC will be
the only service in the building.

Will the building space be designed for possible future expansion?

RESPONSE: The Medical Office Building was constructed in 2010. It has five
floors. The first floor contains the current West Tennessee Surgery Center. The
West Tennessee Neuroscience and Spine Center is located in 19,463 square feet
on the second floor. The third floor has Lillibridge Healthcare Services and The
Jackson Clinic cardiology, echo lab, laboratory, nuclear medicine, and infusion
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clinic. It is 18,801 square feet. West Tennessee Healthcare operates a pharmacy
on the third floor in 662 square feet. The fourth floor has The Jackson Clinic
departments of infectious disease, internal medicine, nephrology,
pulmonary/critical care medicine, pulmonary function testing, radiology, and
ultrasound in 19,463 square feet. The fifth floor has The Jackson Clinic
departments of audiology, ear/nose/throat, gastroenterology,
general/thoracic/vascular surgery, urology, and research in 19,463 square feet.
The building space was not designed for expansion.

What is the distance between the proposed ASTC and the hospitals in the PSA?
(Please display in a chart format.)

RESPONSE: Below are distances from the proposed Jackson Madison Surgery
Center, 700 West Forest Avenue Jackson, Tennessee 38301

Name Address Distance in Time | Distance in Miles

Lauderdale 326 Ashbury Avenue 59 minutes 47.9 miles

Community Hospital Ripley, TN 38063

West Tennessee 4039 Highland Street 34 minutes 23.0 miles

Healthcare Milan Milan, TN 38358

Hospital

West Tennessee 400 East Tickle Street, 53 minutes 48.3 miles

Healthcare Dyersburg | Dyersburg, TN 38024

Hospital

West Tennessee 161 Mount Pelia Road 1 hour, 10 minutes 54.8 miles

Healthcare Volunteer Martin, TN 38237

Hospital

West Tennessee 650 Nuckolls Road, 41 minutes 30.2 miles

Healthcare Bolivar Bolivar, TN 38008

Hospital

West Tennessee 175 Hospital Drive, 1 hour, 3 minutes 61.9 miles

Healthcare Camden Camden, TN 38320

Hospital

Hardin Medical Center | 935 Wayne Road, 1 hour, 14 minutes 54.9 miles
Savannah, TN 38372

Henry County Medical | 301 Tyson Avenue, 1 hour, 16 minutes 62.4 miles

Center Paris, TN 38242

Baptist Memorial 631 Rb Wilson Drive, 52 minutes 39.7 miles

Hospital Carroll Huntingdon, TN 38344

County

Baptist Memorial 709 Reelfoot Avenue, 1 hour, 17 minutes 61.9 miles

Hospital Union City Union City, TN 38261

Henderson County 200 West Church Street, | 36 minutes 28.7 miles

Community Hospital Lexington, TN 38351

Jackson-Madison 620 Skyline Drive, 9 minutes .4 mile

County General Jackson, TN 38301

Hospital

West Tennessee 367 Hospital 12 mintes 4.5 miles

Healthcare North Boulevard, Jackson, TN

Hospital 38305

Efficiencies

11. Section B, Need, Item 2. (Specific Criteria - ASTC). Need and Economic
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What are the proposed operating hours of the project?
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RESPONSE: The Center’s operating room will operate from 7:30 AM to 3:30 PM
Monday through Friday 50 weeks per year. This translates into 120,000 potential
surgical minutes per year (60 minutes per hour * 8.0 hours per day * 5 days per

week * 50 weeks per year).

Please complete the following chart, once for Year 1 and once for Year 2.

YEAR 1 OPERATING PLAN

Operating # Minutes Average | Schedulable % of
Rooms Cases Used Turnaround minutes® Schedulable
Time Time Used
IOR #1 369 23,985 11,070 120,000 29.2%
OR#2 369 23,985 11,070 120,000 29.2%
OR #3 369 23 985 11,070 120,000 29.2%
OR #4 369 23,985 11,070 120,000 29.2%
OR #5 369 23,985 11,070 120,000 29.2%
OR #6 369 23 985 11,070 120,000 29.2%
OR #7 369 23,985 11,070 120,000 29.2%
OR #8 369 23,985 11,070 120,000 29.2%
OR #9 369 23,985 11,070 120,000 29.2%
OR #10 364 23,660 10,920 120,000 P8.8%
Total 3,685 239,525 110,550 1,200,000 29.2%
Operating
Rooms

* defined as the summation of the minutes by each room available for scheduled cases
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Example: 7:30 AM to 4:30 PM, 5 days per week, 50 weeks/ year, equates to 9 hrs/ day X
60 min/hr = 540 minutes/ day X 5 days/week = 2,700 minutes / week X 50

weeks/ year=135,000 schedulable minutes/room X the number of rooms=surgical suite
schedulable capacity

YEAR 2 OPERATING PLAN
Operating # Minutes Average Schedulable % of
Rooms Cases Used | Turnaround minutes® Schedulable
Time Time Used

OR #1 564 36.660 16,920 120,000 44.7%
OR#2 564 36,660 16,920 120,000 44.7%
OR #3 564 36,660 16,920 120,000 44.7%
OR #4 564 36,660 16,920 120,000 44.7%
OR #5 564 36,660 16,920 120,000 44.7%
OR #6 564 36,660 16,920 120,000 44.7%
OR #7 564 36,660 16,920 120,000 44.7%
OR #8 564 36,660 16,920 120,000 44.7%
OR #9 564 36,660 16,920 120,000 44.7%
OR #10 565 36,725 16,950 120,000 44.7%
Total Operating
Rooms 5,641 366,665 169,230 1,200,000 44.7%

12. Section B, Need, Item 3. (Specific Criteria - ASTC). Need and Economic
Efficiencies; Access

Please complete the following chart for multi- or single-specialty ASTCs in the
PSA using 2019 JAR data.
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Service Area Operating and Procedure Room ASTC Patient Utilization-2019

ASTC # Cases Cases/ *% of # Cases Cases % of
ORs OR Optimal | PRs /PR Optimal
Capacity Capacity
Cape Surgery Center 2 1996 998 113% 1 1285 1285 69%
Van Dyck ASC 2 1631 816 92% 1 0 0 0
DDC Surgery Center 0 0 0 0 2 3520 1760 94%
Summit Endoscopy Center 0 0 0 0 2 3159 1580 85%
Single-Specialty Sub-Total 4 3627 907 103% 6 7964 1327 71%
Physicians Surgery Center 6 3790 632 71% 1 564 564 30%
Union City Surgery Center 2 442 221 25% 1 0 0 0
Multi-Specialty Sub-Total 8 4232 529 60% 2 564 282 15%
All ASTC TOTAL 12 7859 655 74% 8 8528 1066 57%

Source: Tennessee Department of Health, Division of Health Statistics, Joint Annual Reports
*Optimal capacity is 70% of full capacity

For a dedicated outpatient operating room:

e Optimum Capacity is defined as 70% of full capacity, or 884 cases per year.
For a dedicated outpatient procedure room:

e Optimum capacity is defined as 70% of full capacity, or 1,867 cases per
year.

13. Section B, Need, (Specific Criteria - ASTC).

Please remove question #2 from page 16 and submit a replacement page 16
(labeled as 16R). Please note question #2 is not part of the ASTC criteria.

RESPONSE: Replacement page 16R is attached

14. Section B, Need, Item 4. (Specific Criteria - ASTC). Need and Economic
Efficiencies

Does the applicant expect any of the cases at ASTCs in the proposed service area to shift
to the applicant? If yes, please provide an estimate by specialty.

RESPONSE: No we do not expect any shift of cases.
Please discuss the impact the proposed project will have on area hospitals in the proposed

eighteen county service area. Please complete the following chart using outpatient
surgical cases for all hospitals in the proposed eighteen county service area.
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Hospital 2016 OP | 2017 OP | 2018 OP %
Surgical | Surgical | Surgical | Change
Cases Cases Cases 2016-2018

Lauderdale Community | 33 130 388 1076%

Hospital

West Tennessee 1265 1485 1302 2.9%

Healthcare Milan

Hospital

West Tennessee 5892 4557 4629 -21.4%

Healthcare Dyersburg

Hospital*

West Tennessee 1511 1509 1426 -5.6%

Healthcare Volunteer

Hospital*

West Tennessee 142 61 0 -100%

Healthcare Bolivar

Hospital

West Tennessee 117 108 67 -42.7%

Healthcare Camden

Hospital

Hardin Medical Center 3153 2097 1963 -37.7%

Henry County Medical 6377 6065 6157 -3.4%

Center

Baptist Memorial 219 241 287 31.1%

Hospital Carroll County

Baptist Memorial 1286 1706 1418 10.3%

Hospital Union City

Henderson County 664 583 453 -31.8%

Community Hospital

Jackson-Madison 27456 24767 22725 -17.2%

County General

Hospital

West Tennessee 3741 3581 3339 -10.7%

Healthcare North

Hospital*

Total 55273 46890 44154 -20.1%

* were acquired by West Tennessee Healthcare in June 2018.

It is noted in September 2021 the applicant will close the West Tennessee Surgery Center
located at West Forest Avenue and will move surgical volumes temporarily to West
Tennessee Healthcare North Hospital. In September 2021 it is noted West Tennessee
Healthcare North Hospital will complete renovations. Please discuss the impact the
proposed project will have on the existing West Tennessee Surgery Center and Jackson-
Madison County General Hospital's outpatient surgical volumes.

RESPONSE: There will not be any impact to the outpatient surgery volumes at Jackson-
Madison County General Hospital. At the West Tennessee Healthcare North Hospital,
the only outpatient surgery specialty that will remain there indefinitely is outpatient
orthopedics services. The impact is expected to be 1,430 cases.

What is the distance between West Tennessee Healthcare North Hospital and the
applicant?
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RESPONSE: The West Tennessee Healthcare North Hospital is located 4.5
minutes from the Applicant.

Supplemental 1

Please complete the following chart using outpatient surgical cases.

July 23, 2020

miles, 10

Hospital Outpatient Surgical Cases
Historical Projected

2017 2018 2019 2020 | 2021 | 2022 2023
Jackson Madison | 14,292 | 14,085 |13,292 14,212 | 14,147 | 8,375 8,500
# OP ORs # # # # # # #
# of cases to be |0 0 0 0 0 3,300 3,300
shifted from West
Tennessee
Surgery Center
# of cases to be |0 0 0 0 0 385 2,341
shifted to the
proposed ASTC
West Tennessee * 191 1,138 0 0 4,045 4,450
North
# OP ORs** 8 8 8 8 8 8 8
# of cases to be 0 0 0 0 1,430 | 3,685 5,641
shifted from
West Tennessee
Surgery Center
# of cases to be 0 0 0 0 0 3,685 5,641
shifted to the
proposed ASTC

#Jackson-Madison County General Hospital, 620 Skyline Drive, does not have
dedicated outpatient operating rooms.

*Not owned by West Tennessee Healthcare
**current North Hospital has 7 Operating Rooms and one shell space for 8 total

Please discuss the outpatient surgical renovations at West Tennessee Health
North Hospital that will be completed in September of 2021. In your response,
please indicate the current number of outpatient ORs and the number planned in
September 2021.

RESPONSE: The West Tennessee Healthcare North Hospital currently has
seven (7) Operating Rooms, with shell space for an eighth (8t). Upon completion
of renovations the Hospital will have eight (8) Operating Rooms. Renovations
include the following:
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15.

1st Floor

Renovating space add prep and recovery rooms adjacent to surgery- there will
be 26 total with 11 in pre-op and 15 in recovery.

Renovating the main patient registration and admitting spaces

Renovating the main cafeteria area

Updating the finishes in the main corridors leading to surgery

Upgrading elevator controls for building

Replacing three HVAC units

2nd Floor

Updating Finishes for 8 existing LDRP rooms that will be used for overnight total
joint patients

Updating Finishes for 5 existing Older LDRP rooms that could also be used for
overnight joint patients

Section B, Need, Item 5. (Specific Criteria - ASTC). Need and Economic
Efficiencies

Please complete the following chart to show the projected number of cases for
the first two years of operation.

Year 1 Year 2
Cases 3,685 5,641
# of operating Rooms 10 10
Cases per operating Room 368.5 564.1
Optimum Utilization (70%) 884 884
Percentage of Optimal Utilization 41.7% 63.8%

16

. Section B, Need, Item 6. (Specific Criteria - ASTC). Access to ASTCs

Please complete the following chart with the mileage and drive times from each
county in the PSA to the proposed ASTC.
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County Travel to Jackson Madison Projected % of total
Surgery Center Patients in Year Patients
Two

From Miles Drive Time

Madison 2.3 5 minutes 1658 29.4

Gibson 32.6 44 minutes 925 16.4

Carroll 43.0 45 minutes 254 4.5

Henderson 29.6 36 minutes 384 6.8

Hardeman 42.8 57 minutes 254 4.5

Haywood 26.4 31 minutes 164 2.9

Crockett 20.9 23 minutes 237 4.2

Chester 18.9 28 minutes 220 3.9

McNairy 437 50 minutes 310 55

Hardin 62.2 1 hour 20 192 3.4
minutes

Lake 69.4 1 hour 13 34 6
minutes

Decatur 48.8 59 minutes 130 23

Henry 66.8 1 hour 22 107 1.9
minutes

Weakley 56.1 1 hour 12 135 24
minutes

Benton 68.2 1 hour 13 51 9
minutes

Dyer 48.0 51 minutes 265 4.7

Obion 69.2 1 hour 7 minutes 135 2.4

Lauderdale 55.0 1 hour 5 minutes 11 2

17. Section B, Need, Item 8. (Specific Criteria - ASTC). Access to ASTCs

Please explain how why the applicant included seven counties in the proposed
service area that individually had less than 3% of the total West Tennessee

Surgery Center cases in 2019.

RESPONSE: The service area of the hospital based West Tennessee Surgery
Center is 18 counties in rural West Tennessee. We believe this is the same service
area for the new ambulatory surgery treatment center, Jackson Madison Surgery
Center.

How did the applicant determine which counties to include in the proposed
service area?

RESPONSE: The service area of the hospital based West Tennessee Surgery
Center is 18 counties in rural West Tennessee. We believe this is the same service
area for the new ambulatory surgery treatment center, Jackson Madison Surgery
Center.
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18.

19.

20.

Section B., Need, Items 2-6

It is noted items 2-6 in the need section are incorrectly numbered and do not
match the numbering in the CON application. Please correct and submit
replacement pages.

RESPONSE: Replacement pages 10R-30R are attached.

Section B, Need, Item 4.A., Demographics

Please clarify why there is not a target population for the proposed project.
RESPONSE: We did not identify a target population for this project in order to
ensure the broadest portion of our community has access to the care that will be
provided at this center. Furthermore, as an existing center, we believe we will
have the same population use this site for ASC-eligible cases. That said, going

forward, we will not provide pediatric or orthopedic services as there are more
appropriate options for those patient populations.

What percentage of the projected patients in Year 2 will be 65+ in age?
RESPONSE: Approximately 37% of the projected patients in Year 2 will be 65+
inage.

Section B, Need, Item 5 (Existing Services)

Please complete the following table:

Utilization of ASTCs in Proposed Service Area

ASTC County 2017 2018 Cases 2019 % Change
Cases Cases 2017-2019

PR OR PR OR | PR OR PR OR

Cape Dyer

Surgery 699 1950 | 1055 | 1876 | 1285 | 1998 | 83.8% 2.5%

Center S

Van Dyck Henry - )

ASC S 1 2 0 2546 0 1631 100% 81450%

DDC Madison

Surgery 6668 0 4452 0 3520 0 47.2% 0

Center S
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Summit Obion
Endoscopy 3097 0 3710 0 3159 0 2.0% 0
Center S
Physicians | Madison
Surgery 809 | 4477 | 838 | 4372 | 564 | 3790
Center M
Union City Obion
Surgery 0 19 0 301 0 4472 0 23436%
Center M

30'2% -15.3%

Total 11274

6448 | 10055 | 9095 | 8528 | 11891 84.4%

24.3%
*Identify if the ASTC is multi- or single-specialty with an ‘M’ or 'S’

21. Section B, Need, Item 6 (Applicant)

Please explain why having a new electronic medical record, new administration,
new management company, and new policies and procedures would cause
surgery cases to drop 42.7% from 6,687 in 2019 to 3,685 cases in 2022?

RESPONSE: The current configuration of services performed within the Jackson
Madison Surgery Center will vary from what is currently being performed at the
hospital based West Tennessee Surgery Center. Of the current 6,687 cases
performed at the current West Tennessee Surgery Center, approximately 1,430
cases are orthopedic and 831 are pediatric related both services that will not be
delivered at the new center. When removing those from the starting number of
cases, we arrive at a potential year 1 case volume of 4,426. Our projected cases in
year 1 of 3,685 represents roughly 83-84% of the potential year 1 case volume.

Given the accreditation and credentialing process for the Jackson Madison
Surgery Center, we believe it will take approximately 2 to 3 months to finalize
the process and begin performing case volumes in earnest. As such, we have
factored in a conservative lag time for commercial payers that are contingent
upon Medicare certification and state licensure. It has been reported to
Ambulatory Surgery Center Association (ASCA) that hospital based to
ambulatory surgery treatment center conversions have experienced longer times
(up to 6 months) to receive new Medicare provider numbers than de novo ASCs.

What are the projected cases for West Tennessee Surgery Center for 2020 and 20217
RESPONSE: Actual cases for 2020 are 6,115. Projected cases for 2021 are 7,050.

Where are the approximate 3,000 surgery cases (actual 2019-6,687 cases minus
projected 2022-3,685 cases) in Year 2022 projected to receive their services?
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RESPONSE: These cases will be performed in a combination of locations,

including, but not limited to, West Tennessee North Hospital and Jackson-
Madison County General Hospital.

Please complete the following charts for the applicant facility:

Year 2 (2023)
5,641

(1,867)%

Please complete the following surgical case projections by specialty for Year 1
and Year 2 of the proposed project.

Specialty # of Surgeons | Year 1 OR Cases | Year 2 OR Cases
Ophthalmology 7 865 1,322
General Surgery 11 972 1,488
Urology 8 692 1,061
Gynecology 27 686 1,051
Otolaryngology 4 262 401

Pain Management 2 56 86

Spine 2 48 73

Plastic Surgery 3 104 159

Total 64 3,685 5,641
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22. Section B, Economic Feasibility, Item 3. (Historical Data Chart).

Please explain why there are inpatient charges included in the historical data
chart for a licensed hospital outpatient surgery center.

RESPONSE: The inpatient charges are patients that were unable to be
discharged from the West Tennessee Surgery Center and had to spend the night
at Jackson-Madison County General Hospital. There is an enclosed bridge across
West Forest Avenue from the West Tennessee Surgery Center to Jackson-
Madison County General Hospital. Patients are transported to Jackson-Madison
County General Hospital using this enclosed bridge.

23. Section B, Economic Feasibility, Item 5.A

The gross charge, deduction from revenue, and average net charge chat on page
39 is noted. However, please use the most recent years from the historical data
chart for the previous year and most recent year. Also, please place a footnote
under the chart noting those two years are from West Tennessee Surgery Center
(licensed as a hospital based outpatient surgery center). Please correct and submit
a replacement page 39 (labeled as 39R).

RESPONSE: Replacement page 39R is attached.

24. Section B, Economic Feasibility, Item 6.B Net Operating Margin Ratio
The Net Operating Margin Ratio chart is noted. However, the projected Year 2 net
operating margin ratio is incorrect. In addition, please use the historical data chart
for the most recent year, 1%t previous and 2nd previous years. Please place a
footnote under the chart noting the three previous years are from West Tennessee
Surgery Center (licensed as a hospital based outpatient surgery center).
RESPONSE: Replacement pages 41R and 42R are attached.

25. Section B, Economic Feasibility, Item 6.C, Capitalization Ratio
Please provide a capitalization ratio per application instructions.
RESPONSE: The capitalization ratio from the West Tennessee Healthcare and
Related Affiliates Financial Statement and Supplementary Information Year
Ended June 30, 2019 is 41.6 percent.

26. Section B, Economic Feasibility, Item 8 Staffing

Please clarify if existing staff of the West Tennessee Surgery Center will be
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transitioned to the proposed free-standing ASTC. If not, how will the proposed
ASTC be staffed?

RESPONSE: It is our intent that the current staff at the WTSC will comprise the
staff within the proposed free-standing ASTC as well as West Tennessee North.
As we continue to grow our volumes, we will increase staff with appropriately
trained and qualified individuals.

27. Quality Measures. Item 2.c.2

Will the applicant accept a condition placed on the certificate of need relating
obtain to obtaining/maintaining licensing, certification, and accreditation as
noted in the table on page 47 of the application?

RESPONSE: Yes

28. Section B. Contribution to Orderly Development Item 2.a and 2.b

What impact will the proposed project have on outpatient surgical services at
Physician’s Surgery Center and Jackson-Madison County General Hospital
located in Madison County?

RESPONSE: There will be no impact on outpatient surgery volumes at Jackson-
Madison County General Hospital. We anticipate no changes in volumes of the
Physician’s Surgery Center.

Under the heading negative effects, it is noted by the applicant this certificate of
need is to convert a hospital-based outpatient surgery center to an ambulatory
surgical treatment center that will continue to serve residents of rural West
Tennessee at a lower cost. Is the applicant noting this is a negative or positive
effect?

RESPONSE: This is a positive effect.

29. Proof of Publication
Attach the full page of the newspaper in which the notice of intent appeared with
the mast and dateline intact or submit a publication affidavit from the newspaper
that includes a copy of the publication as proof of the publication of the letter of

intent.

RESPONSE: Proof of publication is attached.
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Let me know if you need further information. I may be reached at vicki.lake@wth.org or
(731) 984-2160

Sincerely,

Y/

Victoris'S. Laké™
Director, Community Development

Enclosure



Supplemental 1

July 23, 2020
AFFIDAVIT
STATE OF TENNESSEE
COUNTY OF Madison
NAME OF FACILITY: Jackson Madison Surgery Center
I, _VICTORIA S. LAKE , after first being duly sworn, state under oath

that | am the applicant named in this Certificate of Need application or the lawful agent

thereof, that | have reviewed all of the supplemental information submitted herewith, and

Signature/Title '
Director, Community Development
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3. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
A. Qverview
Please provide an overview not to exceed three pages in total explaining each numbered
point.

1) Description — Address the establishment of a health care institution, initiation of health
services, bed complement changes, and/or how this project relates to any other
outstanding but unimplemented certificates of need held by the applicant;

RESPONSE: This purpose of this certificate of need request is to convert the hospital-based
outpatient surgery center located at 700 West Forest Avenue Suite 100 (CN0808-055), Jackson,
Tennessee, to a freestanding ambulatory surgical treatment center that will continue to serve
residents of rural West Tennessee at the same location. This CON initiates and establishes the
Jackson Madison Surgery Center located at 700 West Forest Avenue, Suite 100, Jackson,
Tennessee. The proposed conversion ot a freestanding facility will assist with cost savings and
improvements to patient care. There are no beds associated with this certificate of need. The
facility is located on the first floor of a Medical Office Building across the street from the Jackson-
Madison County General Hospital in 31,543 square feet. There is no construction proposed with
this project, nor would there be an increase in operating rooms or procedure rooms to the service
area. If approved, Jackson Madison Surgery Center would convert the space currently operated
as West Tennessee Surgery Center to a freestanding surgery center with 10 operating rooms, 30
bed pre-and post-anesthesia care unit (PACU), nurses station, staff offices, medical records,
admitting area, lobby, and waiting area.

2) Ownership structure;

RESPONSE: The Jackson Madison Surgery Center is owned by the Jackson Madison Surgery
Center LLC. The company will be owner-managed.

3) Service area;

RESPONSE: The primary service area of the Jackson Madison Surgery Center defined by Madison,
Gibson, Carroll, Henderson, Hardeman, Haywood, Crockett, and Chester counties. The secondary
service area is composed of McNairy, Hardin, Lake, Decatur, Henry, Weakley, Benton, Dyer, Obion,
and Lauderdale counties. These counties will supply 96.8 percent of the projected cases.

4) Existing similar service providers;

RESPONSE: The 18-county service area has six ambulatory surgical treatment centers. As this
project involves the conversion of an existing facility to freestanding only, this project add one
ambulatory surgical centers to the 18-county service area.

Cape Surgery Center, LLC 401 E Tickle Street, Dyersburg 38024

Van Dyck ASC, LLC 1024 Kelly Drive Paris 38242

DDC Surgery Center 9 Physicians Drive Jackson 38305

Physicians Surgery Center 207 Stonebridge Boulevard Jackson 38305
Summit Endoscopy Center 1109 East Reelfoot Avenue Union City 38261
Union City Surgery Center 1722 East Reelfoot Drive Union City 38261

HF-0004 Revised 7/1/2019 2 R



Jackson-Madison County General Hospital District
-System Information

Address

Jackson-Madison County General Hospital - Acute

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

| Jackson-Madison County General Hospital - Pharmacy

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

"A Service of Jackson-Madison County General Hospital"

Provider Based Department (ON CAMPUS)

Alice and Carl Kirkiand Cancer Center (Kirkland Cancer Center)

720 West Forest Avenue, Jackson Tn 38301

Anesthesiology

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Cardiology

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Clinical Hematology

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Dermatology

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Emergency

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Family Practice

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Gastroenterology

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

infectious Disease

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Internal Medicine

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Medical Oncology 620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN 38301
Medicine 620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN 38301
Nephrology 620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN 38301
Neurology 620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN 38301

Neurophysiology

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Obstetrics & Gynecology

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Oncology

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Ophthalmology and Otolarnology

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Orthopedic Surgery

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Pain Clinic

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Pathology

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Pediatrics/NeonatologyPediatric Subspecialties

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Pulmonary Disease

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Radiation Oncology

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN

38301

Radiology 620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN 38301

Skyline Endoscopy 27 Medical Center Drive, Jackson Tn 38301

Sleep Disorders Center 620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN 38301

Surgery, 620 Skyline Drive 620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN 38301

Urology, 620 Skyline Drive 620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN 38301

West Tennessee Surgery Center 700 Forest Avenue Jackson TN 38301

Wound Care, 620 Skyline Drive 620 Skyline Drive, Jackson, TN 38301

West Tennessee imaging Center 300 Coastsland Drive, Jackson TN 38301

Provider Based Department (OFF CAMPUS)
A Service of Jackson-Madison County General Hospital"

Al Ca 29 Wayne Rd Savannah TN 38372

3525 Chere Carol Road Humboldt TN 38343

Qutpatient Services, 200 Hospital Drive Trenton, TN 38382

3525 Chere Carol Road Humboldt TN 38343

174 Murray Guard Drive Jackson TN 38305

West Tennessee Healthcare North Hospital (satellite) 367 Hospital Boulevard Jackson TN 38305

Other

LIFT Wellness Center (LIFT Health) 101 Jackson Walk Plaza, Jackson TN 38301

Medical Center Anesthesia Inc. 620 Skyline Drive, Jackson Tn 38301
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Camden Cardiology Outreach Clinic
Dyersburg Cardiology Outreach Clinic
Lexington Cardiology Outreach Clinic
Martin Cardiology Outreach Clinic
-Paris Cardiology Outreach Clinic
Brownsville Cardiology Outreach Clinic

186 Hospital Drive, Camden TN 38320

1700 Woodlawn Drive Dyersburg TN 38012
9550 Highway 412 West Lexington TN 38351
215 Hawks Road, Suite 4 Martin TN 38237
1006 B Cornerstone Drive Paris TN 38242

71 Medical Center Drive Brownsville TN 38012

Sleep Center

TZ? Medical Center Drive Suite A, Jackson, TN 38301

Sleep Lab
Sleep Lab
Sleep Lab
Sleep Lab
Infusion Clinic
Wellness Clinic
Wellness Clinic
Lung Nodule Clinic

West TN Heart and Vascular
Pediatric Neurodevelopmental Clinic

Pediatric Hospitalists

175 Hospital Drive Camden Tennessee 38320
650 Nuckolls Road Bolivar TN 38008

4039 S Highland Street Milan Tennessee 38358
620 Skyline Drive Jackson, Tennessee 38301
620 Skyline Drive Jackson, Tennessee 38301
620 Skyline Drive Jackson, Tennessee 38301
101 Jackson Walk Plaza Jackson, Tennessee 38301
620 Skyline Drive Jackson, Tennessee 38301
1700 Woodlawn Dyersburg Tennessee 38024
620 Skyline Drive Jackson, Tennessee 38301
620 Skyline Drive Jackson, Tennessee 38301
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Pathways of Tennessee, Inc.

Pathways - mental health hospital

Address

367 Hospital Boulevard 4th Floor Jackson, TN 38305

Pathways - Adult Psychiatric Outpatient Office

238 Summar Drive, Jackson TN 38301

Pathways-Alcohol & Drug Residential Detoxification

4039 South Highland 3rd Floor, Milan TN 38358

Pathways - Pharmacy

238 Summar Drive, Jackson TN 38301

Pathways - Day Treatment

905 East Chester Street, Jackson Tn 38301

Pathways - Dyer County Office

1720 Woodlawn Avenue Dyersburg, TN 38024

Pathways - Employee Assistance Program

33 Directors Row, Jackson Tn 38305

Pathways - Gibson County Office

4039 South Highland St, Suite 2 Milan TN 38358

Pathways - Henderson County Office

9550 Hwy 412 West, Ste B, Lexington, TN 38351

Pathways - Lake County Office

223 South Court Street, Tiptonville, TN 38079

Pathways - Obion County

930 Mt. Zion Road, Union City TN 38261

Pathways - Haywood County Office

1120 Tammbell Street, Brownsville, TN 38012
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Legal Name

Address

Hospitals

BOLIVAR GENERAL HOSPITAL, INC.

Bolivar General Hospital -Critical Access 06-22-18 ( Acute former)

650 Nuckolls Road, Bolivar, TN 38008

Bolivar General Hospital - Swing Bed

650 Nuckolls Road, Bolivar, TN 38008

Bolivar General Hospital - Pharmacy

650 Nuckolls Road, Bolivar, TN 38008

CAMDEN GENERAL HOSPITAL, INC.

Camden General Hospital - Critical Access

175 Hospital Drive, Camden, TN 38320

Camden General Hospital - Swing Bed

175 Hospital Drive, Camden, TN 38320

Camden General Hospital - Pharmacy

175 Hospital Drive, Camden, TN 38320

MILAN GENERAL HOSPITAL, INC.

Milan General Hospital - Acute Beds

4039 South Highland, Milan, TN 38358

Milan General Hospital - Swing Bed

4039 South Highland, Milan, TN 38358

Milan General Hospital -Pharmacy

4039 South Highland, Milan, TN 38358

WEST TENNESSEE HEALTHCARE DYERSBURG HOSPITAL

400 East Tickle Street, Dyersburg TN 38024

West Tennessee Healthcare Dyersburg Hospital Acute Beds

400 East Tickle Street, Dyersburg TN 38024

West Tennessee Healthcare Outpatient Surgical Services

420 Wilkinson Drive, Dyersburg, TN 38024

West Tennessee Healthcare Dyersburg Hospital Swing Beds

400 East Tickle Street, Dyersburg TN 38024

WEST TENNESSEEHEALTHCARE VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL

161 Mount Pelia Road, Martin, TN 38237

West Tennessee Healthcare Volunteer Hospital Acute Beds

161 Mount Pelia Road, Martin, TN 38237

West Tennesssee Healthcare Hillview Diagnostic Center

1135 Broadway Street Suite A, South Fulton TN

West Tennessee Healthcare Volunteer Hospital Swing Beds

161 Mount Pelia Road, Martin, TN 38237

Other

Health Partners

1804 Highway 45 ByPass, Jackson, TN 38305

Hospice of West Tennessee

1804 Highway 45 ByPass, Jackson, TN 38305

Medical Center EMS

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson TN 38301

TennCare

Medical Center Laboratory

620 Skyline Drive, Jackson TN 38301

TennCare

Medical Center Medical Products

1061 West Forest Avenue, Jackson TN 38301

Medical Center Medical Products Infusion Services

1061 West Forest Avenue, Jackson TN 38301

Medical Center Medical Products inside Kirkland Cancer Center

720 West Forest Avenue Jackson TN 38301

Medical Center Medical Products inside Jackson General Lower Level

620 Skyline Drive Jackson, TN 38301

Therapy and Learning Center Inc.

34 Garland Drive, Jackson, TN 38305

Therapy and Leaming Center Inc. (Adult Day Care)

32 Conrad Drive Jackson TN 38301

Child Care Resource and Referral

1804 Hwy 45 ByPass 2nd FL Jackson TN 38305

KIDS Program

32 Garland Drive Bldg B Jackson TN 38305

Pediatric Therapy

32 Garland Drive Jackson TN 38305

10 Garland Drive Jackson TN 38305

Rein-Bow Riding Academy

150 Frays Lane Huron TN 38345

Trenton Medical Center

200 Hospital Drive, Trenton TN38382

Lexington Medical Center

9550 Highway 412 West Lexington TN 38351
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Jackson Madison Surgery Center LLC

700 West Forest Av Suite 100 Avenue Jackson
TN 38301
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b

West Tennessee Medical Group, Inc. Facilities

Address

27A Medical Center Drive, Jackson TN 38301

Bolivar General Hospitalist

650 Nuckolls Road Bolivar TN 38008

Camden General Hospitalist

175 Hospital Drive, Camden TN 38320

Heart Rhythm Clinic

27A Medical Center.Drive, Jackson TN 38301

Hospitalists

616 W Forest Avenue Jackson TN 38301

GYN Specialists

379 Hospital Boulevard, Jackson, Tennessee 38305

S

395 Hospital Boulevard, Jackson TN 38305

87 Skyline Drive, Jackson Tn 38301

616 W Forest Avenue Jackson TN 38301

101 Jackson Walk Plaza Jackson TN 38301

£ 11700 Woodlawn Avenue, Dyersburg TN 38024

4039 S Highland Avene Milan TN 38358

Milan General Hospitalist

616 W Forest Avenue Jackson TN 38301

School Clinic Milan

1100 Middle School Road, Milan Tn 38358

West TN Neurosciences

700 West Forest Avenue Suite 200, Jackson TN 38301

West TN Neurosciences

West TN Neurosciences

27 Medical Center Drive Suite A, Jackson TN 38301 ]

1006 B Cornerstone Drive Paris, TN 38242

West TN Neurosceinces

616 W Forest Avenue Jackson TN 38301

West TN Neurosciences

1700 Woodlawn Avenue, Dyersburg TN 38024

Pallative Care

620 Skyline Drive Jackson TN 38301

Pallative Care

720 West Forest Avenue Jackson TN 38301

Primecare Medical Center

710 East Main Street, Adamsville, TN 38310

Primecare Medical Center

426 White Avenue, Henderson, Tn 38340

Primecare Medical Center

270 East Court Avenue Suite B, Selmer, Tn 38375

Primecare Medical Center

155 Hamlett Avenue Henderson, TN 38340

Primecare Medical Center

650 Nuckolls Road Bolivar TN 38008

Primecare Medical Center

9550 Highway 412 West Lexington TN 38351

Mid Town Pharmacy

270 E Court Avenue Suite C, Selmer, Tn 38375

West TN Medical Group Lexington

9550 Highway 412 West Lexington TN 38351

School Health Clinic

668 Lexington Avenue Jackson TN 38301

West TN Gastro

27 Medical Center Drive Jackson TN 38301

West TN Gastro

935 Wayne Road Savannah TN 38372

West TN Gastro

650 Nuckolls Road Bolivar TN 38008

West TN Gastro

71 Medical Center Drive, Brownsville, TN 38012

West TN Gastro

175 Hospital Drive Camden TN 38320

West TN Gastro

1006 Comerstone Drive Suite B, Paris TN 38242

West TN Gastro

1700 Woodlawn Drive Dyersburg TN 38024

West TN Gastro

9550 Highway 412 West Lexington TN 38351

tndustry Clinics

Marvin Windows (7161)

101 Marvin Drive, Ripley, TN 38063

TBDN (7163)

1410 US Highway 70 ByPass Jackson, TN 38301
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.Cceo (7164)

‘Deita Faucet (7165)

ThyssenKrupp (7166)
, MARTIN HEALTH

9159 Telecom Drive Milan TN 38358

3441 Ridegcrest Road Extened, Jackson, TN 38305

600 S Main St Middleton, TN 38052

West Tennessee Medical Group Primary Care Martin

143 Kennedy Drive Martin TN 38237

West Tennessee Medical Group Hillview South Clinic

1135 Broadway South Fulton TN 38257

WT REGIONAL MEDICAL ASSOCIATES

West Tennessee Medical Group Primary Care Caruthersville

108 West 15th Street Caruthersville MO

WT-MEDICAL ASSOCIATES

West Tennessee Medical Group Primary Care Dyersburg

1716 Parr Avenue Suite B Dyersburg TN 38024

West Tennessee Medical Group Primary Care Halls

320 South Church Street Halls TN 38040

West Tennessee Medical Group Women's Care Dyersburg

455 East Parkview Street Dyersburg TN 38024

West Tennessee Medical Group Surgery Group Dyersburg

503 East Tickle Street Suite A Dyersburg TN 38024

West Tennessee Medical Group Orthopedics Dyersburg

1718 Parr Avenue Suite C Dyersburg TN 38024

West Tennessee Medical Group Digestive Health Dyersburg

420 Wilkinson Drive 2nd Floor Dyersburg TN 38024

West Tennessee Medical Group Internal Medicine Dyersburg

1629 Woodlawn Avenue, Dyersburg TN 38024

West Tennessee Medical Group Family Medicine Dyersburg

1716 Parr Avenue Suite C Dyersburg TN 38024

West Tenenssee Medical Group Urology Jackson

379 Hosptial Blvd Jackson TN 38305

West Tennessee Medical Group Endocrinology Dyersburg

1716 Parr Avenue Suite F, Dyersburg TN 38024

West Tennessee Medical Group Urology Dyersburg

2 oot

West Tennessee Medical Group Specialty Clinic Martin

1716 Parr Avenue Suite A, Dyersburg TN 38024

31 Physicians Drive Jackson TN 38305

1270 Union University Drive Unit A Jackson TN 38305

21 Meridan Springs Jackson TN 38301

215 Hawks Road Suite 4 Martin TN 38237

West Tennessee Medical Group Primary Care Martin- Hawks

215 Hawks Road Suite 6 Martin TN 38237

West Tennessee Medical Group ENT Dyersburg

1718 Parr Avenue Suite E Dyersburg TN 38024

MedSouth Medical Center, Dyersburg Beginning 10/1/19 from WTMG

1700 Woodlawn Avenue, Dyersburg TN 38024

BOLIVAR GENERAL HOSPITALINC

West Tennessee Medical Group Bolivar

640 Nuckolls Road Bolivar TN 38008

WT University Medical'‘Associatés Inc:

294 Summar Drive Jackson TN 38301

dba West Tennessee Healthcare UT:Medicine

West Tennessee Healthcare Hospitalists:Inc:

Hospitalists

620 Skyline Drive Jackson TN 38301
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ILift Therapy, Inc.

Address

Lift Therapy, Inc.

101 Jackson Walk Plaza, Jackson Tn 38301

Sports Plus Aqua Therapies,

614 E. Carriage House Drive, Jackson TN 38305

Sports Plus Rehab Center North

1378 Union University Drive Jackson Tn 38305

Sports Plus Rehab Center South

1725 D South Highland Jackson Tn 38301

Sports Plus Rehab Center Dyersburg

1700 Woodlawn Dyersburg TN 38024

Sports Plus Rehab Center Henderson

123 Front Street, Henderson TN 38340

Sports Plus Rehab Center Lexington

9550 Highway 412 West Lexington Tn 38351

Sports Plus Rehab Center Medina

29 Garrett Drive Medina, TN 38355

Sports Plus Rehab Center Alamo

300 Climer Loop Alamo Tennessee 38001

Sports Plus Rehab Center Brownsville

38 Medical Center Drive Brownsville TN 38012

Sports Plus Rehab Center Humboldt

3525 Chere Carol Road Humboldt, Tn 38343

Sports Plus Rehab Center Milan

14075 South 1st Street #R Milan TN 38358

Sports Plus Rehab Center Trenton

2017 South College Street Suite A, Trenton Tn 38382

Work Plus Rehab Center

343 vann Drive Jackson TN 38305
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Medical Center EMS Licenses and Locations

License No Station No [Address

Madison County EMS0000005702 1 44 Forest Cove, Jackson TN 38301
2 60 Auditorium Drive, Jackson TN 38301
3 3550 North Highland Avenue, Jackson TN 38305

3 Fleet 13550 North Highland Avenue, Jackson TN 38305

8 105 Watson Road, Jackson TN 38305
9 57 Quinn Drive Jackson TN 38301

Chester County EMS0000010067 4 320 Quinco Drive Henderson TN 38340

Benton County EMSO0000010066 5 187 Hospital Drive, Camden TN 38320
6 7264 Cedar Grove Road Big Sandy TN 38221
7 10698 Highway 192 Holladay TN 38341
11 113 Enterprise Dr Adamsville TN 38310

Dyer County EMS0000010248 12 1012 Forrest St Dyersburg TN 38024
14 718 Sharps Ferry Road Newbern TN 38059
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Jackson Madison Surgery Center, LLC

Jackson-Madison County General
Hospital District
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West Tennessee Jackson Madison County
Surgery Center, LLC

Healthcare, Inc.
Sublease of Space
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Interest i

STATE OF TENNESSEE

COUNTY OF MADISON

GROUND LEASE
This GROUND LEASE (this “Lease”) is made and entered into effective as of the 19 day
of December, 2008, by and between WEST TENNESSEE HEALTHCARE, INC., a Tennessee
non profit corporation and governmental instrumentality of Jackson-Madison County General
Hospital District (“Landlord”), and WEST TENNESSEE INVESTORS, LLC, a Tennessee

limited liability company (‘“Tenant”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Landlord owns that certain tract or parcel of land containing approximately
four and 15/100ths (4.15) acres fronting on West Forest Avenue in Jackson, Madison County,
Tennessee, which land is depicted as “Lot 1 on the plat entitled “Final Plat of Lot 1 Medical Office
Center Forest Avenue” prepared by Professional Land Services Inc. dated October 17, 2008 and
recorded in Plat Book 10, Page 639 in the Register’s Office of Madison County, Tennessee (the
“Plat”) and more particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by
this reference (the “Land”); and

WHEREAS, Landlord has developed a long-range plan to meet the growing need for
patient care services and ancillary facilities consistent therewith in the Jackson-Madison County
General Hospital District’s hospital facility (the “Hospital”) service area; and

WHEREAS, having ancillary facilities relating to the provision of medical services will

improve the delivery of patient care services in the Hospital's service area; and
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WHEREAS, patients and physicians may be required to expend their time and consume
scarce energy resources traveling between the Hospital and offices maintained by physicians at
various locations; and

WHEREAS, having the offices of physicians providing medical services to patients being
treated at the Hospital physically near such facility will improve the delivery of patient care services
by making such physicians more readily available to perform services in the Hospital, and

WHEREAS, the public will benefit from the enhanced delivery of patient care services to
be expected from having physicians more readily available in the Hospital's service area; and

WHEREAS, insufficient office facilities have been constructed in the Hospital’s service
area to provide such benefits to the full extent desirable to serve the public good; and

WHEREAS, Landlord desires (i) to encourage the location of physicians on or near the
Hospital’s campus (the “Campus”) to enhance delivery of patient care services and provide other
benefits to Landlord and (ii) to increase health care services on the Campus; and

WHEREAS, as part of Landlord’s long range expansion plans, Landlord and Tenant have
entered into an Amended and Restated Development Agreement dated as of September 24, 2008
(the “Development Agreement”) pursuant to which a building containing approximately 106,772
rentable square feet to be known as the “Medical Center Physicians Tower” (the “Building”), to be
constructed and owned by Tenant and used as a “Class A” medical office building and ambulatory
surgery center, is planned for that certain area of the Land containing approximately ninety three
one hundredths (0.93) acres and depicted as “Lease Parcel” (the ‘“Leased Premises”) on the site plan

attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by this reference (the “Site Plan”).
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NOW, THEREFORE, In consideration of the rent to be paid, the mutual covenants and
agreements herein contained, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and legal
sufficiency of which are hereby aclowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

I
PREMISES

Landlord hereby demises and rents unto Tenant, and Tenant hereby rents and hires from
Landlord, the Leased Premises, together with any and all improvements located thereon and
appurtenances thereto (collectively, the “Demised Premises”); together with: (i) the non-exclusive
right to utilize, subject to reasonable controls and restrictions imposed by Landlord from time to
time for safety and traffic control, all sidewalks, walkways, driveways, roads and streets located
from time-to-time on the portion of the Campus located to the south of West Forest Avenue which
are reasonably necessary for the development, construction and operation of the Building; (ii) the
non-exclusive right of ingress and egress for pedestrian traffic to and from the Building over all
sidewalks and walkways located between and/or connecting the Hospital facilities and buildings on
the Campus to the Building; and (iii) the non-exclusive right of ingress and egress for vehicular and
pedestrian traffic to and from the Building and parking areas located upon the Land over those areas
labeled “Ingress-Egress Easement” on the Plat.

The foregoing rights and easements shall be appurtenant to the Demised Premises and are
hereinafter included in the definition of the Demised Premises. On or before the Commencement
Date (hereinafter defined), Landlord and Tenant shall enter into an easement agreement, reasonably
acceptable to both parties and which shall be recorded in the Register’s Office of Madison County,
Tennessee, pursuant to which Landlord shall grant the foregoing rights and easements to Tenant for

the Term (hereinafter defined) of this Lease.
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The following additional stipulations, hereby declared to be conditions of this Lease, shall,

unless otherwise expressly stated, be applicable at all times throughout the term of this Lease.
IL
TERM OF LEASE AND RENTAL

The initial term of this Lease shall be for a period of fifty (50) years (the “Initial Tenn”),
commencing on the earlier of (i) the date of closing of the loan to be obtained by Tenant for the
construction of the Building and (ii) commencement of site work on the Demised Premises by
Tenant (the earlier of such dates being the “Commencement Date”), and ending on the last day of
the month during which the fiftieth (50" anniversary of the Commencement Date occurs (the
“Expiration Date”). On or about the Commencement Date, Landlord and Tenant shall execute a
written agreement establishing the Commencement Date.

Tenant shall have three (3) consecutive options to extend the term of this Lease (the
“Renewal Options”), each for a period of ten (10) years (each, a “Renewal Term”). Tenant may
exercise each of the Renewal Options by providing written notice thereof to Landlord at least one
year (1) prior to expiration of the Initial Term or then-current Renewal Term, as applicable. The
Initial Term, together with all exercised Renewal Terms, shall hereinafter be referred to as the
“Term”.

Beginning on the Commencement Date and continuing until the Rent Commencement Date
(hereinafter defined) (the “Preliminary Term”), Tenant shall pay to Landlord the amount of Nine
Thousand Seven Hundred and No/100 Dollars ($9,700.) per annum, one-twelfth (1/12") of which
shall be paid in advance on the first day of each month during the Preliminary Term and shall be

prorated for any portion of a month at the beginning or end of the Preliminary Term.
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Beginning on the date a temporary or final certificate of occupancy is first issued for any
portion of the Building (the “Rent Commencement Date”), Tenant shall pay to Landlord, annually
in advance, and, except as otherwise set forth herein, without demand, offset or deduction, annual
rent of Thirty One Thousand and No/100 Dollars (8§31,000.00) (“Rent”). Rent shall be increased on
each anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date by the greater of (i) one-half (}2) of the
percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers published by the Bureau
of Labor, U.S. City Average (1982-1984 = 100) (the “CPI”) from the Rent Commencement Date or
the immediately preceding anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date, as applicable, to the
date of the adjustment in Rent and (ii) two percent (2%). If the CPI is no longer prepared and
published, then the percentage increase in Rent shall be determined by the percentage increase in
any comparable index then prepared for such time period and published by an agency of the
Govemment of the United States, appropriately adjusted for changes in the manner in which such
index is prepared and/or the year upon which such index is based.

Any Rent not paid by Tenant within fifteen (15) days following the date when due shall bear
interest at the Prime Rate of Interest of Bank of America, N.A. (or its successor, if applicable) in
effect on such date (the “Prime Rate”) from the date due until paid. Additionally, if Tenant is
delinquent in the payment of any Rent for more than ten (10) days following the date when due,
Tenant shall pay Landlord, without demand, a late charge equal to five percent (5%) of such
delinquent sum as liquidated damages to compensate Landlord for Landlord's costs, expenses and
other damages which it will incur as a result of such late payment, but which are not readily
quantifiable. The foregoing interest and late charges shall be in addition to all of Landlord’s other

rights and remedies hereunder or at law.,
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In addition to Rent, beginning as of the Rent Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay to
Landlord such amounts as are necessary to reimburse Landlord for Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of
common area maintenance expenses (“CAM Charges”). For purposes hereof, “Tenant’s Pro Rata
Share” shall mean a percentage to be negotiated reasonably and in good faith and agreed upon by
Landlord and Tenant on or before December 1, 2009. On or before December 1* of each year
during the Term, beginning with December 1, 2009, Landlord and Tenant shall negotiate
reasonably, diligently and in good faith to reach agreement upon a budget of CAM Charges for
the immediately following calendar year of the Term (each, a “CAM Budget”). Upon reaching
agreement on the CAM Budget, beginning on January 1* and continuing on the first day of each
month of the immediately following calendar year, Tenant shall pay to Landlord one-twelfth
/ 12" of Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of the CAM Charges identified in the CAM Budget for such
year. In the event Tenant’s Pro Rata Share of the actual CAM Charges for such year exceeds the
payments collected by Landlord from Tenant, Tenant shall pay such excess within twenty (20)
days after receipt of notice from Landlord of the amount of the excess. In the event Tenant’s Pro
Rata Share of the actual CAM Charges for such year is less than the payments collected by
Landlord from Tenant, Landlord shall, at Tenant’s option, either return the difference to Tenant
or credit the difference to future payments of Lessee’s Pro Rata Share of CAM Charges.

Upon request by Tenant, and at Tenant’s cost and expense, noting that Landlord will not
charge any fees for said request, Landlord shall furnish to Tenant such information as may be
reasonably necessary for Tenant to verify the CAM Charges and shall cooperate with Tenant in
verifying the CAM Charges. The calculation of the CAM Charges shall be rendered by Landlord
to Tenant within one (1) month after calculation of the same by Landlord (the “Statement of

CAM Charges"). Tenant shall have ninety (90) days after receipt of the Statement of CAM
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Charges to dispute the correctness or completeness thereof, after which time the Statement of
CAM Charges shall be deemed to be complete and correct and conclusive and binding on
Landlord and Tenant. Tenant shall not be entitled to withhold payment of CAM Charges for any
reason, but payment of any CAM Charges shall not preclude Tenant from thereafter disputing the
correctness or completeness of the Statement of CAM Charges. In the event Tenant shall dispute
the Statement of CAM Charges, and Landlord and Tenant cannot resolve the dispute within four
(4) months after Landlord renders the Statement of CAM Charges, then the matter may be
submitted to arbitration conducted under the commercial arbitration rules of the American
Arbitration Association in Madison County, Tennessee.

The term “CAM Charges” shall include ad valorem real property taxes, if any, and all
normal costs of operating, maintaining and insuring those portions of the Land and the
improvements thereon that are used by Tenant in common with others, including, without
limitation, the driveways, parking areas, parking garage, sidewalks, walkways, lighting and
landscaping; provided however, “CAM Charges” shall not include the cost of any capital
improvements, replacements nor reserve amounts.

I11.

LANDLORD IMPROVEMENTS

Prior to the Commencement Date, Landlord, at its sole cost and expense, shall make
available, or cause to be made available, to the Demised Premises, all utilities and similar services
(together “Utilities™), including without limitation, water, sewer, gas, electricity, telephone and
telecommunications. Such Ultilities shall be made available to the Demised Premises at or prior to
the Commencement Date or at such other time as shall be acceptable to Tenant and shall be made

available in such quantities or having such capabilities and capacities as are consistent with the
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intended use of the Demised Premises. No other Landlord improvements to the Demised Premises
are required as a condition of this Lease. All other improvements are the responsibility of Tenant.
Iv.

IMPROVEMENTS AND ALTERATIONS

Tenant shall develop, construct and operate upon the Demised Premises, at its sole cost and
expense, the Building. The Building will be constructed substantially in accordance with the plans
and specifications prepared by RPA Design, P.C. of Charlotte, North Carolina and more fully
described in Exhibit C attached hereto (the “Plans and Specifications™) and in compliance with
applicable laws, ordinances and regulations. Tenant shall submit the Plans and Specifications for
the Building to a person designated by Landlord for Landlord's approval. The review and approval
of Landlord will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned nor delayed. If Landlord does not notify
Tenant of any disapproval or request any changes within thirty (30) days after submission by Tenant
of the Plans and Specifications, approval by Landlord shall be deemed granted. If Landlord
disapproves any portion of the Plans and Specifications or requests any amendments thereto,
written disapproval specifically describing the items to which objection is registered, or written
request for amendments, shall be delivered to Tenant within such thirty (30) day period. It is
understood and agreed that Landlord and Tenant will work together in submitting and responding to
requests for approvals in a reasonable, expeditious manner.

Subject to the provisions below, construction of the Building will begin at the time Tenant
gives to its contractor the notice to proceed pursuant to the term of the Development Agreement
and will be completed not later than fifteen (15) months after the date of commencement of

construction. It is agreed that the commencement and completion dates shall be extended as a result

g -7
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of any delays resulting from changes requested by Landlord in the Plans and Specifications for the
Building,

There shall be excluded from the computation for the period of time allowed herein for the
completion of the construction of the Building, any delays due to strikes, riots, acts of God, acts of
war or terrorism, shortages of labor or materials, war, governmental laws, regulations or restrictions
or any other causes of any kind whatsoever which render Tenant physically incapable of perfonning
and which with the exercise of due diligence by Tenant cannot reasonably be prevented or
overcome. Any event which may delay performance under the tenms and provisions of this
paragraph shall be herein called an “unavoidable delay”. Tenant, in order to rely on an unavoidable
delay, shall send written notice to Landlord within ten (10) business days after the occurrence of
any unavoidable delay upon which it is relying to delay performance hereunder. The occurrence of
an unavoidable delay shall not excuse the obligation of Tenant to construct the Building as required
by this Lease, and the Tenant in relying on such unavoidable delay shall be excused from
performance hereunder only during such time as such unavoidable delay persists. Tenant shall
exercise commercially reasonable efforts to remedy such unavoidable delay and to perform its
delayed obligation with all reasonable dispatch.

After the Plans and Specifications described in Exhibit C are approved by Landlord, Tenant
shall make no material structural changes or alterations in the Building or other improvements as
may be constructed upon the Demised Premises nor material changes in the external decor of the
Building or other improvements without the prior written consent of Landlord. Tenant may make
such interior decorative and functional configurations as are consistent with the operation of a

medical office building, provided the same may be in compliance with the other terms of this Lease.
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Landlord agrees that during the entire Term of this Lease, Landlord shall grant Tenant such
easements as reasonably requested to permit Tenant, at Tenant's cost and expense, to relocate and/or
tie into and utilize sewer lines or other Utilities which run through or across the Landlord’s adjacent
properties. Such easements shall include the right of reasonable ingress and egress and the right to
maintain, repair or tap into, at Tenant's expense, such sewer lines or other utilities. Any utility line
located in the immediate construction area of the Building may be relocated by Tenant, at its cost;
provided, however, that such relocation shall be undertaken only with proper consents and
approvals from the City of Jackson, Tennessee and all govemmental and non-governmental entities
having junisdiction over such utility lines and easement areas. All buildings (including the Building)
and other improvements constructed on the Demised Premises shall remain upon the Demised
Premises at the termination of the Lease and shall, at that time and without compensation to Tenant,
become the property of the Landlord. No improvements shall be constructed so as to subject the
Demised Premises, or permit the Demised Premises to be subjected to liens of any laborer,
contractor, mechanic or materialman or to any other liens arising out of or connected with the
development, construction or maintenance of any improvements, alterations or additions to existing
improvements (except for statutory liens arising in the ordinary course which are promptly
discharged), unless Landlord expressly consents to such liens in writing,

Except for any liens arising in connection with a Leasehold Deed of Trust (hereinafter
defined) or otherwise permitted under this Lease, Tenant shall keep all of the Demised Premises
free and clear of all liens arising out of or claimed by reason of any work performed, materials
furnished or obligations incurred by or at the instance of Tenant. Upon completion of the Building
and any other improvements constructed from time to time by Tenant, Tenant shall record, or cause

to be recorded, a notice of completion of the Building in the Madison County, Tennessee’s
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Register’s office and shall furnish promptly to Landlord final sworn owner’s and con#actor’s
affidavits and final lien waivers covering all labor and materials included in the Building and other
improvements. Should Tenant fail to either (i) fully discharge any liens against the Building or the
Demised Premises or (ii) contest such liens, and in connection with such contest insure or bond
over such liens by title endorsement or bond reasonably satisfactory to Landlord (which
endorsement or bond shall also cover costs of defense), within thirty (30) days following receipt of
written notice from Landlord to do so, then Landlord may, at its option and without limitation of
any other rights or remedies, pay the same or any part thereof, and the amount of any such payments
shall be due and owning to Landlord from Tenant with interest thereon at the Prime Rate from the
date incurred until paid in full. No lien of any character whatsoever created or suffered by Tenant,
including, without limitation, the lien of any Leasehold Deed of Trust, shall in any way or to any
extent attach to Landlord’s fee simple ownership of the Demiscd Premises.

Tenant shall at all times during the Term keep the Building and any related improvements
in “Class A” condition and repair (provided, however, that the term “Class A” shall not include a
requirement that the Building be LEED-certified at any level, except to the extent required by law);
and Tenant shall keep the Demised Premises in a clean and sightly condition.

V.

FIXTURES AND PERSONAL PROPERTY FURNISHED BY TENANT

Tenant shall have the right at the termination of the Lease to remove any and all personal
property, medical equipment and trade fixtures which it may have stored or installed in the Building
or upon the Demised Premises, provided Tenant repairs any damage to the Building or Demised

Premises resulting from removal of such personal property, medical equipment or trade fixtures.
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VL

TITLE AND OWNERSHIP

Landlord represents and warrants that Landlord is authorized to execute this Lease for the
Term herein granted under the terms and conditions provided herein and that said Lease is
enforceable against Landlord in accordance with its terms. Landlord agrees to provide an opinion of
counsel acceptable to Tenant that proper action has been taken by its Board of Directors to enter
into this Lease.
VII.

QUIET ENJOYMENT

Landlord covenants that Tenant, on the performance of the terms and conditions of this
Lease, shall and may peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the Demised Premises for the full
term of this Lease, subject to Article XVII.
VIIL

NO PARTNERSHIP OR JOINT VENTURE

Under no circumstances as a result of this Lease shall Landlord and Tenant be deemed or
held to be partners or joint venturers in or concerning the Building to be developed, constructed,
and operated under this Lease.

IX.
UTILITIES

Tenant shall be responsible for contracting for utility and other services to the Demised
Premises throughout the Term. Except for Landlord obligations under Article III hereof, Tenant
shall pay all charges for utility services furnished to the Demised Premises during the Term. In

addition, Tenant shall be responsible for contracting with reputable service contractors pursuant to
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customary service contracts to service, on a regular basis, the heating, ventilating, air conditioning
and other systems located at the Building, as well as all freight and passenger elevators and
janitorial service. Tenant shall provide Landlord, upon request, true, correct and complete copies of
all such service contracts.

Except to the extent caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its
employees, contractors or agents, no interruption of services or utilities caused by repairs,
replacements or alterations to any service systems, or by any other cause, shall be deemed an
eviction or disturbance of Tenant’s use or possession of any part of the Demised Premises nor
render Landlord liable to Tenant for damages, nor otherwise affect the rights and obligations of
Landlord and Tenant under this Lease.

X.

PAYMENT OF TAXES OR ASSESSMENTS

Landlord represents that at the time of execution of this Lease there are no taxes due and
owing on the Demised Premises, except for taxes owed for the current year; provided, however,
that ad valorem property taxes on the Demised Premises shall be prorated as of the Commencement
Date for the year in which the Commencement Date occurs. If at any time during the Tenm of this
Lease any ad valorem property taxes or other assessments are made against the Demised Premises
or the Building, Tenant shall be liable for payment of any and all such taxes and assessments
applicable to the Term. If Landlord receives notice of any such taxes or assessments, Landlord
agrees to forward same to Tenant. Tenant will, at all times during the Term of this Lease, save
harmless Landlord from all such taxes, assessments and charges against the Demised Premises and

the Building applicable to the Term and from all liens and penalties in conjunction therewith.
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Nothing herein shall be construed as preventing or interfering with the contestation by
Tenant, at its own expense, of any tax, assessment, charge, lien or claim of any kind in respect to
the Demised Premises or the Building, and Tenant shall not be considered in default with respect to
payment thereof for so long as the matter shall remain undetermined by final judgment.

XI.

LEASEHOLD FINANCING

Subject to the express conditions contained herein, Tenant shall have the right, at any time
and on one or more occasions, to grant a deed of trust encumbering its interest in this Lease and the
Demised Premises and the Building (collectively, the “Leasehold Interest’) on such terms,
conditions, and for such duration (not to exceed the Expiration Date of this Lease) as Tenant shall
determine, and to enter into any and all extensions, modifications, amendments, replacements, and
refinancing of any such deed of trust (the “Leasehold Deed of Trust”) as Tenant may desire, without
the consent of Landlord if the Leasehold Mortgagee (hereinafter defined) acknowledges (a) the
unsubordinated nature of the Landlord's fee simple interest in the Demised Premises, (b) the
requirement that all leasing and use obligations be honored for the entire Term of the Lease,
notwithstanding any foreclosure of the Leasehold Deed of Trust or other action of any nature
undertaken by the Leasehold Mortgagee with respect to the Demised Premises; and (¢) upon
termination of this Lease, whether by expiration of the Term or default by Tenant, except as
expressly provided herein, the Leasehold Deed of Trust shall be rendered null and void, with the
Leasehold Mortgagee having no further interest of any nature to the Demised Premises or the

improvements located thereon.
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Tenant acknowledges that the fee interest in the Demised Premises is owned by Landlord
and that Landlord's title to the Demised Premises and its interest in this Lease cannot and shall not
be subordinated to any Leasehold Mortgagee or any other person or entity whomsoever.

If Tenant shall encumber the Leasehold Interest with a Leasehold Deed of Trust, then, as
long as any such Leasehold Deed of Trust shall remain unsatisfied of record, the following
provisions shall apply, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, and any
pertinent provisions of this Lease shall be deemed to be amended and modified to the extent
necessary so as to provide as follows:

(i) If the holder of any Leasehold Deed of Trust (the “Leasehold Mortgagee”) on the
Leasehold Interest, but only the holder of a first Leasehold Deed of Trust if there is more than one
Leasehold Deed of Trust, shall register with Landlord its name and address in writing, Landlord, on
serving Tenant any notice of default, notice of a matter on which Landlord may predicate or claim a
default, or any other notice pursuant to the provisions of, or with respect to, this Lease, shall at the
same time serve a duplicate counterpart of such notice on the then-existing Leasehold Mortgagee by
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the Leasehold Mortgagee at the address
registered with Landlord, and no notice by Landlord to Tenant hereunder shall be deemed to have
been given to Tenant unless and until such duplicate counterpart thereof has been so served on such

Leasehold Mortgagee.
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(i) Tenant agrees to provide the Leasehold Mortgagee (but only the holder of the first
Leasehold Deed of Trust if there is more than one Leasehold Deed of Trust) with notice of any
default hereunder by Landlord by certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the
Leasehold Mortgagee at the address provided in any Leasehold Deed of Trust granted by Tenant,
and Tenant agrees not to terminate this Lease as a result of a default by Landlord hereunder without
the prior written consent of such Leasehold Mortgagee, which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned nor delayed.

(iii) The Leasehold Mortgagee shall have the right, within the period provided and
otherwise as herein specified, provided it acts expeditiously and so notifies Landlord of its intended
actions, to remedy or cause to be remedied any default or matter on which Landlord may predicate
or claim a default noticed by Landlord, and Landlord shall accept such performance by or at the
instigation of the Leasehold Mortga‘gee as if the same had been performed by Tenant. Tenant
constitutes and appoints Leasehold Mortgagee as Tenant’s agent and attorney-in-fact with full
power, in Tenant's name, place and stead, and at Tenant’s cost and expense, to perform any of
Tenant's obligations according to the provisions of this Lease. In this regard, upon reasonable prior
notice from the Leasehold Mortgagee to Landlord and Tenant (except in thc event of emergency
requiring immediate action, in which case no prior notice shall be required), the Leasehold
Mortgagee is imrevocably granted full and complete access and right of entry to the Demised
Premises by Landlord and Tenant for purposes of curing any non-monetary default of Tenant
declared to exist by Landlord under the terms of this Lease.

(iv) During such time as the Leasehold Trust Interest of any Leasehold Mortgagee remains
unsatisfied of record, Landlord shall not terminate this Lease or evict the Tenant as a result of any

default by Tenant hereunder if before the expiration of ninety (90) days after the date of service of
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notice of default under Article XVIII of this Lease, the Leasehold Mortgagee shall have cured or
caused to be cured such event of default; provided, however, that:

(A) in the event any non-monetary default is not cured or caused to be cured by the
Leasehold Mortgagee prior to the expiration of the ninety (90) day period specified herein,
the default shall nevertheless be deemed cured if within said ninety (90) day period the
Leasehold Mortgagee commences or causes to commence curative action and the same is
continued to completion with reasonable diligence;

(B) if any default is not reasonably susceptible of being cured by the Leasehold
Mortgagee and before the expiration of the above referenced ninety (90) day period, the
Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee shall deliver to Landlord its agreement and obligation
to perform and observe the covenants and conditions to be performed by Tenant in this
Lease so long as it remains the Leasehold Mortgagee, excluding any covenant related to a
default not reasonably susceptible of being cured by the Leasehold Mortgagee, then, any
default not reasonably susceptible of being cured by the Leasehold Mortgagee shall be
deemcd to be cured;

(C) nothing herein contained shall in any way affect, diminish, or impair Landlord’s
right during said ninety (90) day period to pursue any remedy specified herein other than
termination of this Lease or eviction of the Tenant, subject, however, to all of the provisions
hereof;

(D) no covenant related to the use and leasing obligations of the Tenant under this
Lease shall be deemed to create a “default not reasonably susceptible of being cured by the

Leasehold Mortgagee™; and
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(E) if the Leasehold Mortgagee, after use of its commercially reasonable, good faith
efforts, is unable to cure any default which exists under this Lease within the aforesaid
ninety (90) day period as a result of any bankruptcy proceeding, court order or the
unenforceability or potential unenforceability of any self-help provisions provided for in this
Lease or in the Leasehold Mortgagee’s respective loan documents, Landlord shall not
terminate this Lease or seek to evict Tenant even after the ninety (90) day period otherwise
specified herein has cxpired so long as: (1) the Leasehold Mortgagee provides Landlord
with a written undertaking to promptly cure the subject default as soon as the Leasehold
Mortgagee is permitted to do so; (2) a letter of credit, surety bond or financial guarantee
acceptable to Landlord is deposited in trust with Landlord to assure Landlord that the
subject default will be so cured; (3) the Leasehold Mortgagee diligently and continuously
seeks to obtain appropriate legal relief to permit it to cure the subject default, including
proceeding with foreclosure to the extent permitted to do so; and (4) the Leasehold
Mortgagee promptly proceeds to cure the subject default as soon as it is permitted to do so.
(v) On the written request of the Leasehold Mortgagee given within ninety (90) days

following termination of this Lease, Landlord shall enter into a new or direct lease of the Demised
Premises with the Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee (which designee shall be approved by
Landlord, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned nor delayed) (the ‘“New
Tenant”), upon any termination of this Lease. Such new or direct lease shall be effective as of the
date of termination of this Lease, and shall be for the remainder of the Term of this Lease and at the
Annual Rent and on all the agreements, terms, covenants, and conditions of this Lease; provided,
however, that no provision shall be contained in the new lease which relates to any default under

this Lease not reasonably susceptible of being cured by the Leasehold Mortgagee. To the extent
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Landlord acquires any interest related to the Building as a result of the termination of this Lease,
Landlord shall undertake all such action as reasonably requested by the New Tenant to place said
New Tenant in the same position that the Tenant would have enjoyed had no termination of this
Lease occurred. On the execution of such new or direct lease, the New Tenant shall pay any and all
sums, including all past due Rent, which would at the time of the execution thereof be due under
this Lease but for its termination and shall otherwise fully remedy or agree in writing to timely
remedy any non-monetary defaults existing under this Lease, other than a default which is not
reasonably susceptible of being cured, which defaults shall be, and shall be deemed to be, waived.
The New Tenant shall pay all necessary and reasonable expenses, including reasonable counsel fees
and court costs incurred by Landlord in terminating this Lease and in recovering possession of the
Demised Premises and the Building as well as in the preparation, execution and delivery of such
new or direct lease. In addition, nothing contained herein shall release Tenant from any of its
obligations under this Lease which may not have been discharged or fully performed by any
Leasehold Mortgagee, or its designees.

(vi) The parties hereto shall give the Leasehold Mortgagee written notice of any
condemnation proceedings affecting the Demised Premises. The Leasehold Mortgagee shall have
the right to intervene and be made a party to any such condemnation proceedings and the parties
hereto hereby consent that the Leasehold Mortgagee may be made such party or intervenor.

(vii) If the Leasehold Mortgagee, in good faith, shall desire to contest the validity or
amount of any tax, levy, special or general assessment, water and sewer rent, or other governmental
imposition or charge payable by it on the Demised Premises or the Building, the Leasehold
Mortgagee shall so notify Landlord and Tenant in writing, and the Leasehold Mortgagee shall be

entitled, in good faith, to contest the same in appropriate proceedings in the name of Landlord or
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Tenant if necessary; provided, however, that upon reasonable request of Landlord, the Leasehold
Mortgagee shall post a bond or make payment under protest to stay any action commenced against
the Demised Premises or the Building or Landlord to collect any past due taxes, levies, special or
general assessments, water and sewer rent, or other governmental imposition, charge, or penalty
which may accrue.

(vii)) Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, no Leasehold Mortgagee shall be
liable to perform any of Tenant's obligations under this Lease unless and until the Leasehold
Mortgagee shall become the owner of the Leasehold Interest, and then only for as long as it remains
the owner of the Leasehold Interest, except that if Leasehold Mortgagee undertakes any actions
under subparagraph (iii) above, it shall be deemed to have obligated itself to perform such actions
of remedying any defaults notwithstanding other provisions in this subparagraph (viii). On any
assignment of this Lease by any Leasehold Mortgagee or any owner of the Leasehold Interest whose
interest shall have been acquired by, through, or under any Leasehold Mortgagee or shall have been
derived immediately from any Leasehold Mortgagee, the assignor shall be relieved of any further
liability which may accrue hereunder from and after the date of such assignment; provided,
however, that the foregoing release of liability shall be effective only if Landlord consents to such
assignment in writing, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

(ix) This Lease shall not be modified or surrendered to Landlord or canceled by Tenant
(whether pursuant to the terms of this Lease or otherwise), nor shall the Landlord accept a surrender
of this Lease, without the prior written consent of the Leasehold Mortgagee, nor shall any merger
result from the acquisition by, or devolution upon, any one entity of the fee and leasehold estates in

the Demised Premises so long as any Leasehold Deed of Trust remains in existence; provided,
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however, that nothing contained in this paragraph shall diminish the rights otherwise expressly
provided to Landlord herein upon the occurrence of any event of default.

(x) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, Landlord agrees, in
the event of a foreclosure by the Leasehold Mortgagee of its Leasehold Deed of Trust, that it will
permit the assignment of the Leasehold Interest by the Leasehold Mortgagee to such persons or
entities as the Leasehold Mortgagee may select and consistent with applicable law, so long as such
assignment or transfer shall not adversely affect the Landlord in any material respect.

(xi) Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Article XI, Landlord agrees to
enter into reasonable modifications which are requested to this Article XI by any Leasehold
Mortgagee from time to time to enable the Tenant to obtain financing or refinancing for the
Leasehold Interest, so long as (i) the Leasehold Deed of Trust conforms to the requirements of this
Article XI; (ii) the Leasehold Mortgagee is a bank, savings and loan association, insurance
company, pension plan, real estate investment trust or other institutional form of lender with assets
of at least $500,000,000; (iii) the modifications requested in this Article XI are consistent with
leasehold deed of trust provisions generally required by institutional lenders with respect to
unsubordinated ground leases; and (iv) Landlord’s rights and obligations under this Lease are not
altered in any material way.

(xii) Landlord further agrees that for the sole purpose of obtaining financing or
refinancing for the Leasehold Interest, Tenant may, with prior approval of Landlord, which
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned nor delayed, assign this Lease to an
affiliate of Tenant, provided that Tenant continues and remains liable under each and every
provision hereof and guarantees that the affiliate will comply with the terms of the Lease and will

assume all of Tenant’s obligations hereunder. Such affiliate shall have no right to further assign
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this Lease, other than to another affiliate of Tenant, without the approval of Landlord. Tenant and
the members of Tenant may sell, assign, transfer or convey membership interests in Tenant
without the consent of Landlord. For purposes of this paragraph, an “affiliate” of Tenant means
any individual, corporation, limited liability company, trust or other entity which directly or
indirectly controls or is directly or indirectly controlled by, or is under common control with the
designated entity. For purposes of this definition, “control” shall mean the possession, directly or
indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such
corporation, limited liability company or other entity, whether through the ownership of voting
securities or by contract or otherwise or a 50% or more ownership in such entity.

(xiii) In the event Tenant acquires fee simple title to the Demised Premises, Landlord
agrees that the lien of the Leasehold Deed of Trust shall extend to such fee simple interest, and
no merger of the Leasehold Interest into the fee simple interest in the Demised Premises shall
occur. (xiv) In the event of any monetary default by Tenant under the Leasehold Deed of Trust,
the Leasehold Mortgagee agrees to provide to Landlord written notice of such default by certified
mail, return receipt requested, and the right to cure such default within fifteen (15) days following
Landlord’s receipt of such notice. In the event of any non-monetary default by Tenant under the
Leasehold Deed of Trust, the Leasehold Mortgagee agrees to provide to Landlord written notice
of such default by certified mail, return receipt requested, and the right to cure such default within
thirty (30) days (or such longer period of time, not to exceed ninety (90) days, as may be
reasonably necessary to effectuate such cure, provided Landlord commences to cure such non-
monetary default within thirty (30) days following receipt of notice of the default and thereafter

diligently prosecutes such cure to completion) following Landlord’s receipt of such notice.
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XII.

ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE

Landlord and Tenant shall each, without charge, at any time and from time to time hereafter
within twenty (20) days after written request of the other, certify by written instrument duly
executed and acknowledged to the other, to any existing or proposed Leasehold Mortgagee or to
any other person, firm or corporation specified in such request: (a) as to whether this Lease hasbeen
supplemented or amended, and if so, the substance and manner of such supplement or amendment;
(b) as to the validity and force and effect of this Lease in accordance with its terms; (c) as to the
existence of any default hereunder; (d) as to the existence of any offsets, counterclaims or defenses
thereto on the part of either party to this Lease; (e) as to the commencement and expiration dates of
the Term of this Lease; (f) as to any other matters as may be reasonably requested.

Any such certificate may be relied upon by the party who requested it and any other person,
firm or corporation to whom the same may be exhibited or delivered, and the contents of such
certificate shall be binding on the party executing the same.

XHI.
INSURANCE

Before commencement of any demolition or construction on the Demised Premises,
Tenant shall procure and maintain in force and effect until the completion thereof, “all risks”
builder’s risk insurance, including vandalism and malicious mischief, covering the construction
of the Building or other improvements and all material and equipment at the job site furnished
under contract for such construction, with limits not less than the cost of the completed
construction, including increased costs resulting from change orders or other increased costs of

construction.
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During the Term of this Lease, Tenant shall maintain in effect insurance on all structures
erected from time to time on the Demised Premises providing one hundred percent (100%)
replacement cost coverage, with an All Other Peril deductible not to exceed fifty thousand dollars
(550,000) unless mutually agreed upon by Landlord and Tenant, for fire and such other hazards as
are readily available in the marketplace and normally insured by commercial property owners and
operators with similar portfolios and exposures to loss in the immediate area in which the Demised
Premises are located.

Tenant shall also carry and maintain earthquake insurance coverage in an amount equal to
the lesser of (i) the 250-year Probable Maximum Loss, as calculated by Tenant’s insurer, with
respect to the Building and (ii) coverage that is readily available at a reasonable cost to Tenant, as
determined in Tenant’s reasonable discretion, with a deductible not to exceed those commonly
carried by commercial property owners and operators with similar portfolios and exposures to loss
in the immediate area in which the Demised Premises are located.

In addition, Tenant will carry and maintain public liability insurance with respect to the
Demised Premises and Building to afford protection with limits for each occurrence of not less
than Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) with respect to personal injury and death, and One
Million Dollars ($1,000,000) with respect to property damage, with adjustments to such limits
equal to or greater than adjustments in the U.S. Department of Labor Cost of Living Index.
Landlord shall be named as an additional insured in all such liability insurance policies.

Landlord shall be named as an additional loss payee on all such policies of insurance, but all
rights of Landlord shall be: (i) junior and subordinate to the rights and interests of all Leasehold

Mortgagees; and (ii) limited to requiring reasonable assurances that all available insurance
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proceeds, after required reduction of any indebtedness secured by a Leasehold Mortgage, are
appropriately escrowed for completion of all obligations of Tenant under this Lease.

Tenant shall provide Landlord with copies of all insurance policies specified herein
promptly upon receipt thereof from its insurer and shall provide Landlord with such further
evidence of insurance as reasonably requested from time to time. If at any time during the Term of
this Lease Tenant fails to maintain the aforesaid insurance, Landlord shall be entitled, at its option,
to obtain any or all such insurance. In such event, Landlord shall be reimbursed by Tenant for all
costs and expenses associated with obtaining such insurance upon written demand from Landlord to
Tenant.

X1V,

INDEMNIFICATION

Tenant shall indemnify, defend and save harmless Landlord from and against any and all
claims, causes of action, debts, demands or obligations, including costs and attorney’s fees, which
may be made against Landlord or against Landlord’s title to the Demised Premises arising by
reason of or in connection with any alleged act or omission of Tenant or any person claiming under,
by or through Tenant resulting from the development, construction or operation of the Building or
from the breach by Tenant of any covenant required to be perforined by Tenant under this Lease;
provided, however, Tenant shall not be required to indemnify, defend and save harmless Landlord
from or against any and all claims, debts, demands or obligations which may be made against
Landlord or against Landlord’s title to the Demised Premises arising by reason of or in connection
with any act or omission of Landlord.

XV.

RECONSTRUCTION
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In the event of damage to or destruction of the Building or other improvements erected on
the Demised Premises, the insurance proceeds, if any, shall be applied as required by any Leasehold
Mortgagee. If a Leasehold Mortgagee requires the insurance proceeds to be applied other than to
reconstruction of the Building or other improvements, Tenant shall nevertheless be required to
restore the Building or other improvements, within a reasonable time and in a reasonable manner,
as nearly as possible to such condition as existed immediately prior to such damage or destruction.
Any reconstruction or repair undertaken by Tenant pursuant to this Article XV shall be subject to
the same terms and conditions contained in this Lease related to the initial construction of the
Building or other improvements, as applicable.

XVL

PRIOR APPROVAL OF OCCUPANTS

During the Term of this Lease, Tenant shall use reasonable efforts to promote occupancy
of the Building for use as office space by private practicing physicians who compliment the then-
existing mix of tenants in the Building. Tenant shall have the right to enter into leases for space
in the Building only with respect to (i) physicians who arc private practicing physician members
of the active or associate medical staff of the Hospital as set forth in the Bylaws of the medical
staff of the Hospital (“Staff Members™); (ii) partnerships, professional associations or other
business entities in which at least seventy percent (70%) of the physicians practicing at the
respective premises are Staff Members; (ii1) Landlord; or (iv) any other person or entity approved
by Landlord in its sole and absolute and absolute discretion. Except as hereinafter provided,
Landlord shall have the right of prior approval of all occupants of the Building. In addition,
Tenant shall not consent‘ to the assignment of any lease or the sublease of any space in the

Building without the prior written consent of Landlord, with such consent not to be unreasonably
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withheld so long as the provisions set forth herein regarding the occupancy and leasing of the
Building are satisfied.

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Article XVI to the contrary, if a space in the
Building has been vacant for at least one hundred twenty (120) consecutive days and Tenant
obtains a prospective tenant for such space which meets one (1) of the criteria set forth in (i) or
(i1) above and who also agrees to comply with the use restrictions hereinafter set forth with
respect to the space, then, regardless of whether such tenant is readily acceptable to Landlord for
occupancy in the Building, Landlord shall either (a) approve such prospective tenant for
occupancy in the Building or (b) disapprove of such prospective tenant but agree to lease such
space from Tenant at the rent and for the term to which the prospective tenant had agreed to lease
the space, and upon such other tenms as are contained in Tenant’s standard lease for space in the
Building.

All leases and instruments of any other nature entered into regarding occupancy of office
space in the Building shall not be valid unless the following legend is placed therein:

THIS INSTRUMENT IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THAT

CERTAIN GROUND LEASE BETWEEN LESSOR AND WEST TENNESSEE

HEALTHCARE, INC. (“GROUND LESSOR”) DATED DECEMBER 19, 2008, AS

MAY BE AMENDED, AND MUST BE APPROVED BY THE GROUND LESSOR. IN

ADDITION, ALL SUBLEASES AND ASSIGNMENTS REQUIRE THE PRIOR

APPROVAL OF BOTH LESSOR AND GROUND LESSOR. ANY LEASE,

SUBLEASE OR ASSIGNMENT MADE WITHOUT OBTAINING NECESSARY

APPROVALS SHALL BE ABSOLUTELY NULL AND VOID AND ANY PARTY TO

THE GROUND LEASE (INCLUDING MORTGAGEES) MAY ENJOIN ANY

VIOLATION THEREOF.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (i) membership to the active or courtesy medical staff

of Landlord (“Staff Membership™), as referenced above, is materially reduced or limited, (ii)

Landlord does not continue to operate the Campus as a full service, medical facility, or (iii) other
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extraordinary or catastrophic events relative to the Hospital occur which make it impracticable to
fully lease the Building after diligent efforts in accordance with the provisions of this Article,
then Landlord and Tenant shall be obligated to act reasonably and in good faith to obtain
occupants for otherwise unoccupied space in the Building. In addition, so long as Tenant
otherwise complies with the express provisions of this Lease, no default shall be deemed to have
occurred hereunder by reason of an occupant ceasing to maintain Staff Membership.

Without Landlord’s prior written consent (which consent may be withheld in Landlord’s
sole discretion), occupants of the Building shall not provide any commercial or proprietary health-
care or medical services or facilities (including, but not by way of limitation, central labs, optical
dispensaries, surgery suites, imaging facilities, cardiac catheterization or other cardiac facilities, x-
rays and audiology facilities, pharmacy, physical therapy, commercial biological laboratory,
surgical, radiological or pathological facilities, or any other services for which a Certificate of Need
is required by the State of Tennessee) which are or in the future may be operated in competition
with the Hospital or any affiliate of the Hospital, except with respect to facilities and services which
are for the individual, exclusive benefit of the patients of the occupants’ professional practice.

Without the prior written consent of Landlord (which consent may be withheld in
Landlord’s sole discretion), no principal, member, manager, shareholder, partner, director nor
officer of Tenant nor any enterprise comprising Tenant shall at any time during the Term of the
Lease obtain an ownership interest in a general or specialty acute care hospital facility located in

Madison County, Tennessee.
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XVIL
CONDEMNATION

If the Demised Premises or the Building shall be taken in whole or in part by or pursuant to
govemmental authority, or through exercise of the night of eminent domain or sold under threat
thereof, subject to such provision as may be contained in a Leasehold Deed of Trust, any and all
awards or sums granted in consideration or settlement for the Land and the improvements taken
and/or damaged shall be equitably apportioned between Landlord and Tenant based on the relative
values of the leasehold estate and the remainder interest with proper credit being given to the parties
for any prior disbursements of such awards or sums including payments to the holder of a
Leasehold Deed of Trust.

If the entire Demised Premises (inclusive of the Building) should be so taken or sold, this
Lease shall terminate on the date that such taking or sale becomes final. If only a portion of the
Demised Premises (including, without limitation, the parking areas) is so taken or sold, and the
balance of the Demised Premises is not suitable for the operation of a medical office building, or if
by deprivation or limitation of any access thereto or therefrom the Demised Premises are rendered
unsuitable for the operation of a medical office building, Tenant may either elect to terminate this
Lease by giving ninety (90) days advance notice to Landlord or to continue in possession of the

remaining portion of the Demised Premises.

Nothing contained herein shall be deemed a waiver of Tenant’s exclusive right to Vvany and
all awards for damages to, or taking of, improvements placed on the Demised Premises by Tenant
and nothing herein shall be deemed as a waiver of the Landlord’s exclusive right to any award for

any portion of the Land taken or damaged.

715-2
5098715 29



Supplemental 1
- July 23, 2020

XVIIL

DEFAULT BY TENANT

In the event Tenant shall fail to keep or violates any condition or agreement in this Lease on
the part of Tenant to be performed and if such failure or violation shall have continued for a period
of thirty (30) days after Tenant shall have received written notice of default by certified or
registered mail from Landlord specifying the event of default, then, except as hereinafter specified,
Tenant shall be deemed to be in default hereunder, and Landlord shall, in addition to and not in lieu
of all of the rights to which it may be entitled to hereunder and by law but subject to Article XI
hereof, at its option without election, be entitled to: (a) cure such default and be reimbursed for all
costs and expenses incurred with respect thereto, together with interest at the prime rate as
announced by Landlord's primary depository, promptly upon written demand from Landlord to
Tenant; (b) seek monetary damages from Tenant and/or injunctive or other equitable relief, and (c)
subject to the provisions of Article XI, terminate this Lease and re-enter and repossess all and
singular the Demised Premises together with all improvements thereon. Anything to the contrary
contained herein notwithstanding, if Tenant defaults under the terms of this Lease and Landlord
exercises its remedy to terminate the Lease, Tenant shall receive a credit toward sums which it
would otherwise owe to Landlord hereunder for the then-current fair market value of any
improvements which may revert to Landlord upon termination of the Lease. By way of example
only, if the then-current fair market value of Tenant’s interest in the improvements is ten million
dollars ($10,000,000) and the damages owed to Landlord by Tenant due to Tenant’s default under
this Lease is one million dollars ($1,000,000), Landlord shall pay to Tenant the sum of nine million
dollars ($9,000,000) for Tenant’s interest in the improvements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in

the event any non-monetary default is not cured within said thirty (30) day period, the default shall
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nevertheless be deemed cured if within said thirty (30) day period Tenant commences curative
action and continues the same to completion with reasonable diligence. Neither the exercise by
Landlord of any or all of its rights under this Lease or at law nor the default by Tenant of any of its
obligations to Landlord shall in any way relieve Tenant of Tenant’s obligation to any lender or any
third party to whom Tenant may be obligated and shall in no event impose on Landlord any
obligations to any lender or other party to whom Tenant may be or may have been obligated,
provided, however, that Landlord agrees that in the event Landlord acquires the Leasehold Interest
of Tenant, through default hereunder or otherwise, Landlord will accept all tenants which have
leased space in the Building from Tenant as Landlord’s tenants for a period equal to the full,
unelapsed portion of the term of any such tenant leases, including any extensions and renewals
thereof, and upon the same covenants and conditions as are contained therein, and Landlord
thereafter shall become the “Lessor” under any such tenant leases; provided, however, Landlord at
its option may refuse to accept any such tenant if any default has occurred under the terms of any
such tenant lease.
XIX.
DEFAULT BY LANDLORD

If Landlord shall fail to pay, within a reasonable time after the due date for same, any
obligation paramount to this Lease or affecting the Demised Premises or shall fail promptly to
remove any other lien, charge or costs incurred by Landlord which could jeopardize the Tenant’s
right to possession of the Demised Premises as hereby granted, Tenant may pay the items in
question after first giving Landlord written notice of such failure by certified mail and Landlord
shall not have made such payment or removed such lien or other charge with thirty (30) days

following receipt of notice thereof from Tenant. Any such payment shall entitle Tenant to be
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subrogated to the lien or charge of the item so paid. Landlord shall have an opportunity to contest
the validity of any obligation paramount to this Lease or affecting the Demised Premises. If any
payment is made by Tenant pursuant to this Article XIX, Landlord shall be liable for
reimbursement to Tenant, together with interest at the prime rate as announced by Tenant’s primary
depository, promptly upon written demand to Landlord from Tenant.

XX.

TERMINATION

Upon termination of this Lease, either by default of Tenant or expiration of the Term
(subject to the provisions of Articles V, XI, XV and XVIII hereof), the improvements on the
Demised Premises will be and become the property of the Landlord, and Tenant shall peaceably
leave and surrender the Demised Premises to Landlord, free of all liens and encumbrances (other
than leases for space within the Building entered into pursuant to the terms permitted in this Lease,
and utility and other easements entered into in the ordinary course of business), broom clean and
otherwise in the condition in which the Demiscd Premises and Building are required to be
maintained by the terms of this Lease, reasonable wear and tear excepted. Tenant shall surrender all
keys for the Building to Landlord at the place then fixed for the payment of Rent hereunder. Tenant
shall, at its expense, remove from the Demised Premises on or before the expiration or earlier
termination of this Lease all furnishings, fixtures and equipment situated thereon that are the
personal property of Tenant and are required by the terms of this Lease to be removed; however,
Tenant shall not remove any equipment, conduits, fixtures, Utilities, HVAC systems lighting, life
safety systems or sprinkler systems within or serving the Building and required for the use,
operation and/or maintenance of the Building as a medical office building, regardless of whether

the same were installed by or on behalf of Landlord or Tenant, all of which, together with all other
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furnishings, fixtures and equipment not removed by Tenant as provided above, shall become the
Property of Landlord upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease and shall conclusively
be presumed to have been conveyed to Landlord under this Lease via a bill of sale without further
payment or credit by Landlord to Tenant. In addition, Tenant shall, at is expense, on or prior to the
expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, repair any damage caused by the removal of any
personal property of Tenant.

XXI.

LANDLORD’S RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL

Tenant may assign or otherwise convey its Leasehold Interest to Cogdell Spencer LP,
Cogdell Spencer Inc. or an affiliate of either of Cogdell Spencer LP or Cogdell Spencer Inc.
without the prior consent of Landlord. For purposes of this Article XXI and Article XXXIII
hereof, “aftiliate” shall mean any individual, corporation, limited liability company, trust or other
entity which directly or indirectly controls or is directly or indirectly controlled by, or is under
common control with the designated entity. For purposes of this definition, “control” shall mean the
possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management
and policies of such corporation, limited liability company or other entity, whether through the
ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise or a 50% or more ownership in such
entity.

In the event any proposed bona fide assignment by Tenant of its Leasehold Interest, either
directly, by operation of law or by transfer of control of Tenant (each referred to herein as an
“assignment”), other than to an affiliate of Tenant or as provided in Article XI hereof, Tenant shall
so notify Landlord in writing by registered or certified mail specifying the proposed assignment

price and all other material terms and conditions of the proposed assignment, together with the
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name and address of the party to whom the propose(.i assignment will be made (the ‘“Proposed
Assignee”). For a period of forty five (45) days after such notice is given by Tenant to Landlord,
Landlord shall have the option to purchase the Leasehold Interest on the terms contained in the
notice by providing written notice of such election to Tenant prior to expiration of such forty five
(45) day period, time being of the essence. In the event Landlord does not exercise such option
within the forty five (45) day time period specified above, Tenant shall be free to convey the
Leasehold Interest to the Proposed Assignee on terms not materially less favorable than those
specified in the notice given by Tenant to Landlord; provided, however, that in the event the Tenant
desires to convey the Leasehold Interest on terms materially less favorable to Tenant than those set
forth in the foregoing notice, it shall first notify Landlord in writing and Landlord shall have thirty
forty five (45) days from the date of receipt thereof, time being of the essence, within which to elect
to acquire the Leasehold Interest in accordance with the revised terms and conditions.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent a reduction in the purchase price for the Leasehold
Interest or a material modification in any of the terms of the assignment is due to the discovery by
the Proposed Assignee of deficiencies in the Leasehold Interest, such reduction or modification
shall not constitute a material change in the terms or conditions of the proposed assignment if the
reduction or modification is reasonably related to the deficiencies so discovered. In the event
Tenant does not consummate a sale of the Leasehold Interest to the Proposed Assignee within one
(1) year following expiration of the initial forty five (45) day period set forth above in this Article
XXI, the procedures set forth above shall be repeated in the event Tenant desires to continue with
the assignment to the Proposed Assignee or to enter into a new assignment of the Leasehold Interest

with any other assignee.
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If Tenant desires to make a charitable contribution or engage in a conveyance of any other
nature wherein cash or cash equivalent consideration is not being received, any right of first refusal
of Landlord under this Article shall be based on the fair market value of the Leasehold Interest. The
parties shall attempt in good faith to agree upon the fair market value of the Leasehold Interest, but
if agreement cannot promptly be reached, the fair market value shall be established for the
Leasehold Interest by appraisal as follows: each party shall select and pay for an M.A.l. appraiser
having at least five (5) years experience in appraising properties similar to the Building in the
Madison County, Tennessee area. The two appraisers shall then independently determine the fair
market value of the Leasehold Interest. If the lower determination is within ten percent (10%) of the
higher, the two shall be averaged, and the average shall be deemed the fair market value. If the
lower determination is not within ten percent (10%) of the higher, the two appraisers shall then
select a third M.A.L. appraiser having at least five (5) years experience in appraising properties
similar to the Building in the Madison County, Tennessee area. The two determinations of value
that are closest shall be averaged and that average shall be deemed the fair market value of the
Leasehold Interest. The cost of the third appraiser shall be borne equally by Landlord and Tenant.
Once the fair market value of the Leasehold Interest has been established, Tenant shall be entitled to
give the notice of the proposed assignment or conveyance to Landlord as set forth hereinabove
utilizing the fair market value of the Leasehold Interest as the proposed consideration. In the event
Landlord elects to purchase the Leasehold Interest for its fair market value, the transaction shall be

closed as an all-cash transaction.
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XXII.

TENANT’S RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL

In the event Landlord, in good faith, elects to assign or otherwise convey its interest in this
Lease or in the Demised Premises or the Building (individually or collectively, as applicable, the
“Fee Interest”), Landlord shall so notify Tenant in writing specifying the proposed conveyance price
and all other material terms and conditions of the proposed conveyance, together with the name and
address of the party to whom the proposed conveyance will be made (the “Proposed Transferee”).
For a period of thirty (30) days after such notice is given by Landlord to Tenant, time being of the
essence, Tenant shall have the option to purchase the Fee Interest on the terms contained in the
notice by providing written notice of such election to Landlord. In the event Tenant does not
exercise such option within the thirty (30) day time period specified above, Landlord shall be free
for a period of one (1) year thereafter to convey the Fee Interest to the Proposed Transferee on
monetary terms no less favorable and non-monetary terms not materially less favorable than those
specified in the notice given by Landlord to Tenant; provided, however, that in the event Landlord
desires to convey the Fee Interest to the Proposed Transferee on monetary terms less favorable or
non-monetary terms materially less favorable to Landlord than those set forth in the foregoing
notice, it shall first notify Tenant in writing, and Tenant shall have thirty (30) days from the date of
receipt thereof, time being of the essence, within which to elect to acquire the Fee Interest in
accordance with the revised terms and conditions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent a
reduction in the purchase price for the Fee Interest or a material modification in any of the terms of
the proposed conveyance is due to the discovery by the Proposed Transferee of deficiencies in the
Fee Interest, such reduction or modification shall not constitute a material change in the terms or

conditions of the proposed conveyance if the reduction or modification is reasonably related to the
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deficiencies so discovered. In the event Landlord does not consummate a sale of the Fee Interest to
the Proposed Transferee within said one (1) year time period, the procedures set forth above shall
be repeated in the event Landlord desires to continue to seek a conveyance of the Fee Interest to the
Proposed Transferee or to any other transferee.

If Landlord desires to make a charitable contribution or engage in a conveyance of any other
nature wherein cash or cash equivalent consideration is not being received, any offer made under
this Article XXII shall be based on the fair market value of the Fee Interest being conveyed. The
parties shall attempt in good faith to agree upon the fair market value of the Fee Interest, but if
agreement cannot promptly be reached, the fair market value shall be established by appraisal as set
forth in Article XXI hereof. Once the fair market value of the Fee Interest being conveyed has been
established, Landlord shall be entitled to give the notice of the proposed conveyance to the other
party as set forth hereinabove utilizing the fair market valuc of the Fee Interest as the proposed
consideration. In the event Tenant elects to purchase the Fee Interest for its fair market value, the
transaction shall be closed as an all-cash transaction.

The following conveyances shall be exempt from the provisions of this Article XXII: a
conveyance by Landlord of its Fee Interest in conjunction with: (a) the sale or transfer of the Fee
Interest to an affiliate of Landlord; (b) the sale or other transfer of all or substantially all of
Landlord’s assets; (c) a merger or reorganization by Landlord; or (d) a sale or other transfer of the
entire Campus by Landlord to a single transferee. For purposes of this paragraph, “affiliate of
Landlord” shall mean any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, trust or
other entity which directly or indirectly controls or is directly or indirectly controlled by, or is under
common control with Landlord. For purposes of the foregoing definition, “‘control” shall mean the

possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management
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and policies of such corporation, limited liability company or other entity, whether through the
ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise.
XXII1.
ADJACENT AREAS
Landlord shall maintain its property adjacent to the Demised Premises in a reasonable
manner and in a good and sightly condition to provide visually attractive surroundings to the
Building. Subject to all easements granted or to be granted to Tenant in connection with this Lease,
Landlord may use or improve the property owned by Landlord adjacent to the Demised Premises,
provided that Tenant’s use and enjoyment of the Demised Premises is not impaired as a result
thereof.
XXI1V.
NOTICES
All notices and communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given:
(a) on the date of delivery if delivered in person; (b) on the date placed with a nationally
recognized overnight delivery service, such as FedEx or UPS; (c) on the date deposited in the
United States mail if sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid; or (d) on the date sent
by electronically-confinmed facsimile transmission. All such notices and communications shall
be properly addressed as follows;
Tenant: West Tennessee Investors, LLC
c/o Cogdell Spencer Inc.
4401 Barclay Downs Drive, Suite 300
Charlotte, North Carolina 28209
Attn: Chief Financial Officer

Telephone: (704) 940-2900
Facsimile: (704) 940- 2959
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With a copy to:
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Powell Goldstein LLP

One Wachovia Center

301 South College Street, Suite 3700
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202
Attn: Bryan P. Durrett, Esq.
Telephone: (704) 749-8938
Facsimile: (704) 749-8990

West Tennessee Healthcare, Inc.

c/o Jackson-Madison County General Hospital

620 Skyline Drive

Jackson, Tennessee 38301

Attn: Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel
Telephone: (731) 541-5000 (Chief Financial Officer)
Telephone: (731) 660-8717 (General Counsel)
Facsimile: (731) 541-6802 (Chief Financial Officer)
Facsimile: (731) 660-8714 (General Counsel)

Rainey, Kizer, Riviere & Bell, PLC
105 South Highland Avenue
Jackson, Tennessee 38301

Attn: Will Bell, Esq.

Telephone: (731) 426-8113
Facsimile: (731) 426-8156

If sent by one of the herein-described means, notices shall be deemed received: (w) on the

date delivered if given by personal delivery, (x) one (1) business day after being placed with a

nationally recognized overnight delivery service; (y) two (2) business days after being deposited

in the United States mail service; or (z) on the following business day if sent by electronically-

confirmed facsimile transmission. Either party may at any time change its Notice Address

(including its facsimile number) by sending a written notice to that effect by one of the above-

described means to the other party stating the change and setting forth the new address or numnber.
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XXV,

SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

The covenants, conditions and agreements contained in this Lease shall bind and inure to
the benefit of Landlord and Tenant and their respective successors and permitted assigns; provided,
however, that, subject to the terms of Article XXI hereof, Tenant shall not assign or otherwise
transfer its Leasehold Interest without the prior written consent of Landlord. Upon a transfer by
Landlord or Tenant of its respective estate or interest in the Demised Premises or the Building, the
transferring party (the “Transferring Party”) shall notify the other party in writing of such transfer.
The Transferring Party shall be and is hereby relieved from any breach of covenants or obligations
under the Lease arising or occurring after the date of transfer of the Transferring Party’s estate or
interest in the Demised Premises or the Building. The provisions of this Article XXV shall apply to
each successive transfer of Landlord’s or Tenant’s interest or estate.

XXVL
DISPUTES

Anything to the contrary contained herein notwithstanding, if any bona fide dispute arises
conceming the performance by Tenant (or any other party on behalf of Tenant) of the obligations
imposed upon Tenant under the terms of this Lease, the Tenant or any other party having an interest
in this Lease, including the Leasehold Mortgagee, shall be entitled to have such dispute resolved by
the Circuit Court of Madison County, Tennessee. During the pendency of any such court
proceeding, the grace periods otherwise specified herein for curing defaults shall be tolled if an
appropriate bond acceptable to Landlord is posted with the court to assure reasonable performance
of Tenant’s obligation if the matter is resolved in favor of Landlord; provided, however, that this

provision shall not be applicable if Landlord is materially prejudiced pending resolution of the
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dispute; provided further, however, that such tolling provision shall be applicable only to
non-monetary defaults and shall not toll any grace period otherwise specified herein with respect to
the payment of monetary defaults, which (unless otherwise ordered by a court of competent
jurisdiction) shall be paid under protest in the event Tenant or any other party with an interest in
this Lease disputes the propriety of any such payment.

If any action, suit, arbitration or other proceeding is instituted to remedy, prevent or
obtain relief from a default in the performance by any party to this Lease of its obligations
hereunder, the prevailing party shall be reimbursed by the other party hereto for all of such
party’s attorneys’ fees incurred in each and every such action, suit, arbitration or other
proceeding, including any and all appeals or petitions therefrom. As used in this Paragraph,
attorneys’ fees shall be deemed to mean the full and actual costs of any legal services actually
performed in connection with the